

Exact and constrained kinetic energy operators for polyatomic molecules: The polyspherical approach

Fabien Gatti, Christophe Iung

▶ To cite this version:

Fabien Gatti, Christophe Iung. Exact and constrained kinetic energy operators for polyatomic molecules: The polyspherical approach. Physics Reports, 2009, 484, pp.1. 10.1016/j.physrep.2009.05.003. hal-00412650

HAL Id: hal-00412650 https://hal.science/hal-00412650

Submitted on 18 Jun 2021

HAL is a multi-disciplinary open access archive for the deposit and dissemination of scientific research documents, whether they are published or not. The documents may come from teaching and research institutions in France or abroad, or from public or private research centers. L'archive ouverte pluridisciplinaire **HAL**, est destinée au dépôt et à la diffusion de documents scientifiques de niveau recherche, publiés ou non, émanant des établissements d'enseignement et de recherche français ou étrangers, des laboratoires publics ou privés.



Distributed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License

Exact and constrained kinetic energy operators for polyatomic molecules: The polyspherical approach

Fabien Gatti and Christophe Iung^{*}

CTMM, Institut Charles Gerhardt, UMR 5253, CC 1501, Université Montpellier II, F - 34095 Montpellier, Cedex 05, France (Dated: May 12, 2009)

Abstract

A review of the *polyspherical approach* to the kinetic operators for polyatomic molecules is given. This approach provides general and correct forms of the kinetic energy operator (KEO) expressed in terms of curvilinear coordinates. These forms are well adapted to the physical description of molecular systems and to the numerical methods used to solve the Schrödinger equation. The approach derives its name, *polyspherical*, from the fact that the operators are expressed in terms of spherical coordinates eventually. These kinetic energy operators can be exploited to treat a large variety of problems such as the calculation of infrared or photo-absorption spectra or the study of reactive scattering systems. Special emphasis is placed on concrete examples.

Keywords: quantum molecular dynamics, curvilinear coordinates, polyspherical coordinates, kinetic energy operator.

^{*}E-mail:gatti@univ-montp2.fr,iung@univ-montp2.fr

Contents

I.	Introduction	4
II.	The polyspherical approach: Theory	8
	A. Theoretical background	8
	B. Vector parametrization and properties of angular momenta	15
	1. Examples	16
	2. General formulation	20
	C. A general expression of the KEO in standard polyspherical coordinates	25
	1. Expression in angular momenta	26
	2. Matrix expression of the KEO	41
	D. Separation into subsystems	46
	E. Checking the correctness of the operators	56
III.	Explicit expressions for particular cases and applications	58
	A. Flexible systems	59
	1. Tri- and tetra-atomic flexible systems	59
	2. Weakly bound molecular trimers	62
	3. Protonated methane in Radau coordinates	63
	B. Semi-rigid systems	65
	1. Tetra-atomic molecules	65
	2. Penta-atomic molecules	70
	C. Separation into subsystems	73
	1. Protonated water dimer (Zundel cation)	73
	2. Protonated water tetramer (Eigen cation)	81
IV.	Description of large systems with active polyspherical coordinates	84
	A. Kinetic energy operators for rigidly and adiabatically constrained molecular	
	systems	86
	1. Rigid-constraint approach	88
	2. Adiabatic-constraint approach	92
	B. Combination with the polyspherical approach	95

	C. Examples of applications	97
	1. Rigid- and Adiabatic-constraint approaches: the water dimer	97
	2. The photo-induced non-adiabatic dynamics of ethene	104
	3. General strategies for very large systems	107
v.	Conclusion and outlook	118
	Acknowledgements	119
А.	Properties of the partial angular momenta	120
В.	General expression of the KEO in angular momenta for non-orthogonal	
	coordinates	125
C.	General expression of the KEO in conjugate momenta	129
D.	KEO for HCF_3 in valence coordinates	134
	References	138

I. INTRODUCTION

During the past years, considerable progress has been made in the field of molecular quantum dynamics. The domain of applications encompasses broad areas in physics or chemistry: photo-dissociations or excitations, dissociations of an adsorbate on a metal surface, intramolecular vibrational energy redistribution and predissociation, infrared spectroscopy, inelastic surface scattering, molecular reactive scattering, evolution of a molecular system excited by an ultra-short laser pulse. On the experimental front, decisive progress, in particular in the field of femto-spectroscopy [1–3] or infra-red/microwave spectroscopy [4–7], allows the scientists to probe chemical phenomena at an atomic time scale or to obtain fully resolved spectra of highly excited polyatomic systems. These ultra-sophisticated experiments require new theoretical tools to interpret, predict and, in other words, accompany these experimental works.

In addition, it should be emphasized that these molecular processes are generally impacted to a significant extent by nuclear quantum mechanical effects [8–10] such as zero-point energy effects or tunnelling of light atoms through barriers (for instance in the case of electron or proton transfers), transitions due to strong vibronic couplings such as conical intersections, which seem to play a crucial role in many organic or biological systems. Several algorithms for solving the Schrödinger equation have thus been developed which have wide applicability and allow to treat larger systems than in the past. In particular, one can cite the Multi-Configuration Time Dependent Hartree (MCTDH) [11–20] approach, the Multimode code [21–25] based on a time independent Vibrational Self-Consistent Field approach coupled to a Configuration Interaction (CI-VSCF) procedure (see also [26–32] for other CI-VSCF methods), or the Wave Operator Sorting Algorithm (WOSA) based on the extraction of an active space within the framework of the Bloch formalism, [33–36].

When solving the Schrödinger equation, the choice of the set of coordinates used to describe the physical systems is of great importance. First, for a given system treated in full dimensionality, the convergence of the algorithms that solve the Schrödinger equation depends on the correlation between the coordinates. More precisely, a set of coordinates that minimizes the correlation will improve convergence, while a coordinate set that introduces strong artificial correlations, i. e. correlations that are entirely due to an unsuitable choice of coordinates, will slow down convergence. Let us consider an example. For small amplitude motions around a well defined equilibrium geometry, the vibrations are often rather harmonic. The well-known normal-mode rectilinear coordinates then make the Hamiltonian operator almost separable – it is exactly separable for infinitesimal distortions – and the use of these coordinates will be optimal in a low-energy domain. However, for more floppy systems exhibiting two or several minima, or at higher excitation energies, the vibrational amplitudes become larger and the rectilinear normal coordinates cease to describe the motion in a natural way. This introduces strong artificial correlations. In such situations, in particular when studying scattering, dissociation, or isomerization problems, the use of appropriate internal coordinates becomes crucial. In general, curvilinear coordinates, involving angles, are the natural choice, as they usually lead to a more separable and hence less artificially correlated Hamiltonian operator.

Second, for very large systems, the correspondingly large number of internal coordinates makes approximations unavoidable. This is true not only for the dynamics, but also, and above all, for the calculation of the potential operator, i.e. the generation of global potential energy surfaces, which is restricted to systems with only a few degrees of freedom. Fortunately, chemical processes can often be described by a limited number of active degrees of freedom. Under these conditions it is reasonable to invoke simplifying approximations for the other degrees of freedom. This permits the construction of simple model Hamiltonians [37–41]. Several general models have been formulated, such as the reaction surface Hamiltonian [42–45], which makes use of a harmonic approximation locally defined along one or several reaction coordinates, and the multistate-multimode vibronic coupling model [46–50] to calculate photoabsorption spectra involving conical intersections. The choice of the pertinent coordinates is crucial and determined by physical intuition. It may happen that curvilinear coordinates are the only coordinates that can correctly describe these chemical processes with a limited number of degrees of freedom. For instance, several works have proved (i) that the reaction path Hamiltonian may sometimes be far better described in terms of curvilinear coordinates than of rectilinear coordinates [51, 52]; (ii) that the crossing seam of a conical intersection is, in general, curved [53, 54] and, thus, that curvilinear coordinates are essential to describe the behavior of the extended seam

[55, 56].

Unfortunately, the use of curvilinear coordinates often leads to very complicated expressions of the kinetic energy operator (KEO) [57, 58], which need to be derived for a particular system [59–66] and are not easy to generalize. This is in contrast to the rectilinear coordinates, which simplify the mathematical formulation of the same operator in a systematic way. The problem is not primarily to derive a formula for the KEO. An algorithmic program such as Mathematica [67] can be used to calculate the operators analytically. A numerical computation of the action of the kinetic operator is also possible and several contributions have been put forth in this direction (see, e. g., Refs. [68–71]). Consequently, the crucial point is to find a general form of the KEO that is (i) as compact as possible and (ii) well adapted to the numerical methods used in dynamics.

The *polyspherical approach*, presented in a series of papers [72–83], accomplishes both of these requirements. It is a general formulation of the exact KEO of an N-atom system whose configuration, in the center-of-mass frame, is described by N-1 relative position vectors. The approach derives its name *polyspherical* from the fact that the operators are expressed in terms of spherical coordinates that parametrize the N-1 relative position vectors eventually.

The polyspherical approach is characterized by the five following properties: (i) it explicitly provides rather compact and general expressions of the exact kinetic energy operator including rotation and Coriolis coupling and avoids the use of differential calculus when deriving these operators. (ii) Within this approach it is very easy to find a primitive basis set (e. g. a basis set of spherical harmonics) that discards all singularities that may occur in the KEO. (iii) General expressions for the KEO are explicitly provided. (iv) There is much freedom in choosing the underlying set of vectors: they may be of Jacobi, Radau, Valence, satellite type, or a combination of these. (v) When polyspherical coordinates are used, the KEO always is separable: i.e. it can be written as a sum of products of monomodal operators.

The purpose of the review is to provide an overview of the polyspherical approach. In Part II, the polyspherical method is introduced. The background theory is dealt with briefly, before the polyspherical approach is looked at in detail. In Part III, concrete applications on systems from 4 to 13 atoms are presented: the exact KEOs of these systems involving all the degrees of freedom derived from the general expressions are given explicitly. Part IV is devoted to the study of large systems: starting from a limited set of active curvilinear coordinates, we present a general strategy to obtain the correct KEOs. Several examples are given for systems such as organometallic complexes or organic molecules involved in photochemical reactivity.

II. THE POLYSPHERICAL APPROACH: THEORY

A. Theoretical background

(i) *Kinetic energy operators in curvilinear coordinates*:

Systems of N particles possess 3N degrees of freedom, of which three can be eliminated by translational invariance when there is no external field. The reduced system thus obtained has 3N-3 degrees of freedom, and its configuration can be specified by N-1 relative position vectors. Hereafter, G will denote the center of mass of the molecular system and the Space-Fixed (SF) frame will denote the center of mass frame whose origin coincides with G and whose axes coincide with the axes of the Laboratory-Fixed (LF) frame. The convention $\hbar = 1$ is used everywhere in the present review. Let the configuration of an N-particle system be described by 3N-3 generalized coordinates q_i (i = 1, ..., 3N - 3), and

$$x_{\alpha} = x_{\alpha}(q_1, \dots, q_i, \dots, q_{3N-3}) \quad (\alpha = 1, \dots, 3N-3) , \tag{1}$$

be the expression of the SF mass-weighted Cartesian coordinates associated with the N-1 vectors describing the system in terms of the chosen generalized coordinates. (The mass-weighted coordinates are obtained by multiplying the standard Cartesian coordinates by \sqrt{m} , m being the mass of the particle). Coordinates that may be expressed as linear combinations of Cartesian coordinates are called rectilinear, and those that are nonlinear functions of Cartesian coordinates are called curvilinear. As shown by Podolsky, the expression of the kinetic energy operator in curvilinear coordinates q_i (i = 1, ..., 3N - 3) is given by the expression $((-\frac{1}{2})$ times the Laplacian) [57, 58, 84] :

$$\hat{T} = -\frac{1}{2} \sum_{i,j}^{3N-3} J_e^{-1} \frac{\partial}{\partial q_i} J_e \,\mathcal{G}_{ij} \,\frac{\partial}{\partial q_j} \,, \tag{2}$$

with

$$J_e = |Det(\frac{\partial x_\alpha}{\partial q_i})| , \qquad (3)$$

the absolute value of the Jacobian (in the present review, 'the Jacobian' stands for the Jacobian determinant, i.e. the determinant of the Jacobian matrix, and not for the matrix itself. *Det* denotes the determinant of a matrix) corresponding to the coordinate transformation from q_i to x_{α} . We assume that $J_e > 0$ except, possibly, on a null set. \mathcal{G}_{ij} (i, j = 1, ..., 3N-3)in Eq. (2) is given by

$$\mathcal{G}_{ij} = \sum_{\alpha=1}^{3N-3} \frac{\partial q_i}{\partial x_\alpha} \frac{\partial q_j}{\partial x_\alpha} \ (i, j = 1, \dots, 3N-3).$$
(4)

In addition, the inverse of $\boldsymbol{\mathcal{G}}$,

$$\boldsymbol{g} = [g_{ij}] = \boldsymbol{\mathcal{G}}^{-1} = [\boldsymbol{\mathcal{G}}_{ij}]^{-1} , \qquad (5)$$

satisfies

$$g_{ij} = \sum_{\alpha=1}^{3N-3} \frac{\partial x_{\alpha}}{\partial q_i} \frac{\partial x_{\alpha}}{\partial q_j} \quad (i, j = 1, \dots, 3N-3).$$
(6)

Eqs. (5,6) come from the fact that \mathcal{G}_{ij} and g_{ij} are the contravariant and covariant components, respectively, of the metric tensor used to measure distances and angles in terms of curvilinear coordinates q_i in the Euclidean space spanned by the mass-weighted Cartesian coordinates x_{α} . Note, however, that tensor notation is avoided in the present review in order to simplify the equations. In other words, the matrix elements \mathcal{G}_{ij} and g_{ij} correspond to g^{ij} and g_{ij} , respectively, in tensor notation. It is then straightforward to rewrite equation (2) as

$$2\hat{T} = \sum_{i,j=1}^{3N-3} \hat{P}_{q_i}^{\dagger} \mathcal{G}_{ij} \, \hat{P}_{q_j} \,, \tag{7}$$

with the momentum operators :

$$\hat{P}_{q_i} = \frac{1}{i} \frac{\partial}{\partial q_i} , \qquad (8)$$

and their adjoints [58]

$$\hat{P}_{q_i}^{\dagger} = \frac{1}{i} J_e^{-1} \frac{\partial}{\partial q_i} J_e , \qquad (9)$$

which can be rewritten as

$$\hat{P}_{q_{i}}^{\dagger} = \hat{P}_{q_{i}} + \Lambda_{i} ,
\Lambda_{i} = (J_{e}^{-1} \hat{P}_{q_{i}} J_{e}) ,$$
(10)

with Λ_i , a purely multiplicative operator. The parentheses in Eq. (10) indicate that P_{q_i} does not operate beyond the parentheses. In other words,

$$(J_e^{-1} \hat{P}_{q_i} J_e) = -i J_e^{-1} \frac{\partial (J_e)}{\partial q_i}.$$
(11)

Note also that

$$J_e = (|Det(\mathcal{G}_{ij})|)^{-\frac{1}{2}} = g^{-\frac{1}{2}}.$$
(12)

(ii) Change in the convention of normalization:

The kinetic energy operator of Eqs. (2,7) is correct in case the wave functions are normalized as follows:

$$\int \Psi^* \Psi d\tau = 1, \qquad (13)$$

where

$$d\tau = J_e \, dq_1 \dots dq_{3N-3} \tag{14}$$

is the usual Euclidean volume element.

Now, if another volume element is used in normalizing the wave-functions, i.e.

$$d\tau' = \rho \, dq_1 \dots dq_{3N-3} \,, \tag{15}$$

where ρ is an arbitrary weight function (we only assume that $\rho \ge 0$ and that, if $\rho = 0$, it is only on a null set), the wave function Ψ and the kinetic energy operator are to be replaced respectively by [58]

$$\Psi' = J_e^{\frac{1}{2}} \rho^{-\frac{1}{2}} \Psi \,, \tag{16}$$

and

$$\hat{T}' = J_e^{\frac{1}{2}} \rho^{-\frac{1}{2}} \hat{T} \rho^{\frac{1}{2}} J_e^{-\frac{1}{2}}, \qquad (17)$$

so as to preserve the normalization of the wave-functions. The adjoint of the conjugate momentum \hat{P}_{q_i} becomes

$$\hat{P}_{q_{i}}^{\dagger'} = \hat{P}_{q_{i}} + \Lambda_{i}',$$

$$\Lambda_{i}' = (\rho^{-1} \hat{P}_{q_{i}} \rho).$$
(18)

Let us consider an important particular case: the $\rho = 1$ case. If $\rho = 1$, Eq. (17) expands into [58, 85–87]

$$2\hat{T}' = \sum_{i,j}^{3N-3} \hat{P}_{q_i} \mathcal{G}_{ij} \hat{P}_{q_j} + 2V', \qquad (19)$$

with V'_D a purely multiplicative operator called 'extra potential term', which reads

$$2V' = \left(\sum_{i,j}^{3N-3} J_e^{-\frac{1}{2}} \hat{P}_{q_i} J_e \mathcal{G}_{ij} \hat{P}_{q_j} J_e^{-\frac{1}{2}}\right).$$
(20)

(Again, the parentheses in Eq. (20) indicate that \hat{P}_{q_i} and \hat{P}_{q_j} do not operate beyond those).

(iii) Introduction of quasi-momenta:

Now, let us introduce a new set of linear combinations of the \hat{P}_{q_i} $(n \ge 3N - 3)$:

$$\hat{P}_K = \sum_{i=1}^{3N-3} A_K^i \, \hat{P}_{q_i} \, \left(K = 1, \dots, n\right).$$
(21)

The following cases may occur :

(1) there exists a coordinate transformation from q_i to some new coordinates Q_K such that A_K^i is the ordinary Jacobian matrix :

$$A_K^i = \frac{\partial q_i}{\partial Q_K},\tag{22}$$

so that \hat{P}_K is the momentum conjugate to the curvilinear coordinate Q_K .

(2) no such coordinate transformation exists and the \hat{P}_K that cannot be written as momentum conjugates are usually said to be quasi-momenta [58, 81]. The usual angular momentum component operators introduced in quantum mechanics are a particular case of such operators.

The KEO can be recast in terms of these new momenta:

$$2\hat{T} = \sum_{K,L=1}^{n} \hat{P}_{K}^{\dagger} \, \mathcal{G}_{KL}' \, \hat{P}_{L} \,, \qquad (23)$$

with

$$\hat{P}_{K}^{\dagger} = \sum_{i=1}^{3N-3} \hat{P}_{q_{i}}^{\dagger} A_{K}^{i}, \qquad (24)$$

the adjoint of \hat{P}_K . The elements of matrix \mathcal{G}' are functions of the elements of the matrices \mathcal{G} and A:

$$\mathcal{G} = \mathbf{A}^T \, \mathcal{G}' \mathbf{A},\tag{25}$$

 A^T denotes the transpose of A.

Let us consider an important particular case: the three BF-components of \hat{J} , the total angular momentum of a molecular system. In order to separate the overall rotation from the internal deformation, let us introduce a Body-Fixed (BF) frame, $\{G; \vec{e}_{x^{BF}}, \vec{e}_{y^{BF}}, \vec{e}_{z^{BF}}\}$. The BF frame is linked to the system, and its axes $\vec{e}_{x^{BF}}, \vec{e}_{y^{BF}}$ and $\vec{e}_{z^{BF}}$ rotate in a conventional manner when the particles move. The orientation of the BF frame with respect to the SF frame is determined by three Euler angles: α, β, γ , and, after definition of the three Euler angles, the shape and the size of the molecules are described by 3N-6 internal BF coordinates. We have 3N-3 coordinates such as $\{q_i, i = 1, \ldots, 3N - 6\}$ correspond to the 3N-6 internal BF coordinates and $q_{3N-5} = \alpha, q_{3N-4} = \beta$, and $q_{3N-3} = \gamma$. This separation greatly facilitates the construction of the irreducible representations of the rotation symmetry group, thus reducing the size of the calculations needed to solve the Schrödinger equation. The three BF-components of \hat{J} can be expressed in terms of the three momentum operators associated with the Euler angles as

$$\begin{bmatrix} \hat{J}_{x^{BF}} \\ \hat{J}_{y^{BF}} \\ \hat{J}_{z^{BF}} \end{bmatrix} = \mathbf{A}_{J} \begin{bmatrix} \frac{1}{i} \frac{\partial}{\partial \alpha} \\ \\ \frac{1}{i} \frac{\partial}{\partial \beta} \\ \\ \frac{1}{i} \frac{\partial}{\partial \gamma} \end{bmatrix}.$$
(26)

(see Eq. (77), in Section IIC1 below, for an explicit expression of A_J). The KEO can be rewritten in terms of the 3N - 6 momentum operators associated with the 3N - 6 internal BF coordinates and of the three quasi-momenta, $\hat{J}_{x^{BF}}$, $\hat{J}_{y^{BF}}$, and $\hat{J}_{z^{BF}}$:

$$\hat{T} = \sum_{l,m=1}^{3N-6} \frac{\hat{P}_{q_l}^{\dagger} \Sigma_{q_l q_m} \hat{P}_{q_m}}{2} + \sum_{l=1}^{3N-6} \sum_{\alpha=x,y,z} \frac{\hat{P}_{q_l}^{\dagger} \sigma_{q_l \alpha} \hat{J}_{\alpha^{BF}} + \hat{J}_{\alpha^{BF}} \sigma_{\alpha q_l} \hat{P}_{q_l}}{2} + \sum_{\alpha=x,y,z} \sum_{\beta=x,y,z} \frac{\hat{J}_{\alpha^{BF}} \Gamma_{\alpha\beta} \hat{J}_{\beta^{BF}} + \hat{J}_{\beta^{BF}} \Gamma_{\beta\alpha} \hat{J}_{\alpha^{BF}}}{2}.$$

$$(27)$$

The matrices Σ , σ and Γ parametrize the vibrational (\hat{T}_{vib}) , Coriolis (\hat{T}_{cor}) and rotational (\hat{T}_{rot}) parts of the KEO, respectively. (To be rigorous, it is never possible to fully isolate the different parts of the KEO corresponding to the vibration, the rotation and the Coriolis coupling. This depends on the coordinate system and the definition of the BF frame. Hence, there is also some Coriolis coupling in \hat{T}_{vib} and \hat{T}_{rot} . However, we keep this notation for simplicity). The elements of the matrices σ and Γ depend on the elements of the matrices \mathcal{G} and A_J of Eqs. (7) and (26), respectively. Indeed, we have

$$\mathcal{G} = \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{1} & \mathbf{0} \\ \mathbf{0} & \mathbf{A}_J^T \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \Sigma & \boldsymbol{\sigma}^T \\ \boldsymbol{\sigma} & \boldsymbol{\Gamma} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{1} & \mathbf{0} \\ \mathbf{0} & \mathbf{A}_J \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} \Sigma & \boldsymbol{\sigma}^T \mathbf{A}_J \\ \mathbf{A}_J^T \boldsymbol{\sigma} & \mathbf{A}_J^T \boldsymbol{\Gamma} \mathbf{A}_J \end{bmatrix}.$$
 (28)

The elements of the matrix Σ are identical to the elements of the matrix \mathcal{G} corresponding to the 3N-6 internal coordinates. In other word, $\Sigma_{q_iq_j} = \mathcal{G}_{ij}$, (i, j = 1, ..., 3N - 6). The matrix Σ does not depend on the definition of the BF frame.

Let us point out that it is possible to introduce other quasi-momenta, for instance, the BF-components of the angular momenta associated with the N-1 relative position vectors that will appear, in the polyspherical approach, in Section IIB.

Another important 'historical' case of quasi-momenta are the so-called vibrational momentum components, $\hat{\pi}_{\alpha}$ ($\alpha = x, y, z$), introduced by Watson [88, 89]. They read

$$\hat{\pi}_{\alpha} = -i \sum_{k,l=1}^{3N-6} \zeta_{kl}^{\alpha} Q_k \frac{\partial}{\partial Q_l}, \qquad (29)$$

where Q_k are the normal coordinates and ζ_{km}^{α} are Coriolis parameters defined in Ref. [88]. It goes without saying that they are different from the angular momenta introduced in the polyspherical approach. Finally, let us point out that it is also possible to introduce hermitian quasi-momentum operators by the standard procedure:

$$\hat{P}_K^H = \hat{P}_K + \hat{P}_K^\dagger. \tag{30}$$

It can be shown (see Chapter 3 in Ref. [58]) that

$$\hat{P}_{K}^{H} = J^{-\frac{1}{2}} \hat{P}_{K} J^{\frac{1}{2}} + \frac{1}{2} \lambda_{K} , \qquad (31)$$

with

$$\lambda_K = \sum_{i=1}^{3N-3} (\hat{P}_{q_i} A_K^i), \qquad (32)$$

and that

$$2\hat{T} = \sum_{K,L=1}^{n} g^{\frac{1}{4}} (\hat{P}_{K}^{H} + \frac{1}{2}\lambda_{K}) \mathcal{G}_{KL}' g^{-\frac{1}{2}} (\hat{P}_{L}^{H} - \frac{1}{2}\lambda_{L}) g^{\frac{1}{4}}.$$
(33)

The latter expression of the KEO is similar to the general expression given by Watson in Ref. [88, 89]: see, for instance, Eq. (A.23) in Ref. [89]. As explained by Watson the terms in λ_K or λ_L are closely connected with the non-commutativity of the quasi-momenta.

(iv) Derivation of kinetic energy operator:

The derivation of the KEO of Eqs. (7,23,27) is a difficult task. In concrete terms, it is possible to follow one of two routes: either to obtain the classical kinetic energy expression and to quantize it [59, 73, 74, 87] or to use the chain rule to transform the space-fixed Cartesian KEO to derive the new KEO [60, 61, 63–65, 90–93]. Note that the polyspherical approach uses the first route and this is why we shall start from the classical expression of the kinetic energy in Sections IIB1 and IIB2 and quantize it in a second step. In this context, Lukka greatly simplified the derivation of KEOs in bond coordinates by suggesting the use of infinitesimal rotation angles [94]. In the same manner, Pesonen proposed to use geometric algebra to easily calculate the KEOs [95–97]. However, with the development of algorithmic programs such as Mathematica, the main problem is no longer the derivation of the KEO itself but rather the availability of a general expression of the KEO in curvilinear coordinates that is not too complicated and well adapted to the numerical methods used in dynamics. To our knowledge, there are not many available general expressions of the KEO in curvilinear coordinates: the most famous one is given by the Wilson G matrix formulation [98, 99] (see also Ref. [100–103] for applications). One can also cite the formulation of Gu *at al.* [104, 105] and, finally, the polyspherical approach, which is the subject of the present review. They all correspond to different parametrizations of the N-body system. Regarding the polyspherical approach, Chapuisat and Iung [73] were perhaps the first to adopt this family of coordinates in quantum dynamics in a systematic way. The exact quantum mechanical formulation was given in a series of papers a little bit later [72, 74–77]. It should also be pointed out that Mladenović has given a very clear presentation of the equations of the polyspherical formulation in angular momenta [79, 106]. After this brief presentation of the general background, let us describe the polyspherical approach in detail.

B. Vector parametrization and properties of angular momenta

As aforementioned, in the absence of external fields, it is possible to separate the translational degrees of freedom from the rest of the kinetic energy and to describe the configuration of an N-particle system in the SF frame, by N-1 relative position vectors. In all that follows, we no longer use mass-weighted Cartesian coordinates but, instead, the standard Cartesian coordinates. In addition, we confine ourselves to studying isolated molecular systems. Note, however, that if an external field is present or if the molecule is located in a noble gas matrix or on metal surface, all the results subsequently presented remain true. One simply has (i) to add one vector more: \overrightarrow{OG} , O being the center of the Laboratory-Fixed (LF) frame and G the center of mass of the molecular system, and (ii) to add the kinetic energy of the center of mass of the molecular system to the final expression of the KEO.

As said in Sec. II A, in the polyspherical approach, we start from the classical expression of the kinetic energy and quantize it afterwards. More precisely, we start with the description of molecular systems by N-1 vectors. To illustrate such vector parametrization, we consider two examples in Sec. II B 1. Thereafter, we introduce the angular momenta associated with these vectors and give a general expression of the KEO in terms of these angular momenta. The latter are quasi-momenta (see the definition of the quasi-momenta in Section II A (iii)), and they may be looked upon as 'intermediates' in the polyspherical approach. FIG. 1: Definition of the three Jacobi vectors for an ABCD system. Here, g_1 is the center of mass of the (AB) subsystem, g_2 is the center of mass of the (CD) subsystem.



The introduction of these intermediates allows (i) to obtain a very compact expression of the KEO whatever the set of vectors. For orthogonal coordinates, this compact expression is given in Eq. (65) in Sec. II B 2. (ii) It allows to derive a general expression of the KEO for the family of standard polyspherical coordinates (Eq. (92) in Sec. II C 1 for orthogonal coordinates) without using differential calculus. It is also the introduction of the angular momenta that avoids the use of differential calculus. (iii) It allows to find straightforwardly a primitive basis set (e. g. the basis set of spherical harmonics associated with the angular momenta) discarding all singularities that may occur in the KEO. To illustrate our ideas we will consider in Section II B 1 a four-atom system, ABCD, first using Jacobi vectors and, second, using valence vectors.

1. Examples

(i) Jacobi vectors:

Let $\vec{r_A}$, $\vec{r_B}$, $\vec{r_C}$, and $\vec{r_D}$ be the position vectors from the center of mass G of the atoms A,B,C and D (see Fig. 1). Jacobi vectors point from one atomic group center of mass to another one. In general, the choice of the Jacobi vectors is not unique [107] and several 'clustering' schemes are possible, one of which is shown in Fig. 1. Thus, we will use the Jacobi vectors as shown in Figure 1:

$$\vec{R}_{1} = \vec{r}_{B} - \vec{r}_{A}, \quad \vec{R}_{2} = \vec{r}_{D} - \vec{r}_{C}, \qquad (34)$$
$$\vec{R}_{3} = \frac{m_{C}}{m_{C} + m_{D}} \vec{r}_{C} + \frac{m_{D}}{m_{C} + m_{D}} \vec{r}_{D} - \frac{m_{A}}{m_{A} + m_{B}} \vec{r}_{A} - \frac{m_{B}}{m_{A} + m_{B}} \vec{r}_{B}.$$

Let $\{G, \vec{e}_{x^{SF}}, \vec{e}_{y^{SF}}, \vec{e}_{z^{SF}}\}$ be an inertial Space-Fixed (SF) frame, where $\vec{e}_{\lambda^{SF}}$ ($\lambda = x, y, z$) are fixed unit vectors. The position vector \vec{r}_A , when referred to the SF frame, is given by

$$\vec{r}_A = \sum_{\lambda = x, y, z} r_A \,_{\lambda^{SF}} \vec{e}_{\lambda^{SF}} \,, \tag{35}$$

where $r_{A\lambda^{SF}}$ ($\lambda = x, y, z$) are the SF Cartesian coordinates. The velocity vector of the atom A, with respect to the SF frame, is given by

$$\dot{\vec{r}}_A = \sum_{\lambda = x, y, z} \dot{r}_{A\,\lambda^{SF}} \vec{e}_{\lambda^{SF}} , \qquad (36)$$

where the dots denote time-derivatives. Similar relations hold of course for the atoms B,C and D and the Jacobi vectors. The kinetic energy of the system relative to the center of mass G, i.e. relative to the SF frame, is given by

$$2T^{SF} = m_A \dot{\vec{r}}_A \dot{\vec{r}}_A + m_B \dot{\vec{r}}_B \dot{\vec{r}}_B + m_C \dot{\vec{r}}_C \dot{\vec{r}}_C + m_D \dot{\vec{r}}_D \dot{\vec{r}}_D , \qquad (37)$$

and which, in view of Eq. (34), can be rewritten as

$$2T^{SF} = \mu_1 \dot{\vec{R}}_1 \, \dot{\vec{R}}_1 + \mu_2 \dot{\vec{R}}_2 \, \dot{\vec{R}}_2 + \mu_3 \dot{\vec{R}}_3 \, \dot{\vec{R}}_3 \,, \qquad (38)$$

with the corresponding 'reduced masses':

$$\mu_{1} = \frac{m_{A}m_{B}}{m_{A} + m_{B}}, \quad \mu_{2} = \frac{m_{C}m_{D}}{m_{C} + m_{D}},$$

$$\mu_{3} = \frac{(m_{C} + m_{D})(m_{A} + m_{B})}{M_{T}},$$
(39)

and with $M_T = m_A + m_B + m_C + m_D$. Equation (38) shows that the kinetic energy has a diagonal form, and this is why the Jacobi coordinates are said to be orthogonal coordinates [108]. In other words, the kinetic energy of a four-atom system, relative to its center of mass,

can be described as the kinetic energy of three fictitious particles of masses μ_1 , μ_2 , and μ_3 and of the position vectors \vec{R}_1 , \vec{R}_2 , and \vec{R}_3 . To each vector $\dot{\vec{R}}_i$ (i = 1, 2, 3), it is possible to associate a conjugate momentum

$$P_{i\,\lambda^{SF}} = \frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial \dot{R}_{i\,\lambda^{SF}}} = \frac{\partial T^{SF}}{\partial \dot{R}_{i\,\lambda^{SF}}}, \lambda = x, y, z ; \qquad (40)$$

where \mathcal{L} is the Lagrangian of the system. It is also possible to define a partial angular momentum corresponding to each Jacobi vector:

$$\vec{L}_i^{SF} = \vec{R}_i \times \vec{P}_i^{SF} \,. \tag{41}$$

This leads to

$$2T^{SF} = \sum_{i=1}^{3} \frac{\left(\vec{P}_{i}^{SF}\right)^{2}}{\mu_{i}} = \sum_{i=1}^{3} \frac{P_{R_{i}}^{2}}{\mu_{i}} + \frac{\left(\vec{L}_{i}^{SF}\right)^{2}}{\mu_{i}R_{i}^{2}} \,. \tag{42}$$

Here,

$$R_i = ||\vec{R}_i|| \tag{43}$$

denotes a vector length and

$$P_{R_i} = \vec{P}_i \cdot \vec{e}_{R_i} \tag{44}$$

is a radial momentum

$$(P_{R_i} = \frac{\partial L}{\partial \dot{R}_i} = \frac{\partial T^{SF}}{\partial \dot{R}_i}).$$
(45)

The momentum $\vec{P_i}$ is given by its radial and angular parts as

$$\vec{P}_i = P_{R_i} \vec{e}_{R_i} - \frac{\vec{e}_{R_i} \times \vec{L}_i}{R_i} , \qquad (46)$$

where

$$\vec{e}_{R_i} = \vec{R}_i / R_i \tag{47}$$

denotes a unit vector along \vec{R}_i .

The total angular momentum of the molecular system ABCD is

$$\vec{J} = \vec{r}_A \times m_A \dot{\vec{r}}_A + \vec{r}_B \times m_B \dot{\vec{r}}_B + \vec{r}_C \times m_C \dot{\vec{r}}_C + \vec{r}_D \times m_D \dot{\vec{r}}_D .$$

$$\tag{48}$$

FIG. 2: Definition of the three valence vectors for an ABCD system.



It is straightforward, but tedious to show that

$$\vec{J} = \sum_{i=1,2,3} \vec{L}_i^{SF} \,. \tag{49}$$

Eq. (49) is true whatever the set of N-1 vectors used to describe the system.

(ii) Valence vectors:

The valence vectors are vectors which join one atom to another one. The choice of the valence vectors is not unique and we will use the following definitions (see Figure 2) :

$$\vec{R}_1 = \vec{r}_B - \vec{r}_A, \ \vec{R}_2 = \vec{r}_C - \vec{r}_A, \ \vec{R}_3 = \vec{r}_D - \vec{r}_A.$$
 (50)

Inserting Eq. (50) in Eq. (37) leads to a non-diagonal expression of the kinetic energy :

$$2T^{SF} = \sum_{i,j=1}^{3} \mu_{ij} \dot{\vec{R}}_i \dot{\vec{R}}_j .$$
 (51)

Since the expression of T^{SF} is non-diagonal, the valence coordinates are said to be nonorthogonal. Again, to each vector $\dot{\vec{R}}_i$ (i = 1, 2, 3), it is possible to associate a conjugate momentum (Eq. (40)) and to define a corresponding partial angular momentum (Eq. (41)). Finally, after having inserted Eq. (50) into Eq. (37) and used Eq. (40), we obtain a non-diagonal expression of the kinetic energy in terms of the momenta

$$2T^{SF} = \sum_{i,j=1}^{3} \overrightarrow{P}_{i}^{SF} M_{ij} \overrightarrow{P}_{j}^{SF} , \qquad (52)$$

with the matrix \mathbf{M} , which reads

$$\mathbf{M} = \begin{bmatrix} \frac{1}{m_A} + \frac{1}{m_B} & \frac{1}{m_A} & \frac{1}{m_A} \\ \frac{1}{m_A} & \frac{1}{m_A} + \frac{1}{m_C} & \frac{1}{m_A} \\ \frac{1}{m_A} & \frac{1}{m_A} & \frac{1}{m_A} + \frac{1}{m_D} \end{bmatrix} .$$
 (53)

2. General formulation

(i) Defining a set of N-1 vectors and the corresponding classical kinetic energy: Let $\vec{R}_1, \vec{R}_2, \ldots, \vec{R}_{N-1}$ be any set of vectors chosen for the description of a molecular system. $\vec{R}_1, \vec{R}_2, \ldots, \vec{R}_{N-1}$ can be orthogonal vectors such as Jacobi vectors (i.e. vectors pointing from one atomic group center of mass to another one) or Radau vectors (see Sec. III A 3 for the definition of the Radau vectors) or non-orthogonal vectors such as valence vectors joining two atoms. The classical SF kinetic energy can be written as

$$2T^{SF} = \sum_{i,j=1}^{N-1} \overrightarrow{P}_{i}^{SF} M_{ij} \overrightarrow{P}_{j}^{SF} = \sum_{i,j=1,\dots,N-1} \sum_{\lambda=x,y,z} P_{i\,\lambda^{SF}} M_{ij} P_{j\,\lambda^{SF}} \quad , \tag{54}$$

where M_{ij} are the elements of the mass matrix **M**. We often use, mainly for orthogonal coordinates, the notation

$$\mu_i = \frac{1}{M_{ii}} \tag{55}$$

for the diagonal elements of the matrix \mathbf{M} . μ_i is called the 'reduced mass' associated with the vector $\vec{R_i}$. To determine \mathbf{M} , we introduce a (redundant) set of position vectors, $\vec{r_1}$, $\vec{r_2}$, ..., $\vec{r_N}$, where $\vec{r_i}$ points from the center of mass G to the position of the *i*-th atom. The kinetic energy, relative to the center of mass, is simply given by

$$2T^{SF} = \sum_{i=1,\dots,N} \sum_{\lambda=x,y,z} \frac{(p_{i\,\lambda^{SF}})^2}{m_i} \quad , \tag{56}$$

where $\vec{p_i}$ is the conjugate momentum associated with $\vec{r_i}$, and m_i the mass of the *i*-th atom. Let us now return to a set of (N-1) internal vectors, $\vec{R_1}, \vec{R_2}, \ldots, \vec{R_{N-1}}$, chosen to describe the same N-atom system. Then there exists an $(N-1) \times N$ matrix **A**, which connects the two sets of coordinates (see Eqs. (34) and (50) for two particular cases of an ABCD system):

$$\begin{bmatrix} \vec{R}_1 \\ \vec{R}_2 \\ \cdots \\ \vec{R}_{N-1} \end{bmatrix} = \mathbf{A} \begin{bmatrix} \vec{r}_1 \\ \vec{r}_2 \\ \cdots \\ \vec{r}_N \end{bmatrix}$$
(57)

The symmetric mass-dependent constant matrix \mathbf{M} for the internal set of N - 1 vectors appearing in the KEO is given by $\mathbf{M} = \mathbf{Am}^{-1}\mathbf{A}^T$ where \mathbf{m} denotes the diagonal matrix of particle masses. In this formulation, it is thus very easy to switch from one set of vectors to another, just by changing the matrix \mathbf{M} .

For valence and Jacobi vectors, **M** can be obtained directly by using the following general property [73]:

(1) The diagonal element M_{ii} is the inverse of the reduced mass associated with the two groups of particles whose centers of mass are joined by \vec{R}_i .

For instance, in the case of the ABCD system in the Jacobi vectors of Figure 1, we get

$$M_{11} = \frac{1}{m_A} + \frac{1}{m_B} = \frac{1}{\mu_1},$$

$$M_{22} = \frac{1}{m_C} + \frac{1}{m_D} = \frac{1}{\mu_2},$$

$$M_{33} = \frac{1}{m_A + m_B} + \frac{1}{m_C + m_D} = \frac{1}{\mu_3}.$$
(58)

In contrast, using the valence vectors of Figure 2, we obtain

$$M_{11} = \frac{1}{m_A} + \frac{1}{m_B},$$

$$M_{22} = \frac{1}{m_A} + \frac{1}{m_C},$$

$$M_{33} = \frac{1}{m_A} + \frac{1}{m_D}.$$
(59)

(2) For the off-diagonal elements, M_{ij} is zero for Jacobi vectors and for valence vectors with no common atom. Otherwise, $|M_{ij}|$ is the inverse of the mass of the atom common to both \vec{R}_i and \vec{R}_j . The sign of M_{ij} is + if the two vectors originate from or point towards the same atom; it is – in the other case.

FIG. 3: (AB)CB(EF) system parametrised by five valence vectors.



For instance, in the case of the ABCD system in Jacobi vectors of Figure 1, all the off-diagonal elements are equal to zero, while for the valence vectors described in Figure 2, we obtain $M_{12} = M_{13} = M_{23} = +\frac{1}{m_A}$.

Let us give a final example: in the case of an (AB)CB(EF) system parametrized by five valence vectors as depicted in Figure 3, the matrix **M** can be obtained using the previous result without any calculation:

$$\mathbf{M} = \begin{bmatrix} \frac{1}{m_A} + \frac{1}{m_C} & +\frac{1}{m_C} & 0 & 0 & +\frac{1}{m_C} \\ +\frac{1}{m_C} & \frac{1}{m_B} + \frac{1}{m_C} & 0 & 0 & +\frac{1}{m_C} \\ 0 & 0 & \frac{1}{m_D} + \frac{1}{m_E} & +\frac{1}{m_D} & -\frac{1}{m_D} \\ 0 & 0 & +\frac{1}{m_D} & \frac{1}{m_D} + \frac{1}{m_F} & -\frac{1}{m_D} \\ +\frac{1}{m_C} & +\frac{1}{m_C} & -\frac{1}{m_D} & -\frac{1}{m_D} & \frac{1}{m_C} + \frac{1}{m_D} \end{bmatrix} .$$
 (60)

In the general case, one should calculate the matrix A and derive the matrix M from it.

(ii) Introduction of the Body-Fixed frame and quantization:

In order to separate the overall rotation from the internal deformation, let us now introduce

a Body-Fixed (BF) frame, $\{G; \vec{e}_{x^{BF}}, \vec{e}_{y^{BF}}, \vec{e}_{z^{BF}}\}$. Its orientation with respect to the SF frame is determined by three Euler angles: α, β, γ . After definition of the three Euler angles, the shape and the size of the molecules are described by 3N-6 internal BF coordinates. At this level, the exact definition of the BF frame is not yet specified (and not necessary), but the classical kinetic energy can already be recast as follows:

$$2T^{SF} = \sum_{i,j=1,\dots,N-1} \sum_{\lambda=x,y,z} P_{i\,\lambda^{BF}} M_{ij} P_{j\,\lambda^{BF}} \quad , \tag{61}$$

where $P_{i\lambda^{BF}}$ are the Cartesian components of the SF (and not BF! see below) conjugate momenta in the BF frame [81], or in other words, the projections of the SF conjugate momenta onto the BF-axes:

$$\vec{P}_{i} = P_{i\,x^{BF}}\vec{e}_{\,x^{BF}} + P_{i\,y^{BF}}\vec{e}_{\,y^{BF}} + P_{i\,z^{BF}}\vec{e}_{\,z^{BF}} \quad .$$
(62)

According to Refs. [58, 81], the exact quantum mechanical counterpart of Eq. (61) is given by:

$$2\hat{T} = \sum_{i,j=1,\dots,N-1} \sum_{\lambda=x,y,z} \hat{P}^{\dagger}_{i\,\lambda^{BF}} M_{ij} \hat{P}_{j\,\lambda^{BF}} \quad .$$

$$(63)$$

where the adjoint $\hat{P}^{\dagger}_{i\lambda^{BF}}$ is given by Eq. (9).

(iii) Introduction of the Body-Fixed projections of the angular momenta associated with the N-1 vectors

It should be clear that the kinetic energy operator will always be the Space-Fixed one, and not the Body-Fixed kinetic energy, even after introduction of the BF frame. Furthermore, the quantum mechanical counterpart of Eq. (46) is given by

$$\hat{\vec{P}}_i = \hat{P}_{R_i}\vec{e}_i - \frac{\vec{e}_i \times \vec{L}_i}{R_i} \quad .$$
(64)

After the introduction of a BF frame, projections of the angular momenta onto BF axes will be used. For instance, in the special case of orthogonal vectors, Eq. (63) yields (here, $\mu_i = \frac{1}{M_{ii}}$):

$$2\hat{T} = \sum_{i=1}^{N-1} \frac{\hat{P}_{R_i}^{\dagger} \hat{P}_{R_i}}{\mu_i} + \frac{(\hat{\vec{L}}_i^{\dagger} \cdot \hat{\vec{L}}_i)_{BF}}{\mu_i R_i^2} \quad .$$
(65)

If the set of vectors is non-orthogonal, the structure of the kinetic energy operator is more complex (with crossing terms between the radial and angular momenta proportional to the masses M_{ij} , with $i \neq j$: see Appendix B). At this level, we have already a general formulation of the kinetic energy operator for any set of vectors expressed in terms of the BF projections of the momenta associated with these vectors. The 3N - 3 BF-projections of the angular momenta are quasi-momenta and Eq. (65) appears as a particular case of Eq. (23) of section II A.

Let us explain why it is necessary to introduce the BF projections of the momenta when making a change of coordinates to separate the overall rotation from the internal vibrations. The action of SF-components of the angular momenta on the primitive basis functions expressed in BF coordinates is very complicated, whereas the action of the BF-components onto the primitive basis functions expressed in BF coordinates is rather simple, see, e. g., the action of the KEO onto a basis set of spherical harmonics of BF spherical coordinates discussed in Sec. II C 1 below. As BF coordinates are needed to separate the overall rotation from the internal vibrations, it becomes necessary to express the KEO in terms of BFcomponents of momenta and angular momenta as in Eqs. (63, 65), rather than in terms of the SF-components.

It is to be emphasized again that angular momenta that will appear in the kinetic energy operators (such as in Eq. (65)) are all *computed* in the SF frame, but are *projected* onto the axes of several frames (e. g. the BF frame in Eq. (65)):

$$\begin{bmatrix} \hat{L}_{ix^{BF}} \\ \hat{L}_{iy^{BF}} \\ \hat{L}_{iz^{BF}} \end{bmatrix} = \mathcal{R}^{T}(\alpha, \beta, \gamma) \begin{bmatrix} \hat{L}_{ix^{SF}} \\ \hat{L}_{iy^{SF}} \\ \hat{L}_{iz^{SF}} \end{bmatrix}, \qquad (66)$$

where $\mathcal{R}(\alpha, \beta, \gamma)$ is the Euler rotation matrix [109] (see Eq. (70) below for the explicit expression of this matrix). As aforementioned, the introduction of these projections is necessary when using the BF coordinates, but raises a new technical problem. The projections of the angular momenta onto the SF-axes satisfy the usual commutation relations, and their action onto a basis set of spherical harmonics in terms of the SF spherical coordinates is well known (see for instance Ref. [109]). However, the projections of the same angular momenta onto the axes of a moving frame may satisfy anomalous, non-definite commutation relations [81]. Luckily, this problem does not occur for all angular momenta. If a vector is not involved in the definition of a frame F (see Section IIC1 (i) to understand what we exactly mean by 'a vector involved in the definition of a frame'), the expression for the projection of the corresponding angular momentum onto the F-axes expressed in the coordinates in this frame is identical to the usual one in an SF frame [58]. For instance, if one vector \vec{R}_j is not involved in the definition of the BF frame, the projections of \vec{L}_j onto the BF-axes and expressed in terms of the BF-Cartesian coordinates are given by:

$$\begin{bmatrix} \hat{L}_{jx^{BF}} \\ \hat{L}_{jy^{BF}} \\ \hat{L}_{jz^{BF}} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} R_{jx^{BF}} \\ R_{jy^{BF}} \\ R_{jz^{BF}} \end{bmatrix} \times \begin{bmatrix} \frac{1}{i} \frac{\partial}{\partial R_{jx^{BF}}} \\ \frac{1}{i} \frac{\partial}{\partial R_{jy^{BF}}} \\ \frac{1}{i} \frac{\partial}{\partial R_{jz^{BF}}} \end{bmatrix} .$$
(67)

This expression is identical to the expression of the projections of an angular momentum onto the SF-axes in terms of SF coordinates. *The origin of this property is explained in Appendix A.* It is easy to verify that the usual commutation relations,

$$[\hat{L}_{j\,\lambda^{BF}}, \hat{L}_{j\,\nu^{BF}}] = i \sum_{\rho} \epsilon_{\lambda\nu\rho} \hat{L}_{j\,\rho^{BF}} \quad , \tag{68}$$

are satisfied, where ϵ denotes the well-known totally antisymmetric tensor, i.e. $\epsilon_{\lambda\nu\rho} = 1$ $(\epsilon_{\lambda\nu\rho} = -1)$ if $\{\lambda\nu\rho\}$ is an even (odd) permutation of $\{xyz\}$, and zero otherwise. This property (especially Eq. (67)) is remarkable and very helpful, since combined with the previous vector parametrization of N-atom systems, it will allow us to derive kinetic energy operators in a compact and general form with no need to use differential calculus.

C. A general expression of the KEO in standard polyspherical coordinates

Until now, we have described an N-particle system by a set of N-1 vectors and provided the expression of the KEO in terms of the conjugate momenta associated with these vectors. We have explained in Sec. IIB2 (i) how to switch from one set of vectors to another one. Thereafter, we have introduced the BF projections of the angular momenta associated with the N-1 vectors in Sec. IIB2 (ii) and brought out some general properties regarding these projections in Sec. IIB2 (iii). All of this constitutes a framework that makes possible to derive a general expression of the KEO in terms of the spherical coordinates that parametrize the vectors in the BF frame whose precise definition must be given now.

1. Expression in angular momenta



FIG. 4: Definition of the E_2 Frame and of the first two Euler angles.

(i) Definition of the BF frame: Fig. 4, 5, and 6.

The orientation of the BF frame with respect to the SF frame is determined by the Euler angles α , β , γ . There are numerous ways of specifying Euler angles. The one chosen here is that of Biedenharn and Louck [110] where α and β are the ordinary spherical coordinates of the \vec{e}_z^{BF} vector in the SF system and γ is an angle measuring a clockwise rotation about \vec{e}_z^{BF} . To be very precise, it means that, for a given vector \vec{R} , the relation between SF and BF components of this vector is given by

$$\begin{bmatrix} R_{x^{SF}} \\ R_{y^{SF}} \\ R_{z^{SF}} \end{bmatrix} = \mathcal{R}(\alpha, \beta, \gamma) \begin{bmatrix} R_{x^{BF}} \\ R_{y^{BF}} \\ R_{z^{BF}} \end{bmatrix}, \qquad (69)$$

with $\mathcal{R}(\alpha, \beta, \gamma)$ the Euler rotation matrix, which takes the following form in the convention of Biedenharn and Louck [110] (see also Ref. [109]):

FIG. 5: Definition of the BF frame and of the third angle.



$$\mathcal{R}(\alpha,\beta,\gamma) = D_{z}(\alpha) \times D_{y}(\beta) \times D_{z}(\gamma)$$

$$= \begin{bmatrix} \cos\alpha & -\sin\alpha & 0\\ \sin\alpha & \cos\alpha & 0\\ 0 & 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix} \times \begin{bmatrix} \cos\beta & 0 & \sin\beta\\ 0 & 1 & 0\\ -\sin\beta & 0 & \cos\beta \end{bmatrix} \times \begin{bmatrix} \cos\gamma & -\sin\gamma & 0\\ \sin\gamma & \cos\gamma & 0\\ 0 & 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix}.$$
(70)

Throughout this Section, a very particular definition of the BF frame is used:

(1) Let $\{G; \vec{e}_{x^{E_1}}, \vec{e}_{y^{E_1}}, \vec{e}_{z^{E_1}}\}$ be the E_1 frame resulting from the first Euler rotation, i.e. whose origin coincides with G, where $\vec{e}_{z^{E_1}} = \vec{e}_{z^{SF}}$ and where $\vec{e}_{x^{E_1}}$ and $\vec{e}_{y^{E_1}}$ are obtained by a rotation through the angle α about $\vec{e}_{z^{E_1}}$.

(2) Let $\{G; \vec{e}_{x^{E_2}}, \vec{e}_{y^{E_2}}, \vec{e}_{z^{E_2}}\}$ be the E_2 frame resulting from the first two Euler rotations, where $\vec{e}_{y^{E_2}} = \vec{e}_{y^{E_1}}$ and where $\vec{e}_{x^{E_2}}$ and $\vec{e}_{z^{E_2}}$ are obtained by a rotation through the angle β about $\vec{e}_{y^{E_2}}$ (see Fig. 4 and 6).

(3) Let $\{G; \vec{e}_{x^{E_3}}, \vec{e}_{y^{E_3}}, \vec{e}_{z^{E_3}}\} = \{G; \vec{e}_{x^{BF}}, \vec{e}_{y^{BF}}, \vec{e}_{z^{BF}}\}$ be the E_3 or BF frame, i.e. the frame resulting from the three Euler rotations, where $\vec{e}_{z^{E_3}} = \vec{e}_{z^{E_2}}$, and where $\vec{e}_{x^{E_3}}$ and $\vec{e}_{y^{E_3}}$ are obtained by a rotation through the angle γ about $\vec{e}_{z^{E_2}}$.

(4) The Euler angles are chosen such that the BF or E_3 frame is oriented in a way that $\vec{e}_{z^{BF}} = \vec{e}_{z^{E_2}}$ is parallel to the vector \vec{R}_{N-1} and that \vec{R}_{N-2} , $\vec{e}_{x^{BF}}$ and $\vec{e}_{z^{BF}}$ lie in the same half-plane (see Figs. 5 and 6).

FIG. 6: Definition of the BF frame and of the three Euler angles. The E_2 Frame is the frame obtained after the first two Euler rotations.



We have thus chosen a very specific definition of the BF frame (note, however, that the choice of the set of vectors remains free). It is important to notice that this definition of the BF frame has an important advantage: only two vectors are involved in this definition of the BF frame. This property will greatly simplify the quantum mechanical expression of the kinetic energy operator. Indeed, as outlined in Sec. II B 2 (iii), the expressions for the angular momenta associated with the N-3 remaining vectors are the usual ones when projected onto the BF-axes and expressed in terms of BF-coordinates. It should be pointed out that this is very different from the Eckart frame [111], which minimizes the Coriolis coupling. The definition of this latter frame, however, depends on all vectors rather than on two. Consequently, using the Eckart frame in general leads to a much more complex expression of the KEO. This is particularly true for the part of the KEO containing the Coriolis coupling whose expression directly depends upon the definition of the BF frame. On the other hand, the KEO for J = 0 is independent of the definition of the BF frame (see II A (iii)).

Generally speaking, it is advantageous to choose the vector \vec{R}_{N-1} (that defines the z^{BF}

axis) such that its 'reduced mass',

$$\mu_{N-1} = \frac{1}{M_{N-1N-1}} \tag{71}$$

in Eqs. (54,63,65), is larger than the reduced masses associated with the other vectors (μ_i , i = 1, ..., N-2). Indeed, we shall see later that the part of the KEO containing the Coriolis coupling is proportional to

$$\frac{1}{\mu_{N-1}} = M_{N-1N-1}.$$
(72)

If it is possible to find such a vector, one reduces the Coriolis coupling without resorting to a very complex expression of the KEO. It is when such a vector cannot be found that changing the definition of the BF frame might be appropriate. In the present review, we do not want to tackle the subject of how to change this definition, and we simply refer the reader to the article of Wang and Carrington [112], which deals with this issue (see also Ref. [113] and Sec. IVC3 (ii) for examples).

(ii) Polyspherical parametrization.

Until now, we have not defined the 3N-6 internal coordinates that describe the deformations of the molecular systems. Let us now parametrize the vectors by spherical coordinates called the 'polyspherical coordinates'. The spherical coordinates in a given frame F are defined as

$$R_{i\,x^F} = R_i \sin \theta_i^F \cos \varphi_i^F, \quad R_{i\,y^F} = R_i \sin \theta_i^F \sin \varphi_i^F, \quad R_{i\,z^F} = R_i \cos \theta_i^F,$$

with $0 \leq \theta_i^F \leq \pi$ and $0 \leq \varphi_i^F < 2\pi$. The parametrization of the standard polyspherical type consists of three Euler angles for the overall rotation of the BF frame and 3N-6 internal coordinates. With our definition of the BF frame, it is clear that the first two Euler angles simply are the two spherical angles of \vec{R}_{N-1} in the SF frame, $\alpha = \varphi_{N-1}^{SF}$ and $\beta = \theta_{N-1}^{SF}$. The third Euler angle is given by $\gamma = \varphi_{N-2}^{E_2}$. The other 3N-6 coordinates are the BF spherical coordinates, i. e. the N-1 vector lengths $R_i \in [0, \infty)$, N-2 (BF) planar angles $\theta_i^{BF} \in [0, \pi]$ between the vectors \vec{R}_{N-1} and \vec{R}_i , and N-3 (BF) dihedral angles $\varphi_i^{BF} \in [0, 2\pi)$ between the two vectors \vec{R}_i , \vec{R}_{N-2} around the vector \vec{R}_{N-1} . They are depicted in Figure 7. If an Euclidean convention of normalization is used [58], the volume element reads

$$d\tau = R_{N-1}^{2} \sin\beta \, dR_{N-1} d\alpha \, d\beta \, R_{N-2}^{2} \sin\theta_{N-2}^{BF} \, dR_{N-2} \, d\gamma \, d\theta_{N-2}^{BF}$$
$$\times \prod_{i=1}^{N-3} R_{i}^{2} \sin\theta_{i}^{BF} \, dR_{i} \, d\varphi_{i}^{BF} \, d\theta_{i}^{BF} \,, \qquad (73)$$

i.e. it is the usual Euclidean volume element:

$$d\tau = J_e \, dR_{N-1} \, d\alpha \, d\beta \, dR_{N-2} \, d\gamma \, d\theta_{N-2}^{BF} \prod_{i=1}^{N-3} dR_i \, d\varphi_i^{BF} \, d\theta_i^{BF} \,, \tag{74}$$

where J_e is the absolute value of the Jacobian (see Eq. (3)) corresponding to the coordinate transformation from the Cartesian coordinates to the polyspherical coordinates.

FIG. 7: Definition of the standard polyspherical coordinates: the N-1 vector lengths $R_i \in [0, \infty)$, N-2 (BF) planar angles $\theta_i^{BF} \in [0, \pi]$, and N-3 (BF) dihedral angles $\varphi_i^{BF} \in [0, 2\pi)$.



(iii) Properties of the BF-projections of the angular momenta.

In the expression of the kinetic energy operator in Eq. (65), N-1 angular momenta appear (the same is true for non-orthogonal coordinates). Since only \vec{R}_{N-1} and \vec{R}_{N-2} are involved in the definition of the BF frame, the projections of all the N-3 angular momenta $\hat{\vec{L}}_1, \ldots,$ $\hat{\vec{L}}_{N-3}$ onto the BF axes are regular. They are characterized by the usual formula [109, 110]

$$\begin{bmatrix} \hat{L}_{ix^{BF}} \\ \hat{L}_{iy^{BF}} \\ \hat{L}_{iz^{BF}} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} -\sin\varphi_i^{BF} & -\cos\varphi_i^{BF}\cot\theta_i^{BF} \\ \cos\varphi_i^{BF} & -\sin\varphi_i^{BF}\cot\theta_i^{BF} \\ 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \frac{1}{i}\frac{\partial}{\partial\theta_i^{BF}} \\ \frac{1}{i}\frac{\partial}{\partial\varphi_i^{BF}} \end{bmatrix}.$$
(75)

Hence, they obey the usual commutation relations and are self-adjoint. Now, what about the two last angular momenta, $\hat{\vec{L}}_{N-1}$ and $\hat{\vec{L}}_{N-2}$? First, it is trivial to eliminate $\hat{\vec{L}}_{N-1}$ by substituting $\hat{\vec{L}}_{N-1}$ with $\hat{\vec{J}} - \sum_{i=1}^{N-2} \hat{\vec{L}}_i$ where $\hat{\vec{J}}$ is the total angular momentum, which is a constant of motion when no external field is present. Considering the particular case of orthogonal vectors, one can recast Eq. (65) as

$$2\hat{T} = \sum_{i=1}^{N-1} \frac{\hat{P}_{Ri}^{\dagger} \hat{P}_{Ri}}{\mu_{i}} + \sum_{i=1}^{N-2} \frac{(\hat{\vec{L}}_{i}^{\dagger} \cdot \hat{\vec{L}}_{i})_{BF}}{\mu_{i} R_{i}^{2}} + \frac{((\hat{\vec{J}}^{\dagger} - \sum_{i=1}^{N-2} \hat{\vec{L}}_{i}^{\dagger}) \cdot (\hat{\vec{J}} - \sum_{i=1}^{N-2} \hat{\vec{L}}_{i}))_{BF}}{\mu_{N-1} R_{N-1}^{2}} .$$
(76)

The expression of the BF-projections of the total angular momentum in terms of the Euler angles is well-known [109, 110, 114]:

$$\begin{bmatrix} \hat{J}_{x^{BF}} \\ \hat{J}_{y^{BF}} \\ \hat{J}_{z^{BF}} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} -\frac{\cos\gamma}{\sin\beta} & \sin\gamma & \cot\beta & \cot\gamma \\ \frac{\sin\gamma}{\sin\beta} & \cos\gamma & -\cot\beta & \sin\gamma \\ 0 & 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \frac{1}{i} \frac{\partial}{\partial\alpha} \\ \frac{1}{i} \frac{\partial}{\partial\beta} \\ \frac{1}{i} \frac{\partial}{\partial\gamma} \end{bmatrix}, \quad (77)$$

and we obtain $[\hat{J}_{\lambda^{BF}}, \hat{J}_{\nu^{BF}}] = -i \sum_{\rho} \epsilon_{\lambda\nu\rho} \hat{J}_{\rho^{BF}}$, which are the well-known anomalous commutation relations [114]. It is also worth noting that all the components are self-adjoint. Now, what about the angular momentum $\hat{\vec{L}}_{N-2}$ associated with \vec{R}_{N-2} ? Since \vec{R}_{N-2} is involved in the definition of the BF frame, nothing can be said *a priori* about the properties of the projections of $\hat{\vec{L}}_{N-2}$ onto the BF-axes. When such a case occurs, one proceeds as follows. One starts with the projections of the same angular momentum but onto *another* frame. Here, it is judicious to start with the projections of $\hat{\vec{L}}_{N-2}$ onto the E_2 -axes, because \vec{R}_{N-2} is not used when defining the E_2 frame. (We recall that the E_2 frame is the frame resulting from the first two Euler rotations only, see Fig. 4). Indeed, \vec{R}_{N-2} is needed only for defining the third Euler angle. Consequently, the E_2 -components of $\hat{\vec{L}}_{N-2}$ have a regular form

$$\begin{bmatrix} \hat{L}_{N-2x^{E_2}} \\ \hat{L}_{N-2y^{E_2}} \\ \hat{L}_{N-2y^{E_2}} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} -\sin\varphi_{N-2}^{E_2} & -\cos\varphi_{N-2}^{E_2}\cot\theta_{N-2}^{E_2} \\ \cos\varphi_{N-2}^{E_2} & -\sin\varphi_{N-2}^{E_2}\cot\theta_{N-2}^{E_2} \\ 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \frac{1}{i}\frac{\partial}{\partial\theta_{N-2}^{E_2}} \\ \frac{1}{i}\frac{\partial}{\partial\varphi_{N-2}^{E_2}} \end{bmatrix}.$$
(78)

These components obey the usual commutation relations and are self-adjoint. The BFprojections of $\hat{\vec{L}}_{N-2}$ are obtained by rotating the E_2 -projections of $\hat{\vec{L}}_{N-2}$ through the angle $\varphi_{N-2}^{E_2} = \gamma$ around the z^{E_2} axis

$$\begin{bmatrix} \hat{L}_{N-2\,x^{BF}} \\ \hat{L}_{N-2\,y^{BF}} \\ \hat{L}_{N-2\,z^{BF}} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} \cos\varphi_{N-2}^{E_2} & \sin\varphi_{N-2}^{E_2} & 0 \\ -\sin\varphi_{N-2}^{E_2} & \cos\varphi_{N-2}^{E_2} & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \hat{L}_{N-2\,x^{E_2}} \\ \hat{L}_{N-2\,y^{E_2}} \\ \hat{L}_{N-2\,z^{E_2}} \end{bmatrix} .$$
(79)

A final change of coordinates is then performed

$$\gamma = \varphi_{N-2}^{E_2} , \qquad (80)$$

$$\theta_{N-2}^{BF} = \theta_{N-2}^{E_2} ,$$

$$\theta_i^{BF} = \theta_i^{E_2}, i = 1, \dots, N-3 ,$$

$$\varphi_i^{BF} = \varphi_i^{E_2} - \varphi_{N-2}^{E_2}, i = 1, \dots, N-3 .$$

Applying the chain rule to $\frac{\partial}{\partial \theta_{N-2}^{E_2}}$ and $\frac{\partial}{\partial \varphi_{N-2}^{E_2}}$, gives respectively

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial \theta_{N-2}^{E_2}} = \frac{\partial}{\partial \theta_{N-2}^{BF}} ,$$

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial \varphi_{N-2}^{E_2}} = \frac{\partial}{\partial \gamma} - \sum_{i=1}^{N-3} \frac{\partial}{\partial \varphi_i^{BF}} .$$
(81)

Inserting these relations into Eq. (79), we obtain

$$\begin{bmatrix} \hat{L}_{N-2\,x^{BF}} \\ \hat{L}_{N-2\,y^{BF}} \\ \hat{L}_{N-2\,z^{BF}} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} -\cot\theta_{N-2}^{BF} & 0 & \cot\theta_{N-2}^{BF} \\ 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 1 & 0 & -1 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \frac{1}{i}\frac{\partial}{\partial\gamma} \\ \frac{1}{i}\frac{\partial}{\partial\theta_{N-2}^{BF}} \\ \sum_{j=1}^{N-3}\frac{1}{i}\frac{\partial}{\partial\varphi_{j}^{BF}} \end{bmatrix}, \quad (82)$$

i. e.

$$\begin{bmatrix} \hat{L}_{N-2\,x^{BF}} \\ \hat{L}_{N-2\,y^{BF}} \\ \hat{L}_{N-2\,z^{BF}} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} -\cot\theta_{N-2}^{BF}(\hat{J}_{z^{BF}} - \sum_{i=1}^{N-3}\hat{L}_{iz^{BF}}) \\ -i\frac{\partial}{\partial\theta_{N-2}^{BF}} \\ \hat{J}_{z^{BF}} - \sum_{i=1}^{N-3}\hat{L}_{iz^{BF}} \end{bmatrix} , \qquad (83)$$

which satisfy non-definite commutation relations

$$\begin{bmatrix} \hat{L}_{N-2\,x^{BF}}, \hat{L}_{N-2\,y^{BF}} \end{bmatrix} = \frac{1}{\left(\sin\theta_{N-2}^{BF}\right)^2} \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial\gamma} - \sum_{i=1}^{N-3} \frac{\partial}{\partial\varphi_i^{BF}}\right) ,$$

$$\begin{bmatrix} \hat{L}_{N-2\,y^{BF}}, \hat{L}_{N-2\,z^{BF}} \end{bmatrix} = 0 , \qquad (84)$$

$$\begin{bmatrix} \hat{L}_{N-2\,z^{BF}}, \hat{L}_{N-2\,x^{BF}} \end{bmatrix} = 0 .$$

The y-BF component of $\hat{\vec{L}}_{N-2}$ is not Hermitian and its adjoint, $\hat{\vec{L}}_{N-2}^{\dagger}$, is given by the following equation

$$(\hat{\vec{L}}_{N-2})^{\dagger} = \hat{\vec{L}}_{N-2} + \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ i \cot \theta_{N-2}^{BF} \\ 0 \end{pmatrix} .$$
(85)

We have used Eqs. (10,73) to obtain Eq. (85).

Two points must be addressed here: (1) the BF components of $\hat{\vec{L}}_{N-2}$ do not commute with those of the other angular momenta (see Eq. (83): $\hat{L}_{N-2x^{BF}}$ and $\hat{L}_{N-2z^{BF}}$ depend upon $\hat{J}_{z^{BF}}$ and $\hat{L}_{iz^{BF}}(i = 1, ..., N - 3)$ so that they do not commute with $\hat{J}_{\lambda^{BF}}$, $\hat{L}_{i\lambda^{BF}}(i = 1, ..., N - 3), \lambda = x, y$), (2) the fact that we have used an intermediate frame (the E_2 frame here) to determine the projections of \vec{L}_{N-2} onto the BF-axes is of general character and can be used to determine the projections of other angular momenta with a non-regular behavior.

(iv) General expression of the KEO in polyspherical coordinates.

If we keep in mind that \vec{L}_{N-2} has a particular behavior, we can establish that [74, 76]:

$$\hat{\vec{L}}_{N-1}^{\dagger}\hat{\vec{L}}_{N-1} = \left((\hat{\vec{J}}^{\dagger} - \sum_{i=1}^{N-2} \hat{\vec{L}}_{i}^{\dagger}) \cdot (\hat{\vec{J}} - \sum_{i=1}^{N-2} \hat{\vec{L}}_{i}) \right) \\
= \left(\hat{\vec{J}}^{\dagger}\hat{\vec{J}} + (\sum_{i=1}^{N-2} \hat{\vec{L}}_{i}) (\sum_{j=1}^{N-2} \hat{\vec{L}}_{j}) - 2(\sum_{i=1}^{N-2} \hat{\vec{L}}_{i}) \hat{\vec{J}} \right)_{E_{2}} \\
= \left(\hat{\vec{J}}^{\dagger} + (\sum_{i=1}^{N-2} \hat{\vec{L}}_{i}^{\dagger}) (\sum_{j=1}^{N-2} \hat{\vec{L}}_{j}) - 2\hat{\vec{J}} (\sum_{i=1}^{N-2} \hat{\vec{L}}_{i}) \right)_{BF} \\
= \left(\hat{\vec{J}}^{\dagger} + \sum_{i=1}^{N-2} \hat{\vec{L}}_{i}^{\dagger} \hat{\vec{L}}_{i} + \sum_{i=1}^{N-2} \sum_{j=1, j \neq i}^{N-2} \hat{\vec{L}}_{i}^{\dagger} \hat{\vec{L}}_{j} - 2\hat{\vec{J}} (\sum_{i=1}^{N-2} \hat{\vec{L}}_{i}) \right)_{BF} \\
= \left(\hat{\vec{J}}^{\dagger} + \sum_{i=1}^{N-2} \hat{\vec{L}}_{i}^{\dagger} \hat{\vec{L}}_{i} + 2 \sum_{i=1}^{N-3} \sum_{j=1, j > i}^{N-2} \hat{\vec{L}}_{i} \hat{\vec{L}}_{j} - 2\hat{\vec{J}} (\sum_{i=1}^{N-2} \hat{\vec{L}}_{i}) \right)_{BF} .$$
(86)

Note that the order of the operators in the scalar products is strictly fixed! The key point is the fact that the BF-components of $\hat{\vec{L}}_{N-2}$ must remain on the right hand side of all the scalar products. The first line of Eq. (86) is correct whatever the frame used to calculate the scalar product. The parentheses ()_F indicate that all the scalar products inside the parentheses are calculated using the F-components of the angular momenta. The non-trivial results of Eq. (86) are obtained from Eqs. (75,77,82). Now, since

$$\hat{P}_{Ri} = \frac{1}{i} \frac{\partial}{\partial R_i} \tag{87}$$

and, in view of Eqs. (73,10),

$$\hat{P}_{R\,i}^{\dagger} = \frac{1}{i} \frac{\partial}{\partial R_i} + \frac{2}{iR_i},\tag{88}$$

and since

$$\hat{P}_{Ri}^{\dagger}\hat{P}_{Ri} = -\frac{1}{R_i^2}\frac{\partial}{\partial R_i}R_i^2\frac{\partial}{\partial R_i} = -\frac{1}{R_i}\frac{\partial^2}{\partial R_i^2}R_i,$$
(89)

Eq. (76) for orthogonal coordinates can be written as [74, 76]:
$$\hat{T} = \sum_{i=1}^{N-1} \left(-\frac{1}{2\mu_i} \frac{1}{R_i} \frac{\partial^2}{\partial R_i^2} R_i \right) + \sum_{i=1}^{N-2} \left(\frac{1}{2\mu_{N-1}R_{N-1}^2} + \frac{1}{2\mu_i R_i^2} \right) \hat{\vec{L}}_i^{\dagger} \hat{\vec{L}}_i$$
$$+ \sum_{i,j=1}^{N-2} \frac{(\hat{\vec{L}}_i \hat{\vec{L}}_j)_{BF}}{\mu_{N-1}R_{N-1}^2} - \sum_{i=1}^{N-2} \frac{(\hat{\vec{J}}\hat{\vec{L}}_i)_{BF}}{\mu_{N-1}R_{N-1}^2} + \frac{\hat{\vec{J}}_{BF}^2}{2\mu_{N-1}R_{N-1}^2} .$$
(90)

We recall that if we do not indicate the frame in which the scalar product is computed, like for the term $\hat{L}_i^{\dagger}\hat{L}_i$ in Eq. (90), it means that the scalar product can be calculated in any frame. If we now introduce the operators $\hat{L}_+ = \hat{L}_x + i\hat{L}_y$ and $\hat{L}_- = \hat{L}_x - i\hat{L}_y$ for all the angular momenta and take into account the fact that

$$\hat{L}_{N-2\,z^{BF}} = \hat{J}_{z^{BF}} - \sum_{i=1}^{N-3} \hat{L}_{iz^{BF}} \tag{91}$$

(see Eq. (83)), Eq. (90) yields

$$\hat{T} = \sum_{i=1}^{N-1} \left(-\frac{1}{2\mu_i} \frac{1}{R_i} \frac{\partial^2}{\partial R_i^2} R_i \right) + \sum_{i=1}^{N-2} \left(\frac{1}{2\mu_{N-1}R_{N-1}^2} + \frac{1}{2\mu_i R_i^2} \right) \hat{L}_i^{\dagger} \hat{L}_i^{\dagger}
+ \frac{\hat{J}_{BF}^2}{2\mu_{N-1}R_{N-1}^2} - \frac{2\hat{J}_{z^{BF}}(\hat{J}_{z^{BF}} - \sum_{i=1}^{N-3} \hat{L}_{iz^{BF}}) + \sum_{i=1}^{N-3} \hat{L}_{iz^{BF}}(2\hat{L}_{iz^{BF}} + \sum_{j=1, j \neq i}^{N-3} \hat{L}_{jz^{BF}})}{2\mu_{N-1}R_{N-1}^2}
+ \frac{\sum_{i=1}^{N-3} \sum_{j=1, j>i}^{N-2} (\hat{L}_{i+BF} \hat{L}_{j-BF} + \hat{L}_{i-BF} \hat{L}_{j+BF}) - \sum_{j=1}^{N-2} (\hat{J}_{+BF} \hat{L}_{j-BF} + \hat{J}_{-BF} \hat{L}_{j+BF})}{2\mu_{N-1}R_{N-1}^2},$$
(92)

where, again, the order of the operators in the scalar products is strictly fixed: the key point is the fact that the BF-components of $\hat{\vec{L}}_{N-2}$ must remain on the right hand side of all scalar products. All the explicit expressions of the projections onto the BF-axes are given by Eqs. (75,77,82). Consequently, we have explicitly a general expression of the KEO whatever the number of atoms and whatever the set of N-1 orthogonal vectors for the family of polyspherical coordinates.

Several points must be emphasized here:

except in Eq. (81), the derivation of the results is free of differential calculus. We have simply exploited the properties of the angular momenta, which are highlighted in Sec. II B 2 (iii).

(2) The physical meaning of the different parts of the KEO is quite transparent since it can

be interpreted in terms of the couplings between the momenta associated with the different vectors.

(3) As already noted, the Coriolis coupling, which is mainly included in the term $-\sum_{i=1}^{N-2} \frac{(\hat{J}\hat{L}_i)_{BF}}{\mu_{N-1}R_{N-1}^2}$, is proportional to $\frac{1}{\mu_{N-1}}$, the higher the mass μ_{N-1} , the smaller the Coriolis coupling.

(4) In view of Eq. (83), it clearly appears that the expressions of \hat{L}_{N-2+BF} and \hat{L}_{N-2-BF} are not the usual ones (compare for instance with Eq. (75)). This is due to $\hat{\vec{R}}_{N-2}$ being involved in the definition of the BF frame. However, we shall see later that their action onto an appropriate primitive basis set of spherical harmonics in terms of the BF angles is the *normal* one.

(5) The generalization to *non-orthogonal coordinates* is straightforward and given in Appendix B.

(6) Finally, if an external field is present or if the molecular system is located in a noble gas matrix or on metal surfaces, one simply has to add the kinetic energy \hat{T}_G of the center of mass of the system, G, in Eq. (92). In other words, let X_G, Y_G , and Z_G be the Cartesian coordinates determining the position of G in the Laboratory-Fixed (LF) frame. The KEO for the center-of-mass motion then reads

$$\hat{T}_G = -\frac{1}{2M_T} \left(\frac{\partial^2}{\partial X_G^2} + \frac{\partial^2}{\partial Y_G^2} + \frac{\partial^2}{\partial Z_G^2} \right), \tag{93}$$

where M_T is the total mass of the molecular system and the final KEO reads $\hat{T} + \hat{T}_G$. (7) All the BF-projections of the angular momenta appearing in Eqs. (90,92) are quasimomenta and Eqs. (90,92) are particular cases of Eq. (23) of Section II A.

v) Introduction of a primitive basis set of spherical harmonics.

As often when using curvilinear coordinates, several configurations of the molecular systems correspond to a singular situation for which the KEO in Eq. (92) has infinite contributions. Let us consider an example. In the first line of Eq. (92) the following terms do appear: $\left(-\frac{1}{2\mu_i}\frac{1}{R_i}\frac{\partial^2}{\partial R_i^2}R_i\right) + \left(\frac{1}{2\mu_{N-1}R_{N-1}^2} + \frac{1}{2\mu_iR_i^2}\right)\hat{\vec{L}}_i^{\dagger}\hat{\vec{L}}_i$, with $i = 1, \ldots, N-3$. In view of Eq. (75), these terms can be recast as

In Eq. (94), if θ_i^{BF} is equal to 0 or π or R_i is equal to zero, the terms including $\frac{1}{\sin^2 \theta_i^{BF}}$ and $\frac{1}{R_i^2}$ diverge and the the volume element

$$d\tau \propto R_i^2 \sin \theta_i^{BF} \, dR_i d\varphi_i^{BF} d\theta_i^{BF} \tag{95}$$

is equal to zero. In the first case $(\theta_i^{BF} = 0 \text{ or } \pi) \varphi_i^{BF}$ is no longer defined, in the second case $(R_i = 0) \varphi_i^{BF}$ and θ_i^{BF} are no longer defined. When such situations arise, it is necessary to find an appropriate primitive basis set that removes all the singularities. Thanks to the introduction of the angular momenta in Sec. II B 2 (iii), the appropriate angular basis set appears naturally: it is the basis set of spherical harmonics that is introduced in the present section.

For orthogonal coordinates, it is also straightforward to find the radial basis set that discards the singularities for R_i equal to zero: it is a basis set of Bessel functions along with an appropriate pseudo-spectral approach [115] (see Section II A in Ref. [77]). However, since they correspond to geometries that rarely occur, the topic of the radial singularities will not be addressed here.

Let us now introduce the appropriate angular basis set. The overall rotation of the molecule can be described by a set of (normalized) Wigner rotation matrix elements [109, 110]:

$$< \alpha, \beta, \gamma \mid J, M, \Omega >= D_{M\Omega}^{J^*}(\alpha, \beta, \gamma),$$
(96)

where the star denotes complex conjugate and M is the projection of the total angular momentum onto z^{SF} and $\Omega = \sum_{i=1}^{N-2} \Omega_i$ is the projection of the total angular momentum onto z^{BF} , Ω_i being the projection of \vec{L}_i onto the same axis (note that $\Omega_{N-1} = 0$, since \vec{R}_{N-1} is parallel to z^{BF}).

In the particular case of an isolated molecule, SF is isotropic, i.e. the orientation of z^{SF} is arbitrary, and any observable must be α -independent. The overall rotation of the molecule can thus be described by the following basis set [109, 110]:

$$<(\alpha),\beta,\gamma \mid J,0,\Omega>=Y_J^{\Omega}(\beta,\gamma)(-1)^{\Omega} \quad , \tag{97}$$

where $Y_J^{\Omega}(\beta, \gamma)$ is a spherical harmonic,

$$Y^{\Omega}_{\ell}(\beta,\gamma) = \tilde{P}^{\Omega}_{\ell}(\cos(\beta))(2\pi)^{-1/2}\exp(i\Omega\gamma).$$

Here $\tilde{P}_{\ell}^{\Omega}(\cos(\theta))$ is a normalized associated Legendre function times $(-1)^{\Omega}$ [109, 110]. Everywhere hereafter, we assume that the molecule is isolated and that SF is isotropic. If that is not the case, one simply has to replace $Y_J^{\Omega}(\beta,\gamma)(-1)^{\Omega}$ with $\langle \alpha,\beta,\gamma | J,M,\Omega \rangle$ in all the following equations.

Now we choose the following angular basis for the BF spherical angles of the vectors \vec{R}_i (i = 1, ..., N - 2):

$$<(\alpha), \beta, \gamma, \theta_{N-2}^{BF}, \varphi_{1}^{BF}, \theta_{1}^{BF}, \dots, \varphi_{N-3}^{BF}, \theta_{N-3}^{BF} | \ell_{1}, \Omega_{1}, \dots, \ell_{N-3}, \Omega_{N-3}, \ell_{N-2}, \Omega_{N-2}; J, \Omega >= Y_{J}^{\Omega}(\beta, \gamma)(-1)^{\Omega} \tilde{P}_{\ell_{N-2}}^{\Omega_{N-2}}(\cos(\theta_{N-2}^{BF})) \times Y_{\ell_{1}}^{\Omega_{1}}(\theta_{1}^{BF}, \varphi_{1}^{BF}) \dots Y_{\ell_{N-3}}^{\Omega_{N-3}}(\theta_{N-3}^{BF}, \varphi_{N-3}^{BF}).$$
(98)

In Eq. (98), we have $\Omega_{N-2} = \Omega - \sum_{i}^{N-3} \Omega_i$. Note the following link between the third Euler angle and the spherical angle associated with \vec{R}_{N-2} :

$$Y_{J}^{\Omega}(\beta,\gamma)(-1)^{\Omega}\tilde{P}_{\ell_{N-2}}^{\Omega_{N-2}}(\cos(\theta_{N-2}^{BF}))Y_{\ell_{1}}^{\Omega_{1}}(\theta_{1}^{BF},\varphi_{1}^{BF})\dots Y_{\ell_{N-3}}^{\Omega_{N-3}}(\theta_{N-3}^{BF},\varphi_{N-3}^{BF})$$

$$= (2\pi)^{1/2}Y_{J}^{\Omega}(\beta,0)(-1)^{\Omega}Y_{\ell_{N-2}}^{\Omega_{N-2}}(\theta_{N-2}^{BF},\varphi_{N-2}^{E_{2}})Y_{\ell_{1}}^{\Omega_{1}}(\theta_{1}^{BF},\varphi_{1}^{E_{2}})\dots Y_{\ell_{N-3}}^{\Omega_{N-3}}(\theta_{N-3}^{BF},\varphi_{N-3}^{E_{2}})$$

Eq. (99) originates from \vec{R}_{N-2} being involved in the definition of the BF frame, i.e. $\gamma = \varphi_{N-2}^{E_2}$. Regarding the action of the projections of the angular momenta onto the BF-axes on the previous primitive basis functions, two cases must be distinguished: (i) The BFcomponents of the total angular momentum and the operators \vec{L}_i (i=1,...,N-3) have their usual expressions. Their action on the spherical harmonics in the BF coordinates of Eq. (98) is the usual one and hardly needs mentioning. (ii) For the angular momentum \vec{L}_{N-2} , this action is less straightforward. However, it was proved that, if care is taken to account for the unusual features of the BF-components of \vec{L}_{N-2} , this action is eventually a *normal one*. For instance, we obtain [74]

$$\hat{L}_{(N-2)\pm^{BF}} < angles \mid \ldots \rangle = c_{\pm}(\ell_{N-2}, \Omega_{N-2}) \times < angles \mid \ell_1, \Omega_1, \ldots, \ell_{N-3}, \Omega_{N-3}, \ell_{N-2}, \Omega_{N-2} \pm 1; J, \Omega \pm 1 > \\ \hat{L}_{(N-2)z^{BF}} < angles \mid \ldots \rangle = (\Omega_{N-2}) \times < angles \mid \ldots > \\ \hat{J}_{\mp^{BF}} \hat{L}_{N-2\pm^{BF}} < angles \mid \ldots; J, \Omega \rangle = c_{\pm}(J, \Omega) c_{\pm}(\ell_{N-2}, \Omega_{N-2}) \times < angles \mid \ell_1, \Omega_1, \ldots, \ell_{N-3}, \Omega_{N-3}, \ell_{N-2}, \Omega_{N-2} \pm 1; J, \Omega \pm 1 > ,$$

$$(99)$$

with

$$c_{\pm}(J,\Omega) = \sqrt{J(J+1) - \Omega(\Omega \pm 1)}.$$
(100)

(We remind that the BF-projections of \hat{J} have an 'anomalous' behavior [114], i.e. $\hat{J}_{\pm} \mid J, \Omega \rangle = c_{\mp}(J, \Omega) \mid J, \Omega \mp 1 \rangle$.) The symbol $\langle angles \mid \ldots \rangle_J$ denotes the current element of the angular basis set. Even though these results are not obvious they are not surprising as all angular momenta are calculated in the SF frame and several changes of coordinates and projections onto adequate axes is all that has been performed. Eqs. (92) and (99) lead straightforwardly, for orthogonal coordinates, to

$$\begin{split} \hat{T} & |\ell_{1},\Omega_{1},\ldots,\ell_{N-3},\Omega_{N-3},\ell_{N-2};J,\Omega > \\ &= [(-\frac{1}{2\mu_{i}}\frac{1}{R_{i}}\frac{\partial^{2}}{\partial R_{i}^{2}}R_{i}) + \sum_{i=1}^{N-2}(\frac{1}{2\mu_{N-1}R_{N-1}^{2}} + \frac{1}{2\mu_{i}R_{i}^{2}})\ell_{i}(\ell_{i}+1) \\ &+ \frac{J(J+1)}{2\mu_{N-1}R_{N-1}^{2}} - \frac{2\Omega(\Omega - \sum_{i=1}^{N-3}\Omega_{i}) + \sum_{i=1}^{N-3}\Omega_{i}(2\Omega_{i} + \sum_{j=1,j\neq i}^{N-3}\Omega_{j})}{2\mu_{N-1}R_{N-1}^{2}}] |\ldots;J,\Omega > \\ &+ \frac{\sum_{i=1}^{N-3}\sum_{j=1,j>i}^{N-2}(c_{+}(\ell_{i},\Omega_{i})c_{-}(\ell_{j},\Omega_{j}) |\ldots\Omega_{i}+1\ldots\Omega_{j}-1,\ldots;J,\Omega >)}{2\mu_{N-1}R_{N-1}^{2}} \\ &+ \frac{\sum_{i=1}^{N-3}\sum_{j=1,j>i}^{N-2}(c_{-}(\ell_{i},\Omega_{i})c_{+}(\ell_{j},\Omega_{j}) |\ldots\Omega_{i}-1\ldots\Omega_{j}+1,\ldots;J,\Omega >)}{2\mu_{N-1}R_{N-1}^{2}} \\ &- \frac{\sum_{j=1}^{N-2}(c_{-}(J,\Omega)c_{-}(\ell_{j},\Omega_{j}) |\ldots\Omega_{j}-1,\ldots;J,\Omega-1>)}{2\mu_{N-1}R_{N-1}^{2}} \\ &- \frac{\sum_{j=1}^{N-2}(c_{+}(J,\Omega)c_{+}(\ell_{j},\Omega_{j}) |\ldots\Omega_{j}+1,\ldots;J,\Omega+1>)}{2\mu_{N-1}R_{N-1}^{2}}. \end{split}$$

$$(101)$$

Consequently, the basis set of Eq. (98) along with an appropriate pseudo-spectral approach [116–118] eliminates all singularities appearing in the KEO. The same is true for non-orthogonal coordinates. In other words, equations such as Eq. (99) can be applied to evaluate the action of the BF-components appearing in Eqs. (B5,B6,B7). In addition, for orthogonal coordinates, the number of terms in the KEO always remains moderate. The only disadvantage of this formulation is that, in the grid representation, one has to deal with complicated multi-dimensional Discrete Variable Representations (DVRs) for the angles [118–120].

2. Matrix expression of the KEO

As above-mentioned, the conjugate momenta are only intermediates in the polyspherical approach. There is no obligation to utilize them, except in the case of the presence of singularities. If the potential prevents the system from reaching such singular geometries, one can express the KEO explicitly in differential operators, $\frac{\partial}{\partial q_i}$, where q_i denote the 3N-6 polyspherical coordinates as in the original formulation of Podolsky (Eq. (2)). As we will see, the number of terms in the KEO increases, but only simple one-dimensional DVRs are required in a numerical calculation. The present section is devoted to the derivation of the general expression of the KEO in terms of differential operators for the family of standard polyspherical coordinates.

In Section IIC1, we have established a general expression of the KEO in polyspherical coordinates. The operator is available for orthogonal vectors (Eq. 92) and for non-orthogonal vectors (Eqs. (B5, B6, B7)). As we also know the explicit expressions of the projections onto the BF-axes of all the angular momenta (Eqs. (75,77,82)), we are thus in a position to provide a general expression of the KEO in the following form, similar to Eq. (27) of Section II A, whatever the set of vectors (orthogonal or non-orthogonal):

$$\hat{T} = \sum_{l,m=1}^{3N-6} \frac{\hat{P}_{ql}^{\dagger} \Sigma_{q_l q_m} \hat{P}_{q_m}}{2} + \sum_{l=1}^{3N-6} \sum_{\alpha=x,y,z} \frac{\hat{P}_{ql}^{\dagger} \sigma_{q_l \alpha} \hat{J}_{\alpha^{BF}} + \hat{J}_{\alpha^{BF}} \sigma_{\alpha q_l} \hat{P}_{q_l}}{2} + \sum_{\alpha=x,y,z} \sum_{\beta=x,y,z} \frac{\hat{J}_{\alpha^{BF}} \Gamma_{\alpha \beta} \hat{J}_{\beta^{BF}} + \hat{J}_{\beta^{BF}} \Gamma_{\beta \alpha} \hat{J}_{\alpha^{BF}}}{2}.$$
(102)

In contrast with the matrix \mathbf{M} , the matrices Σ , $\boldsymbol{\sigma}$ and Γ do not depend on the masses of the atoms only. They also depend on the 3N-6 internal polyspherical coordinates. In addition, they are all symmetrical, i.e. $\Sigma_{q_lq_m} = \Sigma_{q_mq_l}$, $\Gamma_{\lambda\lambda'} = \Gamma_{\lambda'\lambda}$, and $\sigma_{\lambda q_l} = \sigma_{q_l\lambda}$. $\hat{J}_{x^{BF}}$, $\hat{J}_{y^{BF}}$, and $\hat{J}_{z^{BF}}$ are the self-adjoint BF-projections of the total angular momentum, the expressions of which are given by Eq. (77). $\hat{P}_{q_i} = \frac{1}{i} \frac{\partial}{\partial q_i}$ are the (3N-6) momentum operators associated with the (3N-6) spherical coordinates $\{q_i; i = 1, \ldots, 3N - 6\} = \{(R_i; i = 1, \ldots, N - 1), (\theta_i^{BF}; i = 1, \ldots, N - 2), (\varphi_i^{BF}; i = 1, \ldots, N - 3)\}$. Thus, \mathbf{q} collectively denotes the (3N-6) spherical coordinates.

(i) New convention of normalization of the wave-function:

Before providing all the matrix elements, let us point out that all the operators introduced so far are correct only for the case in which the wave functions are normalized with an Euclidean convention of normalization, i.e. with the volume element given by Eq. (73). Next, in view of Eqs. (73) and (10), it appears that $\hat{P}_{\theta_i^{BF}}$ (i = 1, ..., N - 2) and \hat{P}_{R_j} (j = 1, ..., N - 3) are not self-adjoint, i.e. $\hat{P}_{q_i}^{\dagger} \neq \hat{P}_{q_i}$ for these coordinates. For the sake of simplicity, we shall prefer to work with momentum operators that are Hermitian. First, we replace the coordinates θ_i by $u_i = \cos(\theta_i^{BF})$; (i = 1, ..., N - 2). Indeed, since

$$du_i = -\sin\theta_i^{BF} d\theta_i^{BF},\tag{103}$$

after this transformation, the Euclidean volume element now reads [121]

$$d\tau = R_{N-1}^2 \sin\beta \, dR_{N-1} d\alpha \, d\beta \, R_{N-2}^2 \, dR_{N-2} \, d\gamma \, du_{N-2} \prod_{i=1}^{N-3} R_i^2 \, dR_i \, d\varphi_i^{BF} \, du_i \,, \quad (104)$$

so that, in view of (10), $\hat{P}_{u_i}^{\dagger} = \hat{P}_{u_i}$ with (i = 1, ..., N-2). Eq. (104) can be formally written as

$$d\tau = J'_e \, dR_{N-1} \, d\alpha \, d\beta \, dR_{N-2} \, d\gamma \, du_{N-2} \prod_{i=1}^{N-3} du_i \,, \tag{105}$$

with $J'_e = \sin \beta \prod_{i=1}^{N-1} R_i^2$, the absolute value of the Jacobian (see Eq. (3)) corresponding to the coordinate transformation from the Cartesian coordinates to the polyspherical coordinates, taking into account the fact that we use $u_i = \cos(\theta_i^{BF})$ instead of θ_i^{BF} for $(i = 1, \ldots, N - 2)$. The KEO now reads

$$\hat{T} = \sum_{l,m=1}^{3N-6} \frac{\hat{P}_{q_{l}}^{\dagger} G_{q_{l}q_{m}} \hat{P}_{q_{m}}}{2} + \sum_{l=1}^{3N-6} \sum_{\alpha=x,y,z} \frac{\hat{P}_{q_{l}}^{\dagger} C_{q_{l}\alpha} \hat{J}_{\alpha^{BF}} + \hat{J}_{\alpha^{BF}} C_{\alpha q_{l}} \hat{P}_{q_{l}}}{2} + \sum_{\alpha=x,y,z} \sum_{\beta=x,y,z} \frac{\hat{J}_{\alpha^{BF}} \Gamma_{\alpha\beta} \hat{J}_{\beta^{BF}} + \hat{J}_{\beta^{BF}} \Gamma_{\beta\alpha} \hat{J}_{\alpha^{BF}}}{2}.$$
(106)

The relation between Σ , and \mathbf{G} , on one hand, and between $\boldsymbol{\sigma}$ and \mathbf{C} , on the other hand, is rather simple. When $q_m = \theta_i^{BF}$ in Eq. (106), one has to multiply the corresponding matrix element by $-\sin \theta_i^{BF}$. Let us give two examples:

$$G_{u_1R_2} = -\sin\theta_1^{BF} \times \Sigma_{\theta_1^{BF}R_2},$$

$$G_{u_1u_2} = \sin\theta_1^{BF} \times \Sigma_{\theta_1^{BF}\theta_2^{BF}} \times \sin\theta_2^{BF}.$$
(107)

Second, we also change the convention of normalization of the wave-function, i.e. we now use the following volume element in normalizing wave-functions:

$$d\tau' = \sin\beta \, dR_{N-1} d\alpha \, d\beta \, dR_{N-2} \, d\gamma \, du_{N-2} \prod_{i=1}^{N-3} \, dR_i \, d\varphi_i^{BF} \, du_i \,. \tag{108}$$

Let us also take

$$d\tau' = \rho \, dR_{N-1} \, d\alpha \, d\beta \, dR_{N-2} \, d\gamma du_{N-2} \, \prod_{i=1}^{N-3} \, dR_i \, d\varphi_i^{BF} \, du_i \,, \tag{109}$$

with $\rho = \sin \beta$. This new convention of normalization entails that the operators \hat{P}_{R_i} $(i = 1, \ldots, N-1)$ are now self-adjoint (see Eq. (18)). However, the KEO, \hat{T} , has to be replaced by

$$\hat{T}' = J_{e}^{\prime \frac{1}{2}} \rho^{-\frac{1}{2}} \hat{T} \rho^{\frac{1}{2}} J_{e}^{\prime -\frac{1}{2}} = \prod_{i}^{N-1} (R_{i}) \hat{T} \prod_{i}^{N-1} (R_{i}^{-1}), \qquad (110)$$

so as to preserve the normalization of the wave-functions (see Eq. (17)). The explicit calculation yields:

$$\hat{T}' = \sum_{l,m=1}^{3N-6} \frac{\hat{P}_{q_l} G_{q_l q_m} \hat{P}_{q_m}}{2} + \sum_{l=1}^{3N-6} \sum_{\alpha = x,y,z} \frac{\hat{P}_{q_l} C_{q_l \alpha} \hat{J}_{\alpha^{BF}} + \hat{J}_{\alpha^{BF}} C_{\alpha q_l} \hat{P}_{q_l}}{2} + \sum_{\alpha = x,y,z} \sum_{\beta = x,y,z} \frac{\hat{J}_{\alpha^{BF}} \Gamma_{\alpha\beta} \hat{J}_{\beta^{BF}} + \hat{J}_{\beta^{BF}} \Gamma_{\beta\alpha} \hat{J}_{\alpha^{BF}}}{2} + V_{extra},$$
(111)

with V_{extra} a purely multiplicative operator called 'extra potential term' (see Eqs. (19,20)), which, in our particular case, reads

$$V_{extra} = -\sum_{i \neq j}^{N-1} \frac{G_{R_i R_j}}{2R_i R_j} \,.$$
(112)

Interestingly enough, in the case of orthogonal coordinates $V_{extra} = 0$. For non-orthogonal coordinates, $V_{extra} \neq 0$ (see Appendix B: in Eq. (B7), there is a coupling between R_i and R_j . Consequently, $G_{R_iR_j} \neq 0$).

Inserting Eqs. (75,77,82) into Eq. (92) provides all the matrix elements appearing in \mathbf{G} , \mathbf{C} and $\mathbf{\Gamma}$, which are given in Appendix C. We have used the notation \mathbf{G} for the vibrational part of the KEO to keep the notation of Wilson *et al* [98] but it should be emphasized that the G-matrix elements in Appendix C are different from those in Ref. [98] since they correspond to a different family of coordinates.

Let us consider only one term in Eq. (111), the first appearing for $G_{\varphi_i\varphi_j}$ in Eq. (C4):

$$G_{\varphi_i \varphi_j} = M_{ij} \frac{\cos(\varphi_i - \varphi_j)}{R_i R_j \sin \theta_i \sin \theta_j} , \qquad (113)$$

Hence, the following terms crop up in the KEO

$$M_{ij}(\hat{P}_{\varphi_i} \frac{\cos(\varphi_i - \varphi_j)}{R_i R_j \sin \theta_i \sin \theta_j} \hat{P}_{\varphi_j} + \hat{P}_{\varphi_j} \frac{\cos(\varphi_i - \varphi_j)}{R_i R_j \sin \theta_i \sin \theta_j} \hat{P}_{\varphi_i})$$

$$= M_{ij}(\hat{P}_{\varphi_i} \frac{\cos \varphi_i \cos \varphi_j}{R_i R_j \sin \theta_i \sin \theta_j} \hat{P}_{\varphi_j} + \hat{P}_{\varphi_j} \frac{\cos \varphi_i \cos \varphi_j}{R_i R_j \sin \theta_i \sin \theta_j} \hat{P}_{\varphi_i})$$

$$+ M_{ij}(\hat{P}_{\varphi_i} \frac{\sin \varphi_i \sin \varphi_j}{R_i R_j \sin \theta_i \sin \theta_j} \hat{P}_{\varphi_j} + \hat{P}_{\varphi_j} \frac{\sin \varphi_i \sin \varphi_j}{R_i R_j \sin \theta_i \sin \theta_j} \hat{P}_{\varphi_i}).$$
(114)

Two points must be addressed here: (1) as long as the singular geometries (for instance for $\theta_i^{BF} = 0$ or π) are not physically accessible, the action of all the terms in the KEO (such as those in Eq. (114)) can be evaluated with a simple one-dimensional primitive basis set (DVR or Finite Basis Representation (FBR)) for each degree of freedom. (2) The last two lines of Eq. (114) clearly show that the terms are products of one-dimensional functions. This property is true for all the terms in the KEO in Eq. (111) and can be very useful for many numerical methods used in dynamics to solve the Schrödinger equation.

(ii) Connection between polyspherical coordinates and normal modes:

The previous formulation allows a simple correspondence between normal and polyspherical coordinates. This may turn out to be very helpful since it permits to analyze the results of the dynamics in the normal mode picture. The method is as follows [122]: we define *curvilinear* normal modes from a zero order harmonic Hamiltonian, \hat{H}^o , expressed as

$$\hat{H}^{o} = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{l,m=1}^{3N-6} (q_l - q_l^{eq}) F_{q_l q_m} (q_m - q_m^{eq}) + \hat{P}_{q_l} G^o_{q_l q_m} \hat{P}_{q_m} , \qquad (115)$$

where $\mathbf{G}^{\mathbf{o}}$ represents the \mathbf{G} matrix of Eq. (111) but evaluated at the equilibrium geometry \mathbf{q}_{eq} . Here, q_l and q_m denote the 3N-6 polyspherical coordinates and the \mathbf{F} matrix corresponds to the harmonic approximation for the potential (including the extra potential term): $F_{q_lq_m} = \partial^2 V' / \partial q_l \partial q_m |_{\mathbf{q}_{eq}}$; V' is the potential V plus V_{extra} . One can then proceed with the Wilson G matrix formulation [98, 123], and define *curvilinear* normal modes $\{Q_{\alpha}\}$ in terms of the polyspherical coordinates. In this, one diagonalizes the matrix $\mathbf{F} \mathbf{G}^{\mathbf{o}}$

$$\mathbf{F} \mathbf{G}^{\mathbf{o}} \mathbf{L} = \mathbf{L} \boldsymbol{\omega}^{\mathbf{2}} \,, \tag{116}$$

where ω^2 denotes the diagonal eigenvalue matrix with diagonal elements ω_{α}^2 and **L** is the eigenvector matrix subject to the normalization

$$\mathbf{L}^{\mathrm{T}} \mathbf{G}^{\mathrm{o}} \mathbf{L} = \mathbf{1} \,. \tag{117}$$

 \mathbf{A}^T denotes the transpose of \mathbf{A} , \mathbf{A} being a matrix or a vector. The mass and frequency weighted normal coordinates Q_{α} are related to the polyspherical coordinates as

$$Q_{\alpha} = \omega_{\alpha}^{1/2} \sum_{l=1}^{3N-6} (q_l - q_l^{eq}) L_{q_l \alpha} \quad .$$
(118)

These dimensionless normal coordinates let \hat{H}^o become separable,

$$\hat{H}^{o} = \sum_{\alpha=1}^{3N-6} \hat{h}^{o}_{\alpha}, \tag{119}$$

and the one-dimensional operators \hat{h}^o_{α} read

$$\hat{h}^{o}_{\alpha} = \frac{\omega_{\alpha}}{2} \left(Q^{2}_{\alpha} - \frac{\partial^{2}}{\partial Q^{2}_{\alpha}}\right) \,. \tag{120}$$

Note that these operators depend on all 3N-6 polyspherical coordinates because of Eq. (118).

Finally, it should be emphasized that the curvilinear normal mode frequencies, ω_{α} , are identical to the usual normal mode frequencies.

D. Separation into subsystems

The general approach outlined in sections IIB and IIC can be generalized to derive kinetic energy operators in terms of other kinds of coordinates than the standard polyspherical coordinates. The latter are defined with respect to two vectors only: \vec{R}_{N-1} and \vec{R}_{N-2} . For large systems, this can introduce artificial couplings between motions that are physically decoupled, e. g. between atoms that are located in very different parts of the molecule. A simple solution is to integrate atoms into subsystems and to define for each subsystem an intermediate BF frame. In each subsystem, the angles are defined with respect to the intermediate frame, which decouples the motions between atoms belonging to different subsystems.

(i) Vector parametrization and separation into subsystems:

Let an N-atom system be separated into n subsystems. Let $N^{(j)}$ be the number of atoms of the j-th subsystem, (j = 1, ..., n). The system thus obtained is parametrized by $\sum_{j=1}^{n} (N^{(j)} - 1) + n - 1 = N - 1$ vectors. The vectors are divided into two groups: first, the $\sum_{j=1}^{n} (N^{(j)} - 1)$ vectors $\vec{R}_{k}^{(j)}$ with $(k = 1, ..., N^{(j)} - 1)$ parametrizing the subsystems and, second, the n-1 'remaining' vectors \vec{R}_{i} with (i = 1, ..., n - 1) that parametrize the relative positions of the subsystems. Let $\hat{J}^{(j)}$ be the total angular momentum of the j-th subsystem. This definition entails that

$$\hat{\vec{J}}^{(j)} = \sum_{k=1,\dots,N^{(j)}-1} \hat{\vec{L}}_k^{(j)}, \qquad (121)$$

 $\hat{\vec{L}}_{k}^{(j)}$ being the angular momentum associated with $\vec{R}_{k}^{(j)}$.

FIG. 8: Definition of the eight Jacobi vectors for the water trimer. Here, G_j is the center of mass of the *j*-th monomer. $\vec{R}_1^{(j)}$ is the vector joining the two H atoms, $\vec{R}_2^{(j)}$ is the vector joining the center of mass of H₂ to the O atom. \vec{R}_2 joins G_3 to G_2 and \vec{R}_2 joins the center of mass of (G_3G_2) to G_1 .



To illustrate our ideas, let us consider an example: the water trimer using eight Jacobi vectors, which are shown in Figure 8. In the present case, n = 3, $N^{(j)} - 1 = 2$ with j = 1, 2, 3, and each subsystem is described by two Jacobi vectors. \vec{R}_1 and \vec{R}_2 are the two 'remaining' vectors.

For the definition of the BF frame, we choose \vec{R}_{n-1} as the vector that defines the z^{BF} axis and, if n > 2, \vec{R}_{n-2} as the vector that defines the $((x^{BF}, z^{BF}); x^{BF} > 0)$ half-plane (as in Figure 6). If n = 2, i.e. for a separation into two subsystems, or if, for any physical reasons, it is not judicious to choose one vector \vec{R}_j to define the $((x^{BF}, z^{BF}); x^{BF} > 0)$ half-plane must be defined by a vector belonging to one of the subsystems. The latter case is slightly more complicated and is addressed in Section III C 1 (i). In the standard polyspherical parametrization, the system is described by 3N-3 coordinates: (1) the three Euler angles α , β , and γ ;

(2) N-1 vector lengths $\{R_i, (i = 1, ..., n - 1); R_k^{(j)}, (k = 1, ..., N^{(j)} - 1; j = 1, ..., n)\};$ (3) N-2 planar angles $\{\theta_i^{BF}, (i = 1, ..., n - 2); \theta_k^{(j, BF)}, (k = 1, ..., N^{(j)} - 1; j = 1, ..., n)\};$ (4) N-3 dihedral angles $\{\varphi_i^{BF}, (i = 1, ..., n - 3); \varphi_k^{(j, BF)}, (k = 1, ..., N^{(j)} - 1; j = 1, ..., n)\}.$

(ii) New polyspherical parametrization:

Let us now perform a new coordinate transformation from the 3N-3 standard polyspherical coordinates to the new 3N-3 coordinates defined as follows.

Let $BF^{(j)}$ be an intermediate frame associated with the *j*-th subsystem such as $\vec{e}_{z^{BF(j)}}$ is parallel to the vector $\vec{R}_{N^{(j)}-1}^{(j)}$ and $\vec{R}_{N^{(j)}-2}^{(j)}$, $\vec{e}_{z^{BF(j)}}$ and $\vec{e}_{z^{BF(j)}}$ lie in the same half-plane (as in Fig. 6). The orientation of the $BF^{(j)}$ frame with respect to the BF frame is determined by three Euler angles: $\alpha^{(j)}$, $\beta^{(j)}$, $\gamma^{(j)}$. With our definition of the $BF^{(j)}$ frame, it is clear that the first two Euler angles simply are the two spherical angles of $\vec{R}_{N^{(j)}-1}^{(j)}$ in the BF frame, $\alpha^{(j)} = \varphi_{N^{(j)}-1}^{(j,BF)}$ and $\beta^{(j)} = \theta_{N^{(j)}-1}^{(j,BF)}$. The third Euler angle is given by $\gamma^{(j)} = \varphi_{N^{(j)}-2}^{(j,E_2^{(j)})}$, where the $E_2^{(j)}$ frame is the frame resulting from the first two Euler rotations $\alpha^{(j)}$, $\beta^{(j)}$ only (starting from the BF frame). Next, the $N^{(j)} - 1$ vectors are parametrized by their spherical angles in the BF^(j) frame: $\theta_k^{BF^{(j)}}$ and $\varphi_k^{BF^{(j)}}$.

The new polyspherical parametrization thus obtained consists of 3N-3 coordinates that are:

- (1) the three Euler angles α , β , and γ ;
- (2) N-1 vector lengths $\{R_i, (i = 1, ..., n 1); R_k^{(j)}, (k = 1, ..., N^{(j)} 1; j = 1, ..., n)\};$
- (3) *n*-2 planar angles $\{\theta_i^{BF}, (i = 1, ..., n 2)\};$
- (4) *n*-3 dihedral angles $\{\varphi_i^{BF}, (i = 1, ..., n 3)\};$

(5) and for each subsystem : three Euler angles $\alpha^{(j)}$, $\beta^{(j)}$, $\gamma^{(j)}$;

- $N^{(j)} 2$ planar angles $\theta_k^{BF^{(j)}}$ $(k = 1, \dots, N^{(j)} 2);$
- $N^{(j)}-3$ dihedral angles $\varphi_k^{BF^{(j)}} \ (k=1,\ldots,N^{(j)}-3)$.

(iii) Expression of the KEO:

Using the properties of the angular momenta highlighted in Sec. IIB2 (iii) allows the expression of the KEO to be derived without resorting to differential calculus.

Indeed, suffice it to note for our present purpose that:

(1) since the vectors in the different subsystems are not involved in the definition of the

BF frame, the expression of the BF-components of their angular momenta in terms of the BF coordinates is identical to the expression of the SF-projections of any arbitrary angular momentum in terms of SF coordinates.

(2) For each subsystem, the coordinate transformation from

 $\{\theta_k^{(j,BF)}, (k=1,\ldots,N^{(j)}-1); \varphi_k^{(j,BF)}, (k=1,\ldots,N^{(j)}-1)\}$ to $\{\alpha^{(j)}, \beta^{(j)}, \gamma^{(j)}; \theta_k^{BF^{(j)}}(k=1,\ldots,N^{(j)}-3)\}$ only affects the coordinates of the *j*-th subsystem and not the other coordinates.

From this, we can deduce that the previous coordinate transformation for the *j*-th subsystem alone is mathematically identical to the coordinate transformation from the SF to the BF coordinates thoroughly studied in Sec. II B 2 and II C 1. Therefore, the BF^(j)-components of the angular momenta can be readily obtained from the formulae derived in Sec. II C 1. In view of Eq. (77)

$$\begin{bmatrix} \hat{J}_{x^{BF(j)}}^{(j)} \\ \hat{J}_{y^{BF(j)}}^{(j)} \\ \hat{J}_{z^{BF(j)}}^{(j)} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} -\frac{\cos\gamma^{(j)}}{\sin\beta^{(j)}} & \sin\gamma^{(j)} & \cot\beta^{(j)} \cot\gamma^{(j)} \\ \frac{\sin\gamma^{(j)}}{\sin\beta^{(j)}} & \cos\gamma^{(j)} & -\cot\beta^{(j)} \sin\gamma^{(j)} \\ 0 & 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \frac{1}{i} \frac{\partial}{\partial\alpha^{(j)}} \\ \frac{1}{i} \frac{\partial}{\partial\beta^{(j)}} \\ \frac{1}{i} \frac{\partial}{\partial\gamma^{(j)}} \end{bmatrix} , \quad (122)$$

or still in view of (75) for $k < N^{(j)} - 2$

$$\begin{bmatrix} \hat{L}_{k\,x^{BF^{(j)}}} \\ \hat{L}_{k\,y^{BF^{(j)}}} \\ \hat{L}_{k\,z^{BF^{(j)}}} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} -\sin\varphi_k^{BF^{(j)}} & -\cos\varphi_k^{BF^{(j)}} \cot\theta_k^{BF^{(j)}} \\ \cos\varphi_k^{BF^{(j)}} & -\sin\varphi_k^{BF^{(j)}} \cot\theta_k^{BF^{(j)}} \\ 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \frac{1}{i} \frac{\partial}{\partial \theta_k^{BF^{(j)}}} \\ \frac{1}{i} \frac{\partial}{\partial \varphi_k^{BF^{(j)}}} \end{bmatrix},$$
(123)

and, from (83)

$$\begin{bmatrix} \hat{L}_{(N^{(j)}-2)x^{BF^{(j)}}} \\ \hat{L}_{(N^{(j)}-2)y^{BF^{(j)}}} \\ \hat{L}_{(N^{(j)}-2)z^{BF^{(j)}}} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} -\cot\theta_{N^{(j)}-2}^{BF^{(j)}} (\hat{J}_{z^{BF^{(j)}}}^{(j)} - \sum_{k=1}^{N^{(j)}-3} \hat{L}_{kz^{BF^{(j)}}}) \\ -i\frac{\partial}{\partial\theta_{N^{(j)}-2}} \\ \hat{J}_{z^{BF^{(j)}}}^{(j)} - \sum_{k=1}^{N^{(j)}-3} \hat{L}_{kz^{BF^{(j)}}} \end{bmatrix} .$$
(124)

In order to obtain the KEO in terms of the new set of polyspherical coordinates, let us first confine ourselves to studying the case of orthogonal vectors. Eq. (76) can be recast as

$$2\hat{T} = \sum_{i=1}^{n-1} \frac{\hat{P}_{R_i}^{\dagger} \hat{P}_{R_i}}{\mu_i} + \sum_{i=1}^{n-2} \frac{\hat{\vec{L}}_i^{\dagger} \hat{\vec{L}}_i}{\mu_i R_i^2} + 2\sum_{j=1}^n \hat{T}^{(j)} + \frac{(\hat{\vec{J}}^{\dagger} - (\sum_{i=1}^{n-2} \hat{\vec{L}}_i^{\dagger} + \sum_{j=1}^n \hat{\vec{J}}^{(j)^{\dagger}}) \cdot (\hat{\vec{J}} - (\sum_{i=1}^{n-2} \hat{\vec{L}}_i + \sum_{j=1}^n \hat{\vec{J}}^{(j)}))}{\mu_{n-1} R_{n-1}^2}, \quad (125)$$

with

$$2\hat{T}^{(j)} = \sum_{k=1}^{N^{(j)}-1} \frac{\hat{P}_{R_k^{(j)}}^{\dagger} \hat{P}_{R_k^{(j)}}}{\mu_k^{(j)}} + \sum_{k=1}^{N^{(j)}-1} \frac{\hat{\vec{L}}_k^{(j)} \hat{\vec{L}}_k^{(j)}}{\mu_k^{(j)} R_k^{(j)^2}}, \qquad (126)$$

where μ_i denotes the reduced mass associated with \vec{R}_i and $\mu_k^{(j)}$, the reduced mass associated with $\vec{R}_k^{(j)}$. Taking into account that $\hat{\vec{L}}_{n-2}$ has a particular behavior, we obtain from Eq. (125) (the key point is the fact that the BF-components of $\hat{\vec{L}}_{n-2}$ must remain on the right hand side of all the scalar products):

$$\hat{T} = \sum_{i=1}^{n-1} \left(-\frac{1}{2\mu_i} \frac{1}{R_i} \frac{\partial^2}{\partial R_i^2} R_i \right) + \sum_{i=1}^{n-2} \left(\frac{1}{2\mu_{n-1}R_{n-1}^2} + \frac{1}{2\mu_i R_i^2} \right) \hat{\vec{L}}_i^{\dagger} \hat{\vec{L}}_i + \sum_{j=1}^n \hat{T}^{(j)} \\ + \sum_{i,j=1}^{n-2} \frac{(\hat{\vec{L}}_i \hat{\vec{L}}_j)_{BF}}{\mu_{n-1}R_{n-1}^2} - \sum_{i=1}^{n-2} \frac{(\hat{\vec{J}}\hat{\vec{L}}_i)_{BF}}{\mu_{n-1}R_{n-1}^2} + \frac{\hat{\vec{J}}_{BF}}{2\mu_{n-1}R_{n-1}^2} \\ + \sum_{i=1,\dots,n-2}^{j=1,\dots,n} \frac{(\hat{\vec{J}}^{(j)})\hat{\vec{L}}_i)_{BF}}{\mu_{n-1}R_{n-1}^2} + \sum_{l,m=1}^n \frac{(\hat{\vec{J}}^{(l)})\hat{\vec{J}}^{(m)})_{BF}}{\mu_{n-1}R_{n-1}^2} - \sum_{j=1}^n \frac{(\hat{\vec{J}}\hat{\vec{J}}^{(j)})_{BF}}{\mu_{n-1}R_{n-1}^2}.$$
(127)

Eq. (127) is strictly equivalent to Eq. (90) except that (1) N has been replaced by n, (2) $\hat{\vec{J}}$ has been replaced by $\hat{\vec{J}} - \sum_{j=1,\dots,n} \hat{\vec{J}}^{(j)}$, and (3) $\sum_{j=1}^{n} \hat{T}^{(j)}$ has been added to the KEO. The BF-components of $\hat{\vec{J}}$ and $\hat{\vec{L}}_i$, (i = 1, ..., n - 1) are given by Eq. (77) and Eq. (75), respectively. In the last two lines of Eq. (127), only the BF-projections of $\hat{\vec{J}}^{(j)}$ with (j = 1, ..., n) appear. They can be obtained from Eqs. (122,69,70) (they are similar to the SF-projections of a total angular momentum [109]):

$$\begin{bmatrix} \hat{J}_{x^{BF}}^{(j)} \\ \hat{J}_{y^{BF}}^{(j)} \\ \hat{J}_{z^{BF}}^{(j)} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} -\cos\alpha^{(j)}\cot\beta^{(j)} & -\sin\alpha^{(j)} & \frac{\cos\alpha^{(j)}}{\sin\beta^{(j)}} \\ -\sin\alpha^{(j)}\cot\beta^{(j)} & \cos\alpha^{(j)} & \frac{\sin\alpha^{(j)}}{\sin\beta^{(j)}} \\ 1 & 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \frac{1}{i}\frac{\partial}{\partial\alpha^{(j)}} \\ \frac{1}{i}\frac{\partial}{\partial\beta^{(j)}} \\ \frac{1}{i}\frac{\partial}{\partial\gamma^{(j)}} \end{bmatrix}.$$
(128)

٦

Finally, Eq. (92) or Eq. (76) can be applied to express $\hat{T}^{(j)}$:

$$\hat{T}^{(j)} = \sum_{k=1}^{N^{(j)}-1} \left(-\frac{1}{2\mu_k^{(j)}} \frac{1}{R_k^{(j)}} \frac{\partial^2}{\partial R_k^{(j)^2}} R_k^{(j)} \right) + \sum_{k=1}^{N^{(j)}-2} \left(\frac{1}{2\mu_{N^{(j)}-1}^{(j)} (R_{N^{(j)}-1}^{(j)})^2} + \frac{1}{2\mu_k^{(j)} R_k^{(j)^2}} \right) \hat{L}_k^{(j)^\dagger} \hat{L}_k^{(j)} \\
- \frac{2\hat{J}_{z^{BF^{(j)}}}^{(j)} (\hat{J}_{z^{BF^{(j)}}}^{(j)} - \sum_{k=1}^{N^{(j)}-3} \hat{L}_{kz^{BF^{(j)}}}^{(j)}) + \sum_{k=1}^{N^{(j)}-3} \hat{L}_{kz^{BF^{(j)}}}^{(j)} (2\hat{L}_{kz^{BF^{(j)}}}^{(j)} + \sum_{k'=1,k'\neq k}^{N^{(j)}-3} \hat{L}_{k'z^{BF^{(j)}}}^{(j)}) \\
- \frac{2\mu_{N^{(j)}-1}^{(j)} (R_{N^{(j)}-1}^{(j)})^2}{2\mu_{N^{(j)}-1}^{(j)} (R_{N^{(j)}-1}^{(j)})^2} \\
- \frac{\sum_{k=1}^{N^{(j)}-2} (\hat{J}_{+BF^{(j)}}^{(j)} \hat{L}_{k-BF^{(j)}}^{(j)} + \hat{J}_{-BF^{(j)}}^{(j)} \hat{L}_{k+BF^{(j)}}^{(j)})}{2\mu_{N^{(j)}-1}^{(j)} (R_{N^{(j)}-1}^{(j)})^2} + \frac{\hat{J}_{BF^{(j)}}^{(j)} \hat{Z}_{BF^{(j)}}^2}{2\mu_{N^{(j)}-1}^{(j)} (R_{N^{(j)}-1}^{(j)})^2}.$$
(129)

To be more specific, let us consider various parametrizations of the water trimer. In the case of the set of orthogonal vectors depicted in Figure 8, the matrix \mathbf{M} of Eq. (54) becomes

$$\mathbf{M} = \begin{bmatrix} \frac{2}{m_H} & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & \frac{2m_H + m_O}{2m_H m_O} & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & \frac{2}{m_H} & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & \frac{2m_H + m_O}{2m_H m_O} & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & \frac{2}{m_H} & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & \frac{2m_H + m_O}{2m_H m_O} & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & \frac{2m_H + m_O}{2m_H m_O} & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & \frac{2m_H + m_O}{2m_H m_O} & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & \frac{2m_H + m_O}{2m_H m_O} & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & \frac{2m_H + m_O}{2m_H m_O} & 0 \end{bmatrix}.$$
 (130)

In the matrix of Eq. (130), eight reduced masses appear. They are associated with $\vec{R_1}^{(1)}$, $\vec{R_2}^{(1)}$, $\vec{R_1}^{(2)}$, $\vec{R_2}^{(2)}$, $\vec{R_1}^{(3)}$, $\vec{R_2}^{(3)}$, $\vec{R_1}$, $\vec{R_2}$ (see Figure 8). The KEO is given by Eqs. (127) and (129) with n=3, $N^{(j)}=2$, (j=1, 2, 3).

Now, what happens if non-orthogonal coordinates are introduced? Several cases must be distinguished depending on the structure of the matrix **M** from Eq. (54).

(1) If the subsystems are described by non-orthogonal vectors and if there is no coupling in the matrix **M** between one subsystem and the rest of the molecular system, then Eq. (111) or Eqs. (B5,B6,B7) can be used for $\hat{T}^{(j)}$. In Eqs. (111) or (B5,B6,B7) N must be replaced by $N^{(j)}$ and $\hat{\vec{J}}$ by $\hat{\vec{J}}^{(j)}$.

Let us give a new example: the mixed Jacobi/valence parametrization for the water trimer depicted in Figure 9. As far as the matrix **M** is concerned, one obtains

FIG. 9: Definition of the second set of vectors for the water trimer. $\vec{R}_1^{(j)}$ and $\vec{R}_2^{(j)}$ are the two valence vectors joining one H atom to the O atom.



The KEO is given by Eq. (127), $\hat{T}^{(j)}$ is given by Eq. (111) or Eqs. (B5,B6,B7) with n=3, $N^{(j)} = 2$, (j = 1, 2, 3). In Eqs. (111) or (B5,B6,B7) N must be replaced by $N^{(j)} = 2$ and $\hat{\vec{J}}$ by $\hat{\vec{J}}^{(j)}$.

(2) If the *n*-1 vectors $\hat{\vec{R}}_i$ are non-orthogonal vectors and if there is no coupling in the matrix **M** between the *n*-1 vectors $\hat{\vec{R}}_i$ and all the subsystems, then Eq. (111) or Eqs.

FIG. 10: Definition of the third set of vectors for the water trimer. Here, G_j is the center of mass of the *j*-th monomer.



(B5,B6,B7) can be used for $\hat{T} - \sum_{i=1,\dots,n} \hat{T}^{(j)}$ with two changes : N must be replaced by n and $\hat{\vec{J}}$ by $\hat{\vec{J}} - \sum_{j=1,\dots,n} \hat{\vec{J}}^{(j)}$.

Let us consider the third parametrization of the water trimer depicted in Figure 10. The new matrix \mathbf{M} reads (note its block-diagonal form)

$$\mathbf{M} = \begin{bmatrix} \frac{m_H + m_O}{m_H m_O} & \frac{1}{m_O} & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ \frac{1}{m_O} & \frac{m_H + m_O}{m_H m_O} & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & \frac{m_H + m_O}{m_H m_O} & \frac{1}{m_O} & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & \frac{1}{m_O} & \frac{m_H + m_O}{m_H m_O} & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & \frac{m_H + m_O}{m_H m_O} & \frac{1}{m_O} & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & \frac{1}{m_O} & \frac{m_H + m_O}{m_H m_O} & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & \frac{1}{m_O} & \frac{m_H + m_O}{m_H m_O} & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & \frac{1}{m_O} & \frac{m_H + m_O}{m_H m_O} & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & \frac{1}{2m_H + m_O} & -\frac{1}{2m_H + m_O} \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & -\frac{1}{2m_H + m_O} & \frac{2}{2m_H + m_O} \end{bmatrix} .$$
(132)

The KEO is given by Eq. (111) or Eqs. (B5,B6,B7) for $\hat{T} - \sum_{j=1,\dots,n} \hat{T}^{(j)}$ (with $N^{(j)}$ instead of N and $\hat{\vec{J}}^{(j)}$ instead of $\hat{\vec{J}}$) and $\hat{T}^{(j)}$ is given by Eq. (111) or Eqs. (B5,B6,B7) with

FIG. 11: Definition of the fourth set of vectors for the water trimer. Here, only valence vectors are used.



 $n=3, N^{(j)}=2, (j=1, 2, 3).$

(3) The situation becomes more complex otherwise.

Let the water trimer be parametrized by the valence vectors depicted in Figure 11. Here, the matrix \mathbf{M} becomes (note that the matrix is no longer block-diagonal)

$$\mathbf{M} = \begin{bmatrix} \frac{m_{H} + m_{O}}{m_{H} m_{O}} & \frac{1}{m_{O}} & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & -\frac{1}{m_{O}} \\ \frac{1}{m_{O}} & \frac{m_{H} + m_{O}}{m_{H} m_{O}} & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & -\frac{1}{m_{O}} \\ 0 & 0 & \frac{m_{H} + m_{O}}{m_{H} m_{O}} & \frac{1}{m_{O}} & 0 & 0 & -\frac{1}{m_{O}} & \frac{1}{m_{O}} \\ 0 & 0 & \frac{1}{m_{O}} & \frac{m_{H} + m_{O}}{m_{H} m_{O}} & 0 & 0 & -\frac{1}{m_{O}} & \frac{1}{m_{O}} \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & \frac{m_{H} + m_{O}}{m_{H} m_{O}} & \frac{1}{m_{O}} & \frac{1}{m_{O}} & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & \frac{1}{m_{O}} & \frac{m_{H} + m_{O}}{m_{H} m_{O}} & \frac{1}{m_{O}} & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & \frac{1}{m_{O}} & \frac{m_{H} + m_{O}}{m_{H} m_{O}} & \frac{1}{m_{O}} & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & \frac{1}{m_{O}} & \frac{m_{H} + m_{O}}{m_{H} m_{O}} & \frac{1}{m_{O}} & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & -\frac{1}{m_{O}} & -\frac{1}{m_{O}} & \frac{1}{m_{O}} & \frac{1}{m_{O}} & \frac{2}{m_{O}} & -\frac{1}{m_{O}} \\ -\frac{1}{m_{O}} & -\frac{1}{m_{O}} & \frac{1}{m_{O}} & \frac{1}{m_{O}} & 0 & 0 & -\frac{1}{m_{O}} & \frac{2}{m_{O}} \end{bmatrix} .$$
(133)

The situation becomes more intricate since scalar products such as $\frac{1}{m_O}\vec{L}_2\hat{\vec{L}}_1^{(1)}$ appear in the

KEO (see the second line of Eq. (176) in Section IIIC1 (ii) and Eq. (133) to understand the origin of this term). These scalar products raise a new technical problem as, on one hand, the expression of the BF-projections of $\hat{L}_1^{(1)}$ are very complicated and, on the other hand, the $BF^{(1)}$ -projections of \vec{L}_2 are complicated. Obviously, one of these two frames has to be chosen to calculate the scalar product. If the scalar product is calculated in the BF frame for instance, Eq. (75) provides the BF-projections of \vec{L}_2 . Unfortunately, the BF-projections of $\hat{\vec{L}}_1^{(1)}$ are more complicated. They can be obtained from (123) combined with Eqs. (69) and (70): the result is more complicated than in the case of standard polyspherical coordinates because of the presence of the three Euler angles $\alpha^{(1)}$, $\beta^{(1)}$, $\gamma^{(1)}$. One example is given in Section III C 1 (ii).

However, it should be emphasized that, whatever the situation, all the terms can be calculated in a systematic way. Therefore, it is possible, in principle, to derive a general expression of the KEO whatever the set of vectors, whatever the number of atoms, *and* whatever the choice of the subsystems. It is also possible to separate each subsystem into a new group of subsystems: see Sec. IV C 3 (i) for an example.

E. Checking the correctness of the operators

It is not enough to derive the kinetic energy operator, it is also important to check its correctness. For this purpose, two strategies have been adopted. First, for several particular cases, we have compared the operators obtained from Eqs. (111,C4,C5,C6) with those obtained using the expression of Podolsky from Eq. (2) derived with Mathematica or Maple [67]. We have checked, for instance, that Eq. (C4) gives the same matrix elements as those previously calculated with Maple and published in Ref. [124] for an (AB)CD(EF) system in valence coordinates (Figure 3). We have also verified that Eqs. (111,C4,C5,C6) can reproduce the KEOs (including the rotation and the Coriolis coupling) published in Ref. [59]. In Ref. [87], the KEOs for tetra-atomic systems parametrized by Jacobi, valence, and satellite coordinates were given. They were first calculated 'by hand' and later checked using Mathematica [125].

Second, for several systems, the correctness of the derivation of the KEO was checked

by comparing it with numerical results provided by the program TNUM of Lauvergnat and Nauts [68]. TNUM computes **G**, Γ , and **C** of Eqs. (111,C4) numerically. We have verified that the numerical values of all the functions $G_{ij}(\mathbf{q})$ at several non-symmetrical grid points **q** agree with those provided by the program TNUM for systems such as C₂H₄ [126], HCF₃ in valence coordinates [127] or the Zundel cation, H₅O₂⁺, in Jacobi coordinates [128] or in mixed Jacobi/valence coordinates (in all cases for J = 0). The latter test does not only guarantee that the KEO is correct but also that the operator is correctly implemented in the code used to solve the Schrödinger equation, in this case the Heidelberg MCTDH package [129].

III. EXPLICIT EXPRESSIONS FOR PARTICULAR CASES AND APPLICA-TIONS

In Part II, we have described the configuration of an N-particle system, in the SF frame, by N-1 relative position vectors. We have considered only isolated molecular systems but it is straightforward to generalize the expressions presented above to molecules that are not isolated. We have presented several vector parametrizations of an N-particle system, for instance, parametrizations based on Jacobi or valence vectors (see, e.g., Figures 1,2,3). We have expressed the kinetic energy in terms of quasi-momenta (see Section IIA (iii) for a definition of the quasi-momenta): the angular momenta associated with the vectors. We have explained how to switch from one set of vectors to another one and how to calculate the matrix M that appears in the kinetic energy. In Section IIB2 (ii), we have shown that the quantization of the kinetic energy is straightforward. In order to separate the overall rotation from the internal vibration, we have introduced, in Section IIB2 (iii), the Body-Fixed (BF) frame of the molecular system and highlighted some general properties regarding the projections of the angular momenta onto the BF axes. In Section IIC1 (i), we have chosen a very particular definition of the BF frame (see Figure 6), and, in Section IIC1 (ii), we have parametrized the vectors, in turn, by (poly)spherical coordinates. We have then provided the general expression of the KEO for orthogonal vectors (Section IIC1 (iv)) and for non-orthogonal vectors (Appendix B) in terms of the angular momenta. From these general expressions, we have deduced, in Section IIC2, another general expression of the KEO in terms of the conjugate momenta of the 3N-6 internal polyspherical coordinates. Finally, we have explained how to combine the polyspherical approach with the separation into subsystems. The present Part of this review is devoted to the presentation of different applications treated in full dimensionality, using the results obtained in Part II.

For concrete applications, two cases must be distinguished:

(1) Geometries corresponding to angular singularities in the KEO are accessible during the physical process. This is usually true for so-called *flexible systems*, i.e. systems presenting motions of large amplitude such as scattering systems. In this case, one should use the KEO in terms of angular momenta, see Eqs. (92,B5,B6,B7) together with the basis set of spherical harmonics of Eq. (98). The action of the KEO is rather simple in this basis set and the singularities are removed analytically. In a grid representation, however, one has to deal with complicated multi-dimensional DVRs.

(2) The potential prevents the system from reaching singular geometries. Such a system is called *semi-rigid*, although it may exhibit large amplitude motions. For semi-rigid systems one should utilize the expression of the KEO in derivative operators $\frac{\partial}{\partial q_i}$ of Eqs. (111,C4,C5,C6). The number of terms in the KEO increases, but only simple one-dimensional primitive functions (DVRs or FBRs) are required.

A. Flexible systems

1. Tri- and tetra-atomic flexible systems

For the explicit expression of the KEOs in angular momenta for tri-atomic systems with the conventions of Section II C 1, we refer the reader to Ref. [130] for orthogonal vectors and to Ref. [131] for non-orthogonal vectors. Let us focus on tetra-atomic systems and consider an example: the H_2+H_2 inelastic collision studied in Ref. [132].

In order to describe this process, it is natural to parametrize the system by three Jacobi vectors as shown in Figure 1. The BF frame is oriented such that $\vec{e}_{z^{BF}}$ is parallel to the vector \vec{R}_3 and that \vec{R}_2 , $\vec{e}_{x^{BF}}$ and $\vec{e}_{z^{BF}}$ lie in the same half-plane (or, in other words, \vec{R}_2 is parallel to the $((x^{BF}Gz^{BF}), x^{BF} > 0)$ half-plane). Before and after the collision, the two molecules can freely rotate, and therefore the singularities corresponding to $\theta_i^{BF} = 0$ or π are accessible. Consequently, it is the expression of the KEO in terms of angular momenta of Eq. (92) that must be applied.

The reduced masses of Eq. (39) become

$$\{\mu_1 = \mu_2 = \frac{m_H}{2}, \mu_3 = m_H\};$$
(134)

and the KEO of Eq. (76) becomes

$$2\hat{T} = \frac{(\hat{J}^{\dagger}\hat{J} - (\hat{L}_{1}^{\dagger} + \hat{L}_{2}^{\dagger})\hat{J} - \hat{J}^{\dagger}(\hat{L}_{1} + \hat{L}_{2}) + \hat{L}_{1}^{\dagger}\hat{L}_{1} + \hat{L}_{2}^{\dagger}\hat{L}_{2} + \hat{L}_{2}^{\dagger}\hat{L}_{1} + \hat{L}_{1}^{\dagger}\hat{L}_{2})_{BF}}{\mu_{3}R_{3}^{2}} + \sum_{i=1}^{3} \frac{\hat{P}_{R_{i}}^{\dagger}\hat{P}_{R_{i}}}{\mu_{i}} + \frac{(\hat{L}_{1}^{\dagger}\hat{L}_{1})_{BF}}{\mu_{1}R_{1}^{2}} + \frac{(\hat{L}_{2}^{\dagger}\hat{L}_{2})_{BF}}{\mu_{2}R_{2}^{2}}.$$
(135)

Furthermore, in view of (86),

$$(\hat{\vec{L}}_{1}^{\dagger} + \hat{\vec{L}}_{2}^{\dagger})\hat{\vec{J}} + \hat{\vec{J}}^{\dagger}(\hat{\vec{L}}_{1} + \hat{\vec{L}}_{2}) = (2\hat{\vec{J}}(\hat{\vec{L}}_{1} + \hat{\vec{L}}_{2}))_{BF}, \qquad (136)$$

and

$$\hat{\vec{L}}_{2}^{\dagger}\hat{\vec{L}}_{1} + \hat{\vec{L}}_{1}^{\dagger}\hat{\vec{L}}_{2} = 2(\hat{\vec{L}}_{1}\hat{\vec{L}}_{2})_{BF}.$$
(137)

In Eqs. (136,137), the order of the operators in the scalar products is again strictly fixed. The BF-components of $\hat{\vec{L}}_2$, the angular momentum associated with \vec{R}_2 , the vector that is involved in the definition of the BF frame, must remain on the right hand side of the scalar products. Eq. (92) becomes

$$\hat{T} = \sum_{i=1}^{3} \left(-\frac{1}{2\mu_{i}} \frac{1}{R_{i}} \frac{\partial^{2}}{\partial R_{i}^{2}} R_{i} \right) + \sum_{i=1}^{2} \left(\frac{1}{2\mu_{3}R_{3}^{2}} + \frac{1}{2\mu_{i}R_{i}^{2}} \right) \hat{L}_{i}^{\dagger} \hat{L}_{i}
+ \frac{\hat{J}_{BF}^{2}}{2\mu_{3}R_{3}^{2}} - \frac{\hat{J}_{z^{BF}}(\hat{J}_{z^{BF}} - \hat{L}_{1z^{BF}}) + \hat{L}_{1z^{BF}}\hat{L}_{1z^{BF}}}{\mu_{3}R_{3}^{2}}
+ \frac{(\hat{L}_{1+BF}\hat{L}_{2-BF} + \hat{L}_{1-BF}\hat{L}_{2+BF}) - \sum_{j=1}^{2}(\hat{J}_{+BF}\hat{L}_{j-BF} + \hat{J}_{-BF}\hat{L}_{j+BF})}{2\mu_{3}R_{3}^{2}}.$$
(138)

The angular basis of Eq. (98) becomes

$$< angles \mid J, \Omega, \ell_1, \Omega_1, \ell_2, \Omega_2 >= (2\pi)^{1/2} Y_J^{\Omega}(\beta, \gamma) (-1)^{\Omega} Y_{\ell_2}^{\Omega_2}(\theta_2^{BF}, 0) Y_{\ell_1}^{\Omega_1}(\theta_1^{BF}, \varphi_1^{BF}), \quad (139)$$

with $\Omega = \Omega_1 + \Omega_2$. The action of the projections of angular momenta appearing in Eq. (138) onto the angular basis functions of Eq. (139) is the usual one and is given by Eq. (101). In particular, if we use the volume element

$$\sin\beta \, d\beta \, d\gamma \, dR_1 \, dR_2 \, dR_3 \, \sin\theta_1^{BF} d\theta_1^{BF} \sin\theta_2^{BF} d\theta_2^{BF} d\varphi_2^{BF} d\varphi_1^{BF} \,, \tag{140}$$

Eq. (138) becomes

$$\hat{T} = \sum_{i=1}^{3} \left(-\frac{1}{2\mu_{i}} \frac{\partial^{2}}{\partial R_{i}^{2}} \right) + \sum_{i=1}^{2} \left(\frac{1}{2\mu_{3}R_{3}^{2}} + \frac{1}{2\mu_{i}R_{i}^{2}} \right) \hat{\vec{L}}_{i}^{\dagger} \hat{\vec{L}}_{i}
+ \frac{\hat{\vec{J}}_{BF}^{2}}{2\mu_{3}R_{3}^{2}} - \frac{\hat{J}_{z^{BF}}(\hat{J}_{z^{BF}} - \hat{L}_{1z^{BF}}) + \hat{L}_{1z^{BF}}\hat{L}_{1z^{BF}}}{\mu_{3}R_{3}^{2}}
+ \frac{(\hat{L}_{1} + BF\hat{L}_{2} - BF + \hat{L}_{1} - BF\hat{L}_{2} + BF) - \sum_{j=1}^{2} (\hat{J}_{+} BF\hat{L}_{j} - BF + \hat{J}_{-} BF\hat{L}_{j} + BF)}{2\mu_{3}R_{3}^{2}}.$$
(141)

In addition, in view of Eq. (101), we obtain

$$\begin{split} \hat{L}_{1}^{\dagger} \hat{L}_{1} Y_{\ell_{1}}^{\Omega_{1}}(\theta_{1}^{BF},\varphi_{1}^{BF}) Y_{J}^{\Omega}(\beta,\gamma) &= \ell_{1}(\ell_{1}+1) Y_{\ell_{1}}^{\Omega_{1}}(\theta_{1}^{BF},\varphi_{1}^{BF}) Y_{J}^{\Omega}(\beta,\gamma) ,\\ \hat{L}_{2}^{\dagger} \hat{L}_{2} Y_{\ell_{2}}^{\Omega_{2}}(\theta_{2}^{BF},0) Y_{J}^{\Omega}(\beta,\gamma) &= \ell_{2}(\ell_{2}+1) Y_{\ell_{2}}^{\Omega_{2}}(\theta_{2}^{BF},0) Y_{J}^{\Omega}(\beta,\gamma) ,\\ \hat{L}_{1z^{BF}} Y_{\ell_{1}}^{\Omega_{1}}(\theta_{1}^{BF},\varphi_{1}^{BF}) Y_{J}^{\Omega}(\beta,\gamma) &= \Omega_{1} Y_{\ell_{1}}^{\Omega_{1}}(\theta_{1}^{BF},\varphi_{1}^{BF}) Y_{J}^{\Omega}(\beta,\gamma) ,\\ \hat{L}_{1z^{BF}} Y_{\ell_{2}}^{\Omega_{2}}(\theta_{2}^{BF},0) Y_{J}^{\Omega}(\beta,\gamma) &= \Omega_{2} Y_{\ell_{2}}^{\Omega_{2}}(\theta_{2}^{BF},0) Y_{J}^{\Omega}(\beta,\gamma) ,\\ \hat{L}_{1z^{BF}} \hat{L}_{2-BF} Y_{\ell_{1}}^{\Omega_{1}}(\theta_{1}^{BF},\varphi_{1}^{BF}) Y_{\ell_{2}}^{\Omega_{2}}(\theta_{2}^{BF},0) Y_{J}^{\Omega}(\beta,\gamma) &= C_{+}(\ell_{1},\Omega_{1})C_{-}(\ell_{2},\Omega_{2}) Y_{\ell_{1}}^{\Omega_{1}+1}(\theta_{1}^{BF},\varphi_{1}^{BF}) Y_{\ell_{2}}^{\Omega_{2}-1}(\theta_{2}^{BF},0) Y_{J}^{\Omega}(\beta,\gamma) ,\\ \hat{L}_{1-BF} \hat{L}_{2+BF} \hat{L}_{1}^{\Omega_{1}}(\theta_{1}^{BF},\varphi_{1}^{BF}) Y_{\ell_{1}}^{\Omega_{2}}(\theta_{2}^{BF},0) Y_{J}^{\Omega}(\beta,\gamma) &= C_{-}(\ell_{1},\Omega_{1})C_{+}(\ell_{2},\Omega_{2}) Y_{\ell_{1}}^{\Omega_{1}+1}(\theta_{1}^{BF},\varphi_{1}^{BF}) Y_{\ell_{2}}^{\Omega_{2}-1}(\theta_{2}^{BF},0) Y_{J}^{\Omega}(\beta,\gamma) ,\\ \hat{J}_{\mp}^{BF} \hat{L}_{1\pm}^{BF} Y_{\ell_{1}}^{\Omega_{1}}(\theta_{1}^{BF},\varphi_{1}^{BF}) Y_{J}^{\Omega}(\beta,\gamma)(-1)^{\Omega} &= C_{+}(J,\Omega)C_{\pm}(\ell_{1},\Omega_{1}) Y_{\ell_{1}}^{\Omega_{1}+1}(\theta_{1}^{BF},\varphi_{1}^{BF}) Y_{J}^{(\Omega\pm1)}(\beta,\gamma)(-1)^{(\Omega\pm1)} ,\\ \hat{J}_{\mp}^{BF} \hat{L}_{2\pm}^{BF} Y_{\ell_{2}}^{\Omega_{2}}(\theta_{2}^{BF},0) Y_{J}^{\Omega}(\beta,\gamma)(-1)^{\Omega} &= C_{\pm}(J,\Omega)C_{\pm}(\ell_{1},\Omega_{1}) Y_{\ell_{1}}^{\Omega_{1}\pm1}(\theta_{1}^{BF},\varphi_{1}^{BF}) Y_{J}^{(\Omega\pm1)}(\beta,\gamma)(-1)^{(\Omega\pm1)} ,\\ \hat{J}_{\mp}^{BF} \hat{L}_{2\pm}^{BF} Y_{\ell_{2}}^{\Omega_{2}}(\theta_{2}^{BF},0) Y_{J}^{\Omega}(\beta,\gamma)(-1)^{\Omega} &= C_{\pm}(J,\Omega)C_{\pm}(\ell_{2},\Omega_{2}) Y_{\ell_{2}}^{\Omega_{2}\pm1}(\theta_{2}^{BF},0) Y_{J}^{(\Omega\pm1)}(\beta,\gamma)(-1)^{(\Omega\pm1)} . \end{split}$$
(142)

The KEO of Eq. (138) was also applied to the study of the photo-dissociation dynamics of the Ar_2HBr van der Waals molecule with MCTDH [133]. Obviously, the reduced masses are different for Ar_2HBr (see Ref. [133] for their actual values). In addition, it goes without saying that the KEO of Eq. (138) for standard diatom-diatom Jacobi coordinates is not a new result. Some operators similar to Eq. (138) have already been applied in the past, often with different conventions (see for instance [134–137]). FIG. 12: Definition of the five Jacobi vectors coordinates for the $(H_2)_3$ trimer. Here, g_i is the center of mass of the *i*-th monomer H_2 , G_1 is the center of mass of the $(H_2)_2$ subsystem.



2. Weakly bound molecular trimers

Weakly bound molecular systems feature several minimum energy structures and large amplitude motions between regions connected by low energy barriers. Consequently, they can easily reach singular geometries. Let us consider an example in molecular spectroscopy, the calculation of the vibrational energy levels of the hydrogen trimer $(H_2)_3$ achieved by Costa and Clary [138] and Yu [139]. The system is described by five Jacobi vectors as shown in Figure 12. The five reduced masses read

$$\{\mu_1 = \mu_2 = \mu_3 = \frac{m_H}{2}, \mu_4 = m_H, \mu_5 = \frac{4}{3}m_H\};$$
(143)

and Eq. (92) straightforwardly leads to

$$\hat{T} = \sum_{i=1}^{5} \left(-\frac{1}{2\mu_{i}} \frac{1}{R_{i}} \frac{\partial^{2}}{\partial R_{i}^{2}} R_{i} \right) + \sum_{i=1}^{4} \left(\frac{1}{2\mu_{4}R_{4}^{2}} + \frac{1}{2\mu_{i}R_{i}^{2}} \right) \hat{\vec{L}}_{i}^{\dagger} \hat{\vec{L}}_{i}
+ \frac{\hat{\vec{J}}_{BF}^{2}}{2\mu_{5}R_{5}^{2}} - \frac{2\hat{J}_{z^{BF}}(\hat{J}_{z^{BF}} - \sum_{i=1}^{3} \hat{L}_{iz^{BF}}) + \sum_{i=1}^{3} \hat{L}_{iz^{BF}}(2\hat{L}_{iz^{BF}} + \sum_{j=1, j \neq i}^{3} \hat{L}_{jz^{BF}})}{2\mu_{5}R_{5}^{2}}
+ \frac{\sum_{i=1}^{3} \sum_{j=1, j > i}^{4} (\hat{L}_{i} + BF \hat{L}_{j} - BF + \hat{L}_{i} - BF \hat{L}_{j} + BF) - \sum_{j=1}^{4} (\hat{J}_{+} BF \hat{L}_{j} - BF + \hat{J}_{-} BF \hat{L}_{j} + BF)}{2\mu_{5}R_{5}^{2}}.$$
(144)

The angular basis of Eq. (98) becomes

$$< angles \mid J, \Omega, \ell_1, \Omega_1, \ell_2, \Omega_2, \ell_3, \Omega_3, \ell_4, \Omega_4 > = (2\pi)^{1/2} Y_J^{\Omega}(\beta, \gamma) (-1)^{\Omega} Y_{\ell_4}^{\Omega_4}(\theta_4^{BF}, 0) Y_{\ell_3}^{\Omega_3}(\theta_3^{BF}, \varphi_3^{BF}) Y_{\ell_2}^{\Omega_2}(\theta_2^{BF}, \varphi_2^{BF}) Y_{\ell_1}^{\Omega_1}(\theta_1^{BF}, \varphi_1^{BF}), \quad (145)$$

with $\Omega = \Omega_1 + \Omega_2 + \Omega_3 + \Omega_4$. In Ref. [138], as well as in Eq. (38) of Ref. [79], appears the 'sign of (k-K)' in the matrix elements (K-k corresponds to our Ω_{N-2}). This sign does not appear in Eq. (101). This difference can be traced back to a slightly different convention in the angular basis set. Indeed, Ref. [138] and Ref. [79] use $P_{\ell}^{|\Omega_4|}(\cos(\theta_4^{BF}))$ instead of our

$$\tilde{P}_{\ell}^{\Omega_4}(\cos(\theta_4^{BF})) = (-1)^{\Omega_4} P_{\ell}^{\Omega_4}(\cos(\theta_4^{BF})) = (2\pi)^{1/2} Y_{\ell_4}^{\Omega_4}(\theta_4^{BF}, 0)$$
(146)

in Eq. (145) (we recall that $P_{\ell}^{\Omega_4}(\cos(\theta_4^{BF}))$ is a normalized associated Legendre function).

3. Protonated methane in Radau coordinates

Isolated CH_5^+ is a stable but very floppy system, the protons continually hopping between 120 minima [140]. Very recently, Wang and Carrington [140] reported the first vibrational energy levels including all the 12 internal degrees of freedom. They adopted the polyspherical approach based on a parametrization of five Radau vectors, as shown in Figure 13. For the reader who is not familiar with Radau coordinates, let us add that these are often introduced to replace valence coordinates in describing the vibrational motions of molecules in which the central atom is much heavier than the end atoms [141]. For this type of molecules, both systems of coordinates are very similar, the former having the advantage of being orthogonal.

The Radau vectors, $\vec{R_i}$, are the vectors $\vec{BH_i}$, B being the canonical point of CH₅⁺ defined as the geometric mean of CG and GG_{H5}. Here, C is the C atom, G is the center of mass

FIG. 13: Definition of the five Radau vectors coordinates for the CH5⁺ system. Here, B is the canonical point of CH_5^+ , G is the center of mass of CH_5^+ , G_{H5} is the center of mass of the H₅ subsystem.



of CH_5^+ , G_{H5} is the center of mass of the H_5 subsystem. The canonical point is defined by $(BG_{H5})^2 = GG_{H5} \times CG_{H5}$ [141]. Let us also put $\vec{r_i} = \overrightarrow{GH_i}$. It entails that

$$\vec{R}_{1} = (1 - \alpha m_{H})\vec{r}_{1} - \alpha m_{H}\vec{r}_{2} - \alpha m_{H}\vec{r}_{3} - \alpha m_{H}\vec{r}_{4} - \alpha m_{H}\vec{r}_{5},$$

$$\vec{R}_{2} = -\alpha m_{H}\vec{r}_{1} + (1 - \alpha m_{H})\vec{r}_{2} - \alpha m_{H}\vec{r}_{3} - \alpha m_{H}\vec{r}_{4} - \alpha m_{H}\vec{r}_{5},$$

$$\vec{R}_{3} = -\alpha m_{H}\vec{r}_{1} - \alpha m_{H}\vec{r}_{2} + (1 - \alpha m_{H})\vec{r}_{3} - \alpha m_{H}\vec{r}_{4} - \alpha m_{H}\vec{r}_{5},$$

$$\vec{R}_{4} = -\alpha m_{H}\vec{r}_{1} - \alpha m_{H}\vec{r}_{2} - \alpha m_{H}\vec{r}_{3} + (1 - \alpha m_{H})\vec{r}_{4} - \alpha m_{H}\vec{r}_{5},$$

$$\vec{R}_{5} = -\alpha m_{H}\vec{r}_{1} - \alpha m_{H}\vec{r}_{2} - \alpha m_{H}\vec{r}_{3} - \alpha m_{H}\vec{r}_{4} + (1 - \alpha m_{H})\vec{r}_{5},$$

(147)

with

$$\alpha = (1 - \sqrt{\frac{M}{m_C}})/m_{H_5},$$
(148)

and $M=m_C+5m_H$, $m_{H_5}=5m_H$. The KEO is formally identical to the operator of Eq. (144) except that $\mu_i = m_H$, with (i = 1, ..., 5).

B. Semi-rigid systems

- 1. Tetra-atomic molecules
- (i) Tetra-atomic molecules in orthogonal coordinates:

If the potential prevents the system from reaching singular geometries, the KEO in derivative operators of Eqs. (111,C4,C5,C6) can be used. Let us detail two examples to explain how one proceeds. The two examples are the HOOH molecule in Jacobi vectors as shown in Figure 1, and the NHD₂ molecule in Radau vectors as shown in Figure 14. If one aims at calculating the infra-red spectrum of HOOH as in Ref. [65] or the tunneling dynamics of the NH chromophore in NHD2 after coherent infrared excitation as in Ref. [142], no singularity is accessible. The KEO for J = 0 is given by Eqs. (111,C4) for N = 4 and with the following matrix M:

$$\mathbf{M} = \begin{bmatrix} \frac{1}{\mu_1} & 0 & 0\\ 0 & \frac{1}{\mu_2} & 0\\ 0 & 0 & \frac{1}{\mu_3} \end{bmatrix} , \qquad (149)$$

with

$$\{\mu_1 = \mu_2 = \frac{m_O m_H}{m_O + m_H}, \mu_3 = \frac{m_O + m_H}{2}\}$$
(150)

for HOOH in Jacobi coordinates and $\{\mu_1 = \mu_2 = m_D, \mu_3 = m_H\}$ for NHD₂ in Radau coordinates. The three vectors are in turn parametrized by six internal polyspherical coordinates: $R_1, R_2, R_3, u_1, u_2, \varphi_1^{BF}$. Eq. (C7) yields (we use $\varphi_2^{BF} = 0$) FIG. 14: Definition of the three Radau vectors for the NHD_2 molecule. Here, B is the canonical point of NHD_2 , G is the center of mass of the molecule, G_{HD2} is the center of mass of the HD₂



$$\begin{aligned} G_{R_{i}R_{i}} &= \frac{1}{\mu_{i}}; \ i = 1, 2, 3, \\ G_{u_{i}u_{i}} &= (\sin\theta_{i}^{BF})^{2} (\frac{1}{\mu_{i}R_{i}^{2}} + \frac{1}{\mu_{3}R_{3}^{2}}); \ i = 1, 2, \\ G_{u_{1}u_{2}} &= \frac{\sin\theta_{1}^{BF}\sin\theta_{2}^{BF}\cos\varphi_{1}^{BF}}{\mu_{3}R_{3}^{2}}, \\ G_{u_{1}\varphi_{1}^{BF}} &= \frac{\sin\theta_{1}^{BF}\sin\varphi_{1}^{BF}\cot\theta_{2}^{BF}}{\mu_{3}R_{3}^{2}}, \\ G_{u_{2}\varphi_{1}^{BF}} &= \frac{\sin\theta_{2}^{BF}\sin\varphi_{1}^{BF}\cot\theta_{1}^{BF}}{\mu_{3}R_{3}^{2}}, \\ G_{\varphi_{1}^{BF}\varphi_{1}^{BF}} &= \frac{1}{\mu_{3}R_{3}^{2}} ((\cot\theta_{1}^{BF})^{2} + (\cot\theta_{2}^{BF})^{2}) + \frac{1}{\mu_{1}(\sin\theta_{1}^{BF})^{2}R_{1}^{2}} + \frac{1}{\mu_{2}(\sin\theta_{2}^{BF})^{2}R_{2}^{2}} \\ &- \frac{2}{\mu_{3}R_{3}^{2}} \cot\theta_{2}^{BF}\cos\varphi_{1}^{BF}\cot\theta_{1}^{BF}. \end{aligned}$$
(151)

All the other matrix elements (for instance $G_{R_i u_j}$ or $G_{R_i \varphi_j^{BF}}$) are equal to zero. Now, the choice of the following volume element in normalizing wave-functions

$$d\tau' = dR_3 dR_2 dR_1 du_2 du_1 d\varphi_1^{BF}, \qquad (152)$$

entails that the KEO reads

$$\hat{T} = -\sum_{i=1,2,3} \frac{1}{2\mu_i} \frac{\partial^2}{\partial R_i^2} - \sum_{i=1}^2 \left(\frac{1}{2\mu_i R_i^2} + \frac{1}{2\mu_3 R_3^2}\right) \frac{\partial}{\partial u_i} v_i^2 \frac{\partial}{\partial u_i} \\
- \frac{\cos \varphi_1^{BF}}{2\mu_3 R_3^2} \left(v_1 \frac{\partial^2}{\partial u_1 \partial u_2} v_2 + v_2 \frac{\partial^2}{\partial u_1 \partial u_2} v_1\right) \\
- \frac{u_2}{2\mu_3 R_3^2 v_2} \left(\sin \varphi_1^{BF} \frac{\partial^2}{\partial u_1 \partial \varphi_1^{BF}} v_1 + v_1 \frac{\partial^2}{\partial u_1 \partial \varphi_1^{BF}} \sin \varphi_1^{BF}\right) \\
- \frac{u_1}{2\mu_3 R_3^2 v_1} \left(\sin \varphi_1^{BF} \frac{\partial^2}{\partial u_2 \partial \varphi_1^{BF}} v_2 + v_2 \frac{\partial^2}{\partial u_2 \partial \varphi_1^{BF}} \sin \varphi_1^{BF}\right) \\
- \sum_{i=1}^2 \left(\frac{1}{2\mu_i R_i^2 v_i^2} + \frac{u_i^2}{2R_3^2 \mu_3 v_i^2}\right) \frac{\partial^2}{\partial \varphi_1^{BF}^2} \\
+ \frac{u_2 u_1}{\mu_3 v_2 v_1 R_3^2} \frac{\partial}{\partial \varphi_1^{BF}} \cos \varphi_1^{BF} \frac{\partial}{\partial \varphi_1^{BF}},$$
(153)

Here, and in the following, we use the notation:

$$v_i = \sqrt{1 - u_i^2} = \sin \theta_i^{BF}.$$
(154)

Note that this KEO applies to both HOOH and NHD₂, despite the two molecules are described by different coordinates systems. In fact, Eq. (153) applies to all 4-atom systems described by orthogonal coordinates, only the masses, μ_i , have different values. Furthermore, the KEO of Eq. (153) is identical to the operator given in Eq. (A.5) of Ref. [65] by Bramley and Carrington (they used Mathematica to calculate the operator). Note, however, that these authors do not use the same conventions for the coordinates, for instance their 'r2' is our R₃. In addition, they use θ_i^{BF} instead of $u_i = \cos \theta_i^{BF}$: this is why there is a difference of sign for the terms $\frac{\partial^2}{\partial \theta_i \partial \varphi_i^{BF}}$ (see Eq. (107) to understand the origin of the change of the sign).

(ii) Tetra-atomic molecules in valence coordinates:

FIG. 15: Definition of the three valence vectors for the HONO molecule. Here, $\theta_2^{new} = \pi - \theta_2^{BF}$.



(1) A-B-C-D structure:

Let us now consider a non-orthogonal parametrization of tetra-atomic molecules. For valence vectors, only two 'clustering' schemes are possible, denoted as A-B-C-D and A(CBD) structures. They are shown in Figures 15 and 16, respectively.

In Ref. [143–145], the trans-cis Isomerization of HONO was studied with MCTDH. A parametrization of three valence vectors as shown in Figure 15 was adopted. This results in the following matrix \mathbf{M} :

$$\mathbf{M} = \begin{bmatrix} \frac{1}{m_H} + \frac{1}{m_O} & 0 & \frac{1}{m_O} \\ 0 & \frac{1}{m_O} + \frac{1}{m_N} & -\frac{1}{m_N} \\ \frac{1}{m_O} & -\frac{1}{m_N} & \frac{1}{m_O} + \frac{1}{m_N} \end{bmatrix} .$$
(155)

In order to be consistent with the conventions used for the potential energy surface calculated in Ref. [143], we also slightly changed the convention for the angle $\theta_2^{BF} \rightarrow \theta_2^{new} = \pi - \theta_2^{BF}$ (see Figure 15). Because of this, there appears the phase factor S_i in Eq. (A.2) of Ref. [144]. The internal motions are described by six coordinates: $R_1, R_2, R_3, u_1 = \cos \theta_1^{BF}, u_2 = \cos \theta_2^{new}, \varphi_1^{BF}$. If the following volume element,

$$d\tau' = dR_3 \, dR_2 \, dR_1 \, du_2 \, du_1 \, d\varphi_1^{BF}, \qquad (156)$$

is used in normalizing wave-functions, the KEO is obtained from Eqs. (111,C4) and its explicit expression is given by Eq. (A.2) of Ref. [144].

(2) A(BCD) structure:

Let us consider the second 'clustering' scheme for a tetra-atomic molecule parametrized by valence vectors. In Ref. [146–148], the Intra-molecular energy redistribution (IVR) in HFCO and DFCO with MCTDH was studied. The valence parametrization shown in Figure 16 was adopted.

The matrix \mathbf{M} reads

$$\mathbf{M} = \begin{bmatrix} \frac{1}{m_H} + \frac{1}{m_C} & \frac{1}{m_C} & \frac{1}{m_C} \\ \frac{1}{m_C} & \frac{1}{m_F} + \frac{1}{m_C} & \frac{1}{m_C} \\ \frac{1}{m_C} & \frac{1}{m_C} & \frac{1}{m_O} + \frac{1}{m_C} \end{bmatrix} .$$
(157)

If we use the volume element of Eq. (156) in normalizing wave-functions, the KEO can be obtained from Eqs. (111,C4) and its explicit expression is given by Eq. (15) of Ref. [146].

The KEO of Eq. HFCO shows more terms than those of HONO and NHD₂. The two lastmentioned operators can be derived from the KEO of HFCO just by replacing the matrix elements of \mathbf{M} appearing in Eq. (157) by those of Eq. (149) and (155), respectively. It is worth noting that the KEO used in Ref. [149] to study the selective population of the vibrational levels of H₂CS with MCTDH is formally identical to the operator of HFCO. The only difference is that the matrix \mathbf{M} , for H₂CS, reads

$$\mathbf{M} = \begin{bmatrix} \frac{1}{m_H} + \frac{1}{m_C} & \frac{1}{m_C} & \frac{1}{m_C} \\ \frac{1}{m_C} & \frac{1}{m_H} + \frac{1}{m_C} & \frac{1}{m_C} \\ \frac{1}{m_C} & \frac{1}{m_C} & \frac{1}{m_C} + \frac{1}{m_S} \end{bmatrix} .$$
 (158)

FIG. 16: Valence BF polyspherical coordinates for the HFCO system. \vec{R}_2 belongs to the xz plane.



- 2. Penta-atomic molecules
- (i) Orthogonal coordinates:

In Ref. [150–152], the computation of vibrational levels of methane was reported. A set of Radau polyspherical coordinates was used. The Radau vectors, for a molecule such as methane, are identical to those depicted in Figure 13 except that there are only four Radau vectors for CH₄ instead of five for CH₅⁺. The internal motions are described by nine coordinates: $R_1, R_2, R_3, R_4, u_1 = \cos \theta_1^{BF}, u_2 = \cos \theta_2^{BF}, u_3 = \cos \theta_3^{BF}, \varphi_1^{BF}$, and φ_2^{BF} . If the following non-Euclidean volume element,

$$d\tau' = dR_4 dR_3 dR_2 dR_1 du_3 du_2 du_1 d\varphi_2^{BF} d\varphi_1^{BF}, \qquad (159)$$

is used, the KEO of Eqs. (111,C4) becomes (we use again φ_i instead of φ_i^{BF} to simplify the notation)

$$\begin{split} \hat{T} &= -\sum_{i=1}^{4} \frac{M_{ii}}{2} \frac{\partial^2}{\partial R_i^2} - \sum_{i=1}^{3} \left(\frac{1}{2\mu_i R_i^2} + \frac{1}{2\mu_4 R_4^2} \right) \frac{\partial}{\partial u_i} v_i^2 \frac{\partial}{\partial u_i} \\ &- \frac{\cos \varphi_1 \cos \varphi_2 + \sin \varphi_1 \sin \varphi_2}{2\mu_4 R_4^2} \left(v_2 \frac{\partial}{\partial u_2} \frac{\partial}{\partial u_1} v_1 + v_1 \frac{\partial}{\partial u_1} \frac{\partial}{\partial u_2} v_2 \right) \\ &- \frac{\cos \varphi_1}{2\mu_4 R_4^2} \left(v_3 \frac{\partial}{\partial u_3} \frac{\partial}{\partial u_1} v_1 + v_1 \frac{\partial}{\partial u_1} \frac{\partial}{\partial u_3} v_3 \right) - \frac{\cos \varphi_2}{2\mu_4 R_4^2} \left(v_3 \frac{\partial}{\partial u_3} \frac{\partial}{\partial u_2} v_2 + v_2 \frac{\partial}{\partial u_2} \frac{\partial}{\partial u_3} v_3 \right) \\ &- \frac{u_3}{2v_3 \mu_4 R_4^2} \left[\frac{\partial}{\partial u_1} v_1 \sin \varphi_1 \frac{\partial}{\partial \varphi_1} + v_1 \frac{\partial}{\partial u_1} \frac{\partial}{\partial \varphi_1} \sin \varphi_1 + \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial u_2} v_2 \sin \varphi_2 \frac{\partial}{\partial \varphi_2} + v_2 \frac{\partial}{\partial u_2} \frac{\partial}{\partial \varphi_2} \sin \varphi_2 \right) \right] \\ &+ \frac{1}{2\mu_4 R_4^2} \left[\frac{\partial}{\partial u_1} v_1 \left(\frac{u_2}{v_2} \left(\sin \varphi_1 \cos \varphi_2 - \cos \varphi_1 \sin \varphi_2 \right) - \frac{u_3}{v_3} \sin \varphi_1 \right) \frac{\partial}{\partial \varphi_2} \right] \\ &+ v_1 \frac{\partial}{\partial u_1} \frac{\partial}{\partial \varphi_2} \left(\frac{u_2}{v_2} \left(\sin \varphi_1 \cos \varphi_2 - \cos \varphi_1 \sin \varphi_2 \right) - \frac{u_3}{v_3} \sin \varphi_2 \right) \frac{\partial}{\partial \varphi_1} \\ &+ v_2 \frac{\partial}{\partial u_2} \frac{\partial}{\partial \varphi_1} \left(\frac{u_1}{v_1} \left(\sin \varphi_2 \cos \varphi_1 - \cos \varphi_2 \sin \varphi_1 \right) - \frac{u_3}{v_3} \sin \varphi_2 \right) \right] \\ &- \sum_{i=1}^{2} \left\{ \frac{\partial}{\partial u_3} v_3 \frac{\sin \varphi_i \cot \theta_i}{\partial \varphi_4} \frac{\partial}{\partial \varphi_i} + \frac{\partial}{\partial \varphi_i} v_3 \frac{\sin \varphi_i \cot \theta_i}{2\mu_4 R_4^2} \frac{\partial}{\partial u_3} \right\} \\ &- \frac{1}{2\mu_4 R_4^2} \left[\left(\frac{u_1^2}{v_1^2} + \frac{u_3^2}{v_3^2} \right) \frac{\partial}{\partial \varphi_1^2} - 2 \frac{u_3 u_1}{v_3 v_1} \frac{\partial}{\partial \varphi_1} \cos \varphi_1 \frac{\partial}{\partial \varphi_2} \right] \\ &- \sum_{i=1,2}^{2} \left(\frac{1}{2\mu_i R_i^2 v_i^2} + \frac{1}{2\mu_3 R_3^2 v_3^2} \right) \frac{\partial^2}{\partial \varphi_i^2} - \frac{u_3^2}{u_3 v_2} \frac{\partial^2}{\partial \varphi_2} \cos \varphi_2 \frac{\partial}{\partial \varphi_2} \right] \\ &- \sum_{i=1,2}^{2} \left(\frac{1}{2\mu_i R_i^2 v_i^2} + \frac{1}{2\mu_3 R_3^2 v_3^2} \right) \frac{\partial^2}{\partial \varphi_i^2} - \frac{u_3^2}{u_3 v_3^2} \frac{\partial^2}{\partial \varphi_2} - \frac{u_3}{u_3} \frac{\partial^2}{\partial \varphi_2} - \frac{u_3}{u_3} \frac{\partial^2}{\partial \varphi_2} \right] \\ &- \frac{\partial}{\partial \varphi_2} \left[\frac{u_1 u_2}{v_1 v_2} \left(\cos \varphi_1 \cos \varphi_2 + \sin \varphi_1 \sin \varphi_2 \right) - \frac{u_3}{v_3} \left(\cos \varphi_1 \frac{u_1}{v_1} + \cos \varphi_2 \frac{u_2}{v_2} \right) \right] \frac{\partial}{\partial \varphi_2} \right] \\ \\ &- \frac{\partial}{\partial \varphi_2} \left[\frac{u_1 u_2}{v_1 v_2} \left(\cos \varphi_1 \cos \varphi_2 + \sin \varphi_1 \sin \varphi_2 \right) - \frac{u_3}{v_3} \left(\cos \varphi_1 \frac{u_1}{v_1} + \cos \varphi_2 \frac{u_2}{v_2} \right) \right] \frac{\partial}{\partial \varphi_2} \right] \\ \\ &- \frac{\partial}{\partial \varphi_2} \left[\frac{u_1 u_2}{v_1 v_2} \left(\cos \varphi_1 \cos \varphi_2 + \sin \varphi_1 \sin \varphi_2 \right) - \frac{u_3}{v_3} \left(\cos \varphi_1 \frac{u_1}{v_1} + \cos \varphi_2 \frac{u_2}{v_2} \right) \right] \frac{\partial}{\partial \varphi_2} \right] \\ \\ &- \frac{\partial}{\partial \varphi_2} \left[\frac{$$

with $\mu_i = m_H$, and (i = 1, ..., 4). Of course, the operator of Eq. (160) could be applied to any set of orthogonal vectors for a penta-atomic system. One simply has to change the four
FIG. 17: Definition of the four valence vectors for the CHF₃ molecule.



reduced masses.

(ii) Non-orthogonal coordinates:

For the study of the vibrations of a molecule such as fluoroform, CHF_3 , the previous Radau parametrization is no longer adapted since the F atoms are rather heavy. Hence, the canonical point, used to define the Radau vectors, is located far from the C atom. The resulting Radau vectors are therefore very different from the valence vectors and cannot correctly describe the vibrations in the normal or local mode domains. It is more pertinent to parametrize CHF_3 by four valence vectors, which are shown in Figure 17.

This results in a full matrix \mathbf{M} that reads

$$\mathbf{M} = \begin{bmatrix} \frac{1}{m_C} + \frac{1}{m_H} & \frac{1}{m_C} & \frac{1}{m_C} & \frac{1}{m_C} \\ \frac{1}{m_C} & \frac{1}{m_C} + \frac{1}{m_F} & \frac{1}{m_C} & \frac{1}{m_C} \\ \frac{1}{m_C} & \frac{1}{m_C} & \frac{1}{m_C} + \frac{1}{m_F} & \frac{1}{m_C} \\ \frac{1}{m_C} & \frac{1}{m_C} & \frac{1}{m_C} & \frac{1}{m_C} + \frac{1}{m_F} \end{bmatrix}.$$
 (161)

If one uses the volume element of Eq. (159), the KEO is given by Eqs. (111,C4), as usual.

Its explicit expression can be found in Appendix D. Let us only point out that we have recently implemented this nine-dimensional operator in the Heidelberg MCTDH package [11–15, 129]. In addition, we have used the program TNUM of Lauvergnat and Nauts [68] to check the correctness of the operator [127]. As already mentioned, the test does not only guarantee that the KEO is correct but also that the operator is correctly implemented in the code.

C. Separation into subsystems

Until now, we have confined ourselves to considering only particular cases of the standard polyspherical approach. For clusters involving molecules of water, the separation into subsystems is more appropriate than the standard parametrization since the separation into subsystems allows to have purely intramolecular angles instead of angles mixing the intra-monomer and inter-monomer motions. The present section aims at giving the explicit expression of the KEO for several protonated water clusters.

1. Protonated water dimer (Zundel cation)

(i) Jacobi description:

In Ref. [153, 154], the simulation of the IR linear absorption spectrum of $H_5O_2^+$ was reported. A set of six Jacobi vectors was chosen [128], as depicted in Figure 18. The system is separated into three subsystems: the two molecules of water and the proton. Each molecule of water is parametrized by two Jacobi vectors: $\vec{R}_1^{(j)}$, the vector connecting the center of mass of the H₂ subsystem to the O atom, and $\vec{R}_2^{(j)}$, the vector joining one H atom to the other one (here, j = 1, 2). The two 'remaining' vectors are the vector \vec{R}_2 , which connects the center of mass of one monomer to the center of mass of the other monomer, and \vec{R}_1 , the Jacobi vector from the center of mass of the water dimer to the proton. Let $\hat{J}^{(j)}$ be the total angular momentum of the *j*-th molecule of water. This definition entails that $\hat{J}^{(j)} = \sum_{k=1,2} \hat{L}_k^{(j)}$, $\hat{L}_k^{(j)}$ being the angular momentum associated with $\vec{R}_k^{(j)}$.

According to the general strategy adopted in Section II D, the z^{BF} axis should be parallel to \vec{R}_2 and \vec{R}_1 should be parallel to the $((x^{BF}, z^{BF}); x^{BF} > 0)$ half-plane. However, for the FIG. 18: Jacobi description of the $H_5O_2^+$ system. G_1 is the center of mass of the first monomer, G_2 is the center of mass of the second monomer. G_{H4O2} is the center of the dimer, H_4O_2 .



definition of the $((x^{BF}, z^{BF}); x^{BF} > 0)$ half-plane in $H_5O_2^+$, it is more natural to choose a vector belonging to one monomer, let say $\vec{R}_2^{(2)}$ (it is, indeed, more appropriate to link the overall rotation of the Zundel cation to the molecules of water than to the proton alone since the mass of the latter is much smaller). Therefore, as already mentioned in Section II D (i), we have to face a particular case which is slightly more complicated than the general case thoroughly treated in Section II D. Using the properties of the angular momenta highlighted in Sec. II B 2 (iii), we can already predict that the BF-projections of the total angular momenta of the second monomer have a non-regular behavior. As in Section II C 1 (iii) for the BF-components of $\hat{\vec{L}}_{N-2}$, one needs to introduce an intermediate frame, the E₂ frame.

But, prior to the introduction of the E_2 frame, let us define a BF frame for each molecule of water, as in Section IID (ii). Let BF^(j) be the intermediate frame associated with the *j*-th molecule of water (j = 1 or 2) such as $\vec{e}_{z^{BF(j)}}$ is parallel to the vector $\vec{R}_2^{(j)}$ and $\vec{R}_1^{(j)}$, $\vec{e}_{x^{BF(j)}}$ and $\vec{e}_{z^{BF(j)}}$ lie in the same half-plane (as in Fig. 6). Clearly, for the molecule of water, the vector $\vec{R}_1^{(j)}$ would have been a better choice for the definition of the $z^{BF^{(j)}}$ axis since the reduced mass of $\vec{R}_1^{(j)}$ is larger than that of $\vec{R}_2^{(j)}$. However, in Ref. [128], we preferred to use $\vec{R}_2^{(j)}$ in order to avoid the singularity which appears in the KEO when \vec{R}_2 and the $z^{BF^{(j)}}$ axis are parallel. The orientation of the BF^(j) frame with respect to the E₂ frame is determined by three Euler angles: $\alpha^{(j)}$, $\beta^{(j)}$, $\gamma^{(j)}$. However, $\alpha^{(2)} = 0$ since the $((x^{BF}, z^{BF}); x^{BF} > 0)$ half-plane is parallel to $\vec{R}_2^{(2)}$.

For the KEO, one obtains in view of Eqs. (125, 126)

$$2\hat{T} = \sum_{i=1}^{2} \frac{\hat{P}_{R_{i}}^{\dagger} \hat{P}_{R_{i}}}{\mu_{i}} + \frac{\hat{\vec{L}}_{1}^{\dagger} \hat{\vec{L}}_{1}}{\mu_{1} R_{1}^{2}} + 2\sum_{j=1}^{2} \hat{T}^{(j)} + \frac{(\hat{\vec{J}}^{\dagger} - (\hat{\vec{L}}_{1}^{\dagger} + \sum_{j=1}^{2} \hat{\vec{J}}^{(j)})) \cdot (\hat{\vec{J}} - (\hat{\vec{L}}_{1} + \sum_{j=1}^{2} \hat{\vec{J}}^{(j)}))}{\mu_{2} R_{2}^{2}}, \qquad (162)$$

with

$$2\hat{T}^{(j)} = \sum_{k=1}^{2} \frac{\hat{P}_{R_{k}^{(j)}}^{\dagger} \hat{P}_{R_{k}^{(j)}}}{\mu_{k}^{(j)}} + \sum_{k=1}^{2} \frac{\hat{L}_{k}^{(j)}}{\mu_{k}^{(j)} R_{k}^{(j)^{2}}}, \qquad (163)$$

where μ_i denotes the reduced mass associated with \vec{R}_i and $\mu_k^{(j)}$, the reduced mass associated with $\vec{R}_k^{(j)}$. They read

$$\mu_{1}^{(j)} = \frac{2m_{H}m_{O}}{2m_{H} + m_{O}}, \ j = 1, 2;$$

$$\mu_{2}^{(j)} = m_{H}/2, \ j = 1, 2;$$

$$\mu_{1} = \frac{m_{H}(4m_{H} + 2m_{O})}{5m_{H} + 2m_{O}};$$

$$\mu_{2} = \frac{2m_{H} + m_{O}}{2}.$$
(164)

Next, since it is $\vec{R}_2^{(2)}$ that plays a role in the definition of the BF frame, Eq. (127) is no longer valid. In fact, it is easy to derive an expression similar to Eq. (127) for our particular case: we would obtain something similar to Eq. (127) except that it is $\hat{\vec{L}}_2^{(2)}$ which would appear on the right hand side of the scalar products instead of $\hat{\vec{L}}_{n-2}$ (= $\hat{\vec{L}}_1$ for the Zundel cation). But, here, let us simply put $\hat{\vec{J}} = 0$ and recast Eq. (162) as

$$2\hat{T} = \sum_{i=1}^{2} \frac{\hat{P}_{R_{i}}^{\dagger} \hat{P}_{R_{i}}}{\mu_{i}} + \frac{(\hat{\vec{L}}_{1}^{\dagger} \hat{\vec{L}}_{1})_{BF}}{\mu_{1} R_{1}^{2}} + \sum_{j=1}^{2} [\sum_{k=1}^{2} \frac{\hat{P}_{R_{k}^{(j)}}^{\dagger} \hat{P}_{R_{k}^{(j)}}}{\mu_{k}^{(j)}} + \frac{((\hat{\vec{J}}^{(j)} - \hat{\vec{L}}_{1}^{(j)})(\hat{\vec{J}}^{(j)} - \hat{\vec{L}}_{1}^{(j)}))_{BF(j)}}{\mu_{k}^{(j)} R_{k}^{(j)^{2}}} + \frac{(\hat{\vec{L}}_{1}^{(j)} \hat{\vec{L}}_{1}^{(j)})_{BF(j)}}{\mu_{k}^{(j)} R_{k}^{(j)^{2}}}] + \frac{((\hat{\vec{L}}_{1}^{\dagger} + \sum_{j=1}^{2} \hat{\vec{J}}^{(j)}) \cdot (\hat{\vec{L}}_{1} + \sum_{j=1}^{2} \hat{\vec{J}}^{(j)}))_{BF}}{\mu_{2} R_{2}^{2}}.$$
(165)

The BF-components of $\hat{\vec{L}}_1$ are given by Eq. (75) and BF^{BF(j)}-components of $\hat{\vec{L}}_1^{(j)}$, with (j = 1, 2), and $\hat{\vec{J}}^{(1)}$ by Eqs. (122) and (124), respectively. But what about the BF- and BF_{BF(2)}-components of $\hat{\vec{J}}^{(2)}$? As in Section IIC1 (iii), we start from another frame, the E₂ frame (we recall that the E₂ frame is the frame resulting from the first two Euler rotations only). Since the proton and the two molecules of water are not involved in the definition of the E₂ frame, the expressions of the E₂-components in terms of the E₂ coordinates of all the angular momenta appearing in Eq. (165) have a regular form. In particular, one obtains

$$\begin{bmatrix} \hat{J}_{x^{E_2}}^{(2)} \\ \hat{J}_{y^{E_2}}^{(2)} \\ \hat{J}_{z^{E_2}}^{(2)} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} -\cos\alpha_{E_2}^{(2)}\cot\beta_{E_2}^{(2)} & -\sin\alpha_{E_2}^{(2)} & \frac{\cos\alpha_{E_2}^{(2)}}{\sin\beta_{E_2}^{(2)}} \\ -\sin\alpha_{E_2}^{(2)}\cot\beta_{E_2}^{(2)} & \cos\alpha_{E_2}^{(2)} & \frac{\sin\alpha_{E_2}^{(2)}}{\sin\beta_{E_2}^{(2)}} \\ 1 & 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \frac{1}{i}\frac{\partial}{\partial\alpha_{E_2}^{(2)}} \\ \frac{1}{i}\frac{\partial}{\partial\beta_{E_2}^{(2)}} \\ \frac{1}{i}\frac{\partial}{\partial\gamma_{E_2}^{(2)}} \end{bmatrix}, \quad (166)$$

where $\alpha_{E_2}^{(2)}$, $\beta_{E_2}^{(2)}$, and $\gamma_{E_2}^{(2)}$ are the three Euler angles of the second molecule of water in the E_2 frame.

The BF-projections of $\hat{\vec{J}}^{(2)}$ are obtained by rotating the E₂-projections of $\hat{\vec{J}}^{(2)}$ through the angle $\alpha_{E_2}^{(2)} = \gamma$ around the z^{E_2} axis

$$\begin{bmatrix} \hat{J}_{x^{BF}}^{(2)} \\ \hat{J}_{y^{BF}}^{(2)} \\ \hat{J}_{z^{BF}}^{(2)} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} \cos \alpha_{E_2}^{(2)} & \sin \alpha_{E_2}^{(2)} & 0 \\ -\sin \alpha_{E_2}^{(2)} & \cos \alpha_{E_2}^{(2)} & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \hat{J}_{x^{E_2}}^{(2)} \\ \hat{J}_{y^{E_2}}^{(2)} \\ \hat{J}_{z^{E_2}}^{(2)} \end{bmatrix} .$$
(167)

A final change of coordinates from the E_2 to the BF coordinates is then performed

$$\gamma = \alpha_{E_2}^{(2)} , \qquad (168)$$

$$\theta_1^{BF} = \theta_1^{E_2} , \qquad (168)$$

$$\varphi_1^{BF} = \varphi_1^{E_2} - \alpha_{E_2}^{(2)} , \qquad (168)$$

$$\varphi_1^{BF} = \varphi_{E_2}^{E_2} - \alpha_{E_2}^{(2)} , \qquad (168)$$

$$\alpha_{BF}^{(1)} = \alpha_{E_2}^{(1)} - \alpha_{E_2}^{(2)} , \qquad (168)$$

$$\alpha_{BF}^{(1)} = \alpha_{E_2}^{(1)} - \alpha_{E_2}^{(2)} , \qquad (168)$$

$$\alpha_{BF}^{(1)} = \beta_{E_2}^{(1)} - \alpha_{E_2}^{(2)} , \qquad (168)$$

$$\gamma_{BF}^{(1)} = \beta_{E_2}^{(1)} - \alpha_{E_2}^{(2)} , \qquad (168)$$

$$\gamma_{BF}^{(1)} = \beta_{E_2}^{(1)} - \alpha_{E_2}^{(2)} , \qquad (168)$$

$$\beta_{BF}^{(1)} = \beta_{E_2}^{(1)} - \alpha_{E_2}^{(2)} , \qquad (168)$$

$$\gamma_{BF}^{(1)} = \beta_{E_2}^{(1)} - \alpha_{E_2}^{(2)} , \qquad (168)$$

$$\gamma_{BF}^{(1)} = \beta_{E_2}^{(1)} - \alpha_{E_2}^{(2)} , \qquad (168)$$

$$\beta_{BF}^{(1)} = \beta_{E_2}^{(1)} - \alpha_{E_2}^{(2)} , \qquad (168)$$

Applying the chain rule to the partial derivatives, gives

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial \alpha_{E_2}^{(2)}} = \frac{\partial}{\partial \gamma} - \frac{\partial}{\partial \alpha_{BF}^{(1)}} - \frac{\partial}{\partial \varphi_1^{BF}} , \qquad (169)$$

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial \theta_1^{E_2}} = \frac{\partial}{\partial \theta_1^{BF}} , \\
\frac{\partial}{\partial \varphi_1^{E_2}} = \frac{\partial}{\partial \varphi_1^{BF}} , \\
\frac{\partial}{\partial \alpha_{E_2}^{(1)}} = \frac{\partial}{\partial \alpha_{BF}^{(1)}} , \\
\frac{\partial}{\partial \beta_{E_2}^{(j)}} = \frac{\partial}{\partial \beta_{BF}^{(j)}} , (j = 1, 2) , \\
\frac{\partial}{\partial \varphi_{E_2}^{(j)}} = \frac{\partial}{\partial \gamma_{BF}^{(j)}} , (j = 1, 2) , \\
\frac{\partial}{\partial \theta_1^{BF^{(j)}}} = \frac{\partial}{\partial \theta_1^{BF^{(j)}}} .$$

It is important not to forget the term $-\frac{\partial}{\partial \varphi_1^{BF}}$ in the first line of Eq. (169). Inserting Eq. (169) into Eq. (167), we obtain

$$\begin{bmatrix} \hat{J}_{x^{BF}}^{(2)} \\ \hat{J}_{y^{BF}}^{(2)} \\ \hat{J}_{z^{BF}}^{(2)} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} -\cot\beta_{BF}^{(2)} & 0 & \frac{1}{\sin\beta_{BF}^{(2)}} \\ 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 1 & 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \frac{1}{i} (\frac{\partial}{\partial\gamma} - \frac{\partial}{\partial\alpha_{BF}^{(1)}} - \frac{\partial}{\partial\varphi_{1}^{BF}}) \\ \frac{1}{i} \frac{\partial}{\partial\beta_{BF}^{(2)}} \\ \frac{1}{i} \frac{\partial}{\partial\beta_{BF}^{(2)}} \\ \frac{1}{i} \frac{\partial}{\partial\gamma_{BF}^{(2)}} \end{bmatrix} .$$
(170)

In addition, in view of Eqs. (69,70)

$$\begin{bmatrix} \hat{J}_{x^{BF}^{(2)}}^{(2)} \\ \hat{J}_{y^{BF}^{(2)}}^{(2)} \\ \hat{J}_{z^{BF}^{(2)}}^{(2)} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} -\frac{\cos\gamma^{(2)}}{\sin\beta^{(2)}} & \sin\gamma^{(2)} & \cot\beta^{(j)} & \cot\gamma^{(j)} \\ \frac{\sin\gamma^{(2)}}{\sin\beta^{(2)}} & \cos\gamma^{(2)} & -\cot\beta^{(2)} & \sin\gamma^{(2)} \\ 0 & 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \frac{1}{i}(\frac{\partial}{\partial\gamma} - \frac{\partial}{\partial\alpha_{BF}^{(1)}} - \frac{\partial}{\partial\varphi_{1}^{BF}}) \\ \frac{1}{i}\frac{\partial}{\partial\beta^{(2)}} \\ \frac{1}{i}\frac{\partial}{\partial\beta^{(2)}} \end{bmatrix} .$$
(171)

Consequently, we explicitly have all the components of the angular momenta appearing in Eq. (165). It results in a KEO with 95 terms whose explicit expression is given in the Appendix of Ref. [128]. As already explained in Section IIE, the correctness of the derivation of the KEO was checked by comparing it with numerical results provided by the program TNUM of Lauvergnat and Nauts [68].

(ii) Mixed Jacobi/valence description:

In Ref. [155], the computation of the Infra-red spectra of the isotopically substituted forms of the Zundel cation $D(D_2O)_2^+$, $H(D_2O)_2^+$, and $D(H_2O)_2^+$ was reported. For technical reasons (the cluster expansion of the potential failed to converge), it was necessary to switch from the previous Jacobi parametrization to a mixed valence/Jacobi parametrization which is depicted in Figure 19. The vectors \vec{R}_2 is no longer the Jacobi vector joining the center of mass of one monomer to the center of mass of the second monomer but a valence vector joining the two O atoms. The vector \vec{R}_1 joins the center of mass of the O₂ subsystem to the proton. The matrix **M** is no longer diagonal and now reads

FIG. 19: Mixed Jacobi/valence description of the $H_5O_2^+$ system. G_{O2} is the center of mass of the O_2 subsystem, or, in other words, the middle of \vec{R}_2 , the valence vector joining one O atom to the other one.



The part of the KEO coming from the diagonal part of the matrix \mathbf{M} of Eq. (172) is identical to the operator for the Jacobi description given in the Appendix of Ref. [128] except that the reduced masses are different. With the new description, four more terms crop up in the KEO. They read

$$\hat{T}_{\vec{R}_{1}^{(1)}\vec{R}_{2}} = -\frac{1}{m_{o}} \frac{(\hat{\vec{P}}_{\vec{R}_{1}^{(1)}}^{\dagger} \cdot \hat{\vec{P}}_{\vec{R}_{2}} + \hat{\vec{P}}_{\vec{R}_{2}}^{\dagger} \cdot \hat{\vec{P}}_{\vec{R}_{1}^{(1)}})}{2},$$

$$\hat{T}_{\vec{R}_{1}^{(2)}\vec{R}_{2}} = +\frac{1}{m_{o}} \frac{(\hat{\vec{P}}_{\vec{R}_{1}^{(1)}}^{\dagger} \cdot \hat{\vec{P}}_{\vec{R}_{2}} + \vec{P}_{\vec{R}_{2}}^{\dagger} \cdot \hat{\vec{P}}_{\vec{R}_{1}^{(2)}})}{2},$$

$$\hat{T}_{\vec{R}_{1}^{(1)}\vec{R}_{1}} = -\frac{1}{2m_{o}} \frac{(\hat{\vec{P}}_{\vec{R}_{1}^{(1)}}^{\dagger} \cdot \hat{\vec{P}}_{\vec{R}_{1}} + \vec{P}_{\vec{R}_{1}}^{\dagger} \cdot \hat{\vec{P}}_{\vec{R}_{1}^{(1)}})}{2},$$

$$\hat{T}_{\vec{R}_{1}^{(2)}\vec{R}_{1}} = -\frac{1}{2m_{o}} \frac{(\hat{\vec{P}}_{\vec{R}_{1}^{(2)}}^{\dagger} \cdot \hat{\vec{P}}_{\vec{R}_{1}} + \hat{\vec{P}}_{\vec{R}_{1}}^{\dagger} \cdot \hat{\vec{P}}_{\vec{R}_{1}^{(2)}})}{2}.$$
(173)

Let us recast only the first term. Since the conjugate momentum can be written as:

$$\hat{\vec{P}}_i = \hat{P}_{R_i}\vec{e}_i - \frac{\vec{e}_i \times \hat{\vec{L}}_i}{R_i}, \qquad (174)$$

with $\vec{e_i} = \vec{R_i}/R_i$ a unit vector along $\vec{R_i}$; \hat{P}_{R_i} , the radial momentum and $\hat{\vec{L_i}}$, the angular momentum; and its adjoint as

$$\left(\vec{P}_{i}\right)^{\dagger} = \hat{P}_{R_{i}}^{\dagger}\vec{e}_{i} + \frac{\hat{\vec{L}}_{i}^{\dagger} \times \vec{e}_{i}}{R_{i}}, \qquad (175)$$

 $\hat{T}_{\vec{R}_1^{(1)}\vec{R}_2}$ can be rewritten as

$$2\hat{T}_{\vec{R}_{1}^{(1)}\vec{R}_{2}} = \frac{1}{m_{o}} \left[\vec{e}_{1}^{(1)} \cdot \vec{e}_{2}(\hat{P}_{\vec{R}_{1}^{(1)}}^{\dagger} \hat{P}_{R_{2}} + \hat{P}_{R_{2}}^{\dagger} \hat{P}_{\vec{R}_{1}^{(1)}})\right] \\ - \frac{\hat{L}_{1}^{(1)} \times \vec{e}_{1}^{(1)}}{R_{1}^{(1)}} \cdot \frac{\vec{e}_{2} \times \hat{L}_{2}}{R_{2}} - \frac{\hat{L}_{2}^{\dagger} \times \vec{e}_{2}}{R_{2}} \cdot \frac{\vec{e}_{1}^{(1)} \times \hat{L}_{1}^{(1)}}{R_{1}^{(1)}} \\ + \hat{P}_{R_{2}} \frac{\hat{L}_{1}^{(1)} \times \vec{e}_{1}^{(1)}}{R_{1}^{(1)}} \cdot \vec{e}_{2} - \hat{P}_{R_{2}}^{\dagger} \vec{e}_{2} \cdot \frac{\vec{e}_{1}^{(1)} \times \hat{L}_{1}^{(1)}}{R_{1}^{(1)}} \\ - \hat{P}_{\vec{R}_{1}^{(1)}}^{\dagger} \vec{e}_{1}^{(1)} \cdot \frac{\vec{e}_{2} \times \hat{L}_{2}}{R_{2}} + \hat{P}_{\vec{R}_{1}^{(1)}} \frac{\hat{L}_{2}^{\dagger} \times \vec{e}_{2}}{R_{2}} \cdot \vec{e}_{1}^{(1)}\right].$$

$$(176)$$

As already mentioned at the end of Section IID, these terms raise a new technical problem since the expression of the BF projections of $\hat{\vec{L}}_1^{(1)}$ and of the BF⁽¹⁾ projections of \vec{L}_2 are

complicated. Obviously, one of these two frames must be chosen to calculate the scalar products appearing in Eq. (176), $-\frac{\hat{L}_{1}^{(1)^{\dagger}} \times \vec{e}_{1}^{(1)}}{R_{1}^{(1)}} \cdot \frac{\vec{e}_{2} \times \hat{L}_{2}}{R_{2}}$, for instance. If one chooses the BF frame, equations similar (with $\alpha^{(1)}$, $\beta^{(1)}$, and $\gamma^{(1)}$ instead of α , β , and γ) to Eqs. (69,70) along with (123) must be used to obtain the BF components of $\hat{L}_{1}^{(1)}$. The appearance of the three Euler matrices of $\alpha^{(1)}$, $\beta^{(1)}$, and $\gamma^{(1)}$ complicates the final expression. However, all these terms can be calculated.

2. Protonated water tetramer (Eigen cation)

For $H_9O_4^+$, the Eigen cation, a judicious vector parametrization is the mixed Jacobi/Radau one as shown in Figure 20. In Figure 20, the system is separated into four subsystems: the three molecules of water and the H_3O^+ ion. Each molecule of water is parametrized by two Jacobi vectors: $\vec{R}_1^{(j)}$, the vector connecting the center of mass of the H_2 subsystem to the O atom, and $\vec{R}_2^{(j)}$, the vector joining one H atom to the other one (here, j = 1, 2, 3). The H_3O^+ system is parametrized by three Radau vectors, joining B_{OH3} , the canonical point of H_3O^+ , to the H atoms. These three Radau are denoted $\vec{R}_i^{(4)}$, with (i =1, 2, 3), in Figure 20.

By definition, $(B_{OH3}G_{H3})^2 = G_{OH3}G_{H3} \times OG_{OH3}$, with G_{H3} , the center of mass of the H₃ subsystem; G_{OH3} , the center of mass of H₃O⁺. Now, the three 'remaining' atoms are the three 'Radau' vectors $\overrightarrow{BG_j}$, with (j = 1, 2, 3). Here, B is the canonical point of the Eigen cation and G_j is the center of mass of the *j*-th molecule of water. By definition, $(BG_{H6O3})^2 = GG_{H6O3} \times G_{H3O}G_{H6O3}$, with G, the center of mass of the Eigen cation; G_{H6O3} , the center of mass of the water trimer, i.e. the Eigen cation without the H₃O⁺ ion. The KEO can be straightforwardly obtained from the formulation of Section II D with n=4, $N^{(j)} = 3$ with j = 1, 2, and 3 and $N^{(4)} = 4$. To be more specific, in view of Eqs. (127,129) this reads





$$\hat{T} = \sum_{i=1}^{3} \left(-\frac{1}{2\mu_{i}} \frac{1}{R_{i}} \frac{\partial^{2}}{\partial R_{i}^{2}} R_{i} \right) + \sum_{i=1}^{2} \left(\frac{1}{2\mu_{3}R_{3}^{2}} + \frac{1}{2\mu_{i}R_{i}^{2}} \right) \hat{\vec{L}}_{i}^{\dagger} \hat{\vec{L}}_{i} + \sum_{j=1}^{4} \hat{T}^{(j)} \\ + \sum_{i,j=1}^{2} \frac{(\hat{\vec{L}}_{i}\hat{\vec{L}}_{j})_{BF}}{\mu_{3}R_{3}^{2}} - \sum_{i=1}^{2} \frac{(\hat{\vec{J}}\hat{\vec{L}}_{i})_{BF}}{\mu_{3}R_{3}^{2}} + \frac{\hat{\vec{J}}_{BF}^{2}}{2\mu_{3}R_{3}^{2}} \\ + \sum_{i=1,\dots,2}^{j=1,\dots,4} \frac{(\hat{\vec{J}}^{(j)}\hat{\vec{L}}_{i})_{BF}}{\mu_{3}R_{3}^{2}} + \sum_{l,m=1}^{4} \frac{(\hat{\vec{J}}^{(l)}\hat{\vec{J}}^{(m)})_{BF}}{\mu_{3}R_{3}^{2}} - \sum_{j=1}^{4} \frac{(\hat{\vec{J}}\hat{\vec{J}}^{(j)})_{BF}}{\mu_{3}R_{3}^{2}}, \quad (177)$$

and

$$\hat{T}^{(j)} = \sum_{k=1}^{2} \left(-\frac{1}{2\mu_{k}^{(j)}} \frac{1}{R_{k}^{(j)}} \frac{\partial^{2}}{\partial R_{k}^{(j)^{2}}} R_{k}^{(j)} \right) + \left(\frac{1}{2\mu_{2}^{(j)}R_{2}^{(j)^{2}}} + \frac{1}{2\mu_{1}^{(j)}R_{1}^{(j)}} \right) \hat{L}_{1}^{(j)^{\dagger}} \hat{L}_{1}^{(j)}
- \frac{\hat{J}_{z^{BF}^{(j)}}^{(j)2}}{\mu_{2}^{(j)}R_{2}^{(j)^{2}}} - \frac{(\hat{J}_{+BF}^{(j)}\hat{L}_{1-BF}^{(j)} + \hat{J}_{-BF}^{(j)}\hat{L}_{1+BF}^{(j)})}{2\mu_{2}^{(j)}R_{2}^{(j)^{2}}} + \frac{\hat{J}_{BF^{(j)}}^{(j)}}{2\mu_{2}^{(j)}R_{2}^{(j)^{2}}},$$
(178)

and

$$\hat{T}^{(4)} = \sum_{k=1}^{3} \left(-\frac{1}{2\mu_{k}^{(4)}} \frac{1}{R_{k}^{(4)}} \frac{\partial^{2}}{\partial R_{k}^{(4)^{2}}} R_{k}^{(4)} \right) + \sum_{k=1}^{2} \left(\frac{1}{2\mu_{3}^{(4)}R_{3}^{(4)^{2}}} + \frac{1}{2\mu_{k}^{(4)}R_{k}^{(4)^{2}}} \right) \hat{\vec{L}}_{k}^{(4)^{\dagger}} \hat{\vec{L}}_{k}^{(4)}
- \frac{\hat{J}_{2}^{(4)}(\hat{J}_{2}^{(4)} - \hat{L}_{12}^{(4)}) + (\hat{L}_{12}^{(4)})^{2}}{\mu_{3}^{(4)}R_{3}^{(4)^{2}}}
+ \frac{(\hat{L}_{1+BF}^{(4)}(\hat{L}_{2-BF}^{(4)} + \hat{L}_{1-BF}^{(4)}) + (\hat{L}_{2+BF}^{(4)})}{2\mu_{3}^{(4)}R_{3}^{(4)^{2}}}
- \frac{\sum_{k=1}^{2}(\hat{J}_{+BF}^{(4)}(\hat{L}_{k-BF}^{(4)} + \hat{J}_{-BF}^{(4)}) + \hat{L}_{k+BF}^{(4)})}{2\mu_{3}^{(4)}R_{3}^{(4)^{2}}} + \frac{\hat{J}_{BF}^{(4)}}{2\mu_{3}^{(4)}R_{3}^{(4)^{2}}},$$
(179)

with the corresponding reduced masses:

$$\mu_{1}^{(j)} = \frac{2m_{H}m_{O}}{2m_{H} + m_{O}}, \ j = 1, 2, 3;$$

$$\mu_{2}^{(j)} = m_{H}/2, \ j = 1, 2, 3;$$

$$\mu_{i}^{(4)} = m_{H}, \ i = 1, 2, 3;$$

$$\mu_{i} = 2m_{H} + m_{O}, \ i = 1, 2, 3.$$

(180)

IV. DESCRIPTION OF LARGE SYSTEMS WITH ACTIVE POLYSPHERICAL COORDINATES

The rigorous quantum mechanical description of the dynamics of polyatomic molecular systems remains a formidable challenge for the theoretical chemists [156, 157]. Indeed, the cost of quantum dynamics simulations grows very rapidly with the number of degrees of freedom involved. For the numerical solution of the Schrödinger equation of the nuclei, very important developments have been recently introduced to describe the motion of molecular systems with 10-30 degrees of freedom: for instance, the MCTDH, CI-VSCF, WOSA approaches already mentioned in the introduction. More recently, the multilayer formulation of the MCTDH algorithm [11, 12, 158–161] seems promising for the treatment of hundreds of particles. However, the solution of the Schrödinger equation of the nuclei will still be a challenging task, in particular due to the complexity of the Hamiltonian operator.

Another bottleneck in the future treatment of large systems will be the need for potential energy surfaces (the potential energy surfaces of the ground and of the excited states). In principle, since the potential energy surfaces for an N-atom system depend on 3N-6 coordinates and about 10 points are needed on the surfaces for each degree of freedom in order to characterize them, about 10^{3N-6} *ab initio* quantum chemistry calculations should be required for each electronic state. However, important progress have been made in the surface-fitting procedures as well, which allows to describe PESs with a limited number of *ab initio* calculations. For instance, we mention the Sheppard interpolation scheme and the fitting with redundant coordinates [162–171]. However, the generation of an accurate multi-dimensional PES remains a difficult task.

Fortunately, dynamical processes in complex molecular systems often evolve around a 'system' or 'reactive core' composed of relatively few 'active' degrees of freedom that carry the dominant part of the dynamics. The latter are generally coupled to a 'bath' composed of a much larger set of degrees of freedom that act as an environment. Under these conditions, it is reasonable to invoke simplifying approximations for the other degrees of freedom when calculating the potential and simulating dynamics. These approximations permit the construction of simple model Hamiltonians with a relatively small number of calculations for the electronic energy. A widely used approach is the rigid-constraint one, which consists in freezing some bond lengths, angles or entire atomic groups: the dynamics simulations are performed within a subspace of 'active' coordinates only and, for each set of active coordinates, the potential is calculated by relaxing all remaining coordinates according to a local potential minimization (see Refs. [68, 69], and references therein for applications).

An improvement of the previous model can also be envisioned by means of the reaction path Hamiltonian approach [42, 43] that makes use of a harmonic approximation locally defined along one or several reaction or 'active' coordinates (see also [21, 69, 172] for other models related to reaction path Hamiltonian). In its simplest version, this approach becomes a model composed of one or several active coordinates simply coupled to a bath [43]. With the reaction path Hamiltonian approach, many degrees of freedom can be taken into account in the dynamics, using MCTDH or its multilayer formulation for instance, whereas the number of *ab initio* quantum chemistry calculations does not dramatically increase (see for instance [173–175] for applications).

Another fruitful model has been formulated [46–48] to describe multimode vibronic coupling effects. This model provides the first terms in a Taylor expansion of a diabatic representation of the potential surfaces around the Franck-Condon point and can correctly reproduce the nonadiabatic effects in its vicinity. Thanks to this model, even though the number of degrees of freedom in the dynamics can be relatively large, the number of *ab initio* quantum chemistry calculations and the number of parameters in the analytical expression of the potential are rather limited [176–178]. More recently [179, 180], the model has been generalized to study the quantum dynamics through a conical intersection in a macro-system. The system is also split into a 'system' that collects the most important 'active' coordinates and a 'bath'. The bath modes are transformed to three 'effective' modes only, and it has been shown that the effective modes reproduce the short-time dynamics of the macro-system correctly.

These two models, the reaction path Hamiltonian and the vibronic coupling model, demonstrate that it is possible to correctly reproduce elementary processes in chemical dynamics with a relatively modest number of calculations for the electronic energy and for dynamics. Obviously, the choice of the active coordinates is crucial. More precisely, only a judicious choice of active coordinates allows to carry out the dominant part of the dynamics using a small number of degrees of freedom.

Now, rectilinear coordinates, such as the Cartesian or normal-mode coordinates, may be unsuitable since a huge number of them is necessary to describe chemical processes when motions of large amplitude are involved. Consequently, curvilinear coordinates are sometimes the only coordinates that can correctly describe these chemical processes with a limited number of degrees of freedom. The importance of curvilinear coordinates to describe elementary processes in chemistry is well known and has already been highlighted by numerous publications: see, for instance, Ref. [51, 52] for the calculation of thermal rate constants of chemical reactions or Ref. [55, 56] for photochemical reactivity involving conical intersections. The number of quantum mechanical simulations with curvilinear coordinates for these processes is however rather limited. This difficulty probably lies in obtaining the correct kinetic energy operator in a form that is not too involved and well-adapted to the numerical methods used to solve the Schrödinger equation. The goal of the present Part of the present review is (i) to present a rigorous theoretical background to derive kinetic energy operators when only a limited set of 'active' coordinates is considered to simulate the dynamics and, (ii) to show that the polyspherical approach provides an ideal framework to obtain these operators in a form that is suitable to numerical applications.

A. Kinetic energy operators for rigidly and adiabatically constrained molecular systems

Let the N-atom system be subject to constraints, so that its motion is no longer free. The purpose of the additional constraints is to reduce the dimensionality of the problem, from 3N-6 (free system) internal degrees of freedom to n < 3N-6 internal degrees of freedom by means of m = 3N-n-6 additional constraints. Two cases must be distinguished:

(1) The rigid-constraint approach: it consists in freezing some bond lengths or angles.

(2) The adiabatic-constraint approach: it consists in adjusting the variations of the inactive coordinates to those of the active coordinates.

The rigorous derivation of the corresponding constrained kinetic energy operators is a rather delicate task [68–70, 72, 98, 181–187] and is reviewed in the present Section. The results presented below (for instance Eqs. (190,211)) do not depend on the choice of the internal coordinates, and, consequently, they are not just valid for polyspherical coordinates.

Let the 3N-6 internal degrees of freedom $\{q_i; i = 1, ..., 3N-6\}$ be collectively denoted \boldsymbol{q} . The starting point in applying constraints to a molecular system to constraints consists in partitioning the set of internal degrees of freedom into two subsets: \boldsymbol{q}' and \boldsymbol{q}'' . \boldsymbol{q}' corresponds to the set of 'active' coordinates, $\{q'_i; i = 1, ..., n\}$, and \boldsymbol{q}'' corresponds to the set of 'inactive' coordinates, $\{q''_i; i = 1, ..., m\}$, with n + m = 3N - 6. In addition, $\hat{\boldsymbol{P}}'$, $\hat{\boldsymbol{P}}''$, $\hat{\boldsymbol{J}}$ correspond to $\{\hat{P}_{q'_i} = \frac{1}{i} \frac{\partial}{\partial q'_i}; i = 1, ..., n\}$, $\{\hat{P}_{q''_i} = \frac{1}{i} \frac{\partial}{\partial q''_i}; i = 1, ..., m\}$, and $\{\hat{J}_{x^{BF}}, \hat{J}_{y^{BF}}, \hat{J}_{z^{BF}}\}$, respectively (see Eq. (77) for the expression of $\hat{J}_{x^{BF}}, \hat{J}_{y^{BF}}$, and $\hat{J}_{z^{BF}}$ in terms of the conjugate momenta associated with the Euler angles). After this separation into active and inactive coordinates, the KEO can be written as follows

$$2\hat{T} = \begin{bmatrix} \hat{P}'^{\dagger} \ \hat{P}''^{\dagger} \ \hat{J} \end{bmatrix} \Xi \begin{bmatrix} \hat{P}'^{T} \\ \hat{P}''^{T} \\ \hat{J}^{T} \end{bmatrix}$$
$$= \begin{bmatrix} \hat{P}'^{\dagger} \ \hat{P}''^{\dagger} \ \hat{J} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \Sigma' \ \Omega^{T} \ \sigma'^{T} \\ \Omega \ \Sigma'' \ \sigma''^{T} \\ \sigma' \ \sigma'' \ \Gamma \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \hat{P}'^{T} \\ \hat{P}''^{T} \\ \hat{J}^{T} \end{bmatrix}.$$
(181)

The matrix Ω , appearing in Eq. (181), corresponds to the coupling between active and inactive coordinates. In the particular case of standard polyspherical coordinates, all the matrix elements of Eq. (181) could be obtained from the matrices G, Γ , and C, which are given by Eqs. (C4,C5,C6), along with equations similar to Eq. (107). However, it should be made clear that the KEO in Eq. (181) can be expressed in terms of *any* set of coordinates and the results presented below are valid whatever the set of coordinates.

1. Rigid-constraint approach

If the inactive coordinates are fixed once and for all, the m = 3N - 6 - n rigid constraints can be expressed as

$$q''_{i} = q''_{i}|_{o}; \ i = 1, \dots, m;$$
(182)

or equivalently

$$\dot{q}_i'' = 0; \ i = 1, \dots, m;$$
(183)

where the dots denote the time-derivatives.

Two important points must be addressed at this level:

(1) Eq. (183) is not equivalent to

$$\hat{P}_{q_i''} = 0; \ i = 1, \dots, m;$$
(184)

In other words, starting from the constraint-free KEO of Eq. (181) and applying the rules $(\hat{P}_{q''_i} = 0; i = 1, ..., m)$ does not lead to the correct constrained KEO.

(2) Regarding the overall rotation of the system, two cases must be distinguished. These two cases correspond to two different kinetic energy operators and to two different experimental conditions:

(i) the total angular momentum J is constant. It is the subject of the present section to derive the constrained KEOs for this case.

(ii) The molecule is in a fixed orientation or, more precisely, the BF frame is in a fixed orientation, that corresponds to

$$\dot{\alpha} = \beta = \dot{\gamma} = 0, \qquad (185)$$

with α , β , γ , the three Euler angles introduced in Section II B 2. Here also Eq. (185) is not equivalent to $\hat{P}_{\alpha} = \hat{P}_{\beta} = \hat{P}_{\gamma} = 0$, and thus, is not equivalent to J = 0. The derivation of the constrained KEOs corresponding to this second case is not explicitly treated in this section. However, using the results presented below (Eqs. (190,211)), its derivation is almost trivial. Indeed, if the case of a molecule oriented in space is considered, the three Euler angles play the role of inactive coordinates. The corresponding KEO could be obtained simply by recasting Eq. (181) in terms of the three conjugate momenta associated with the Euler angles $(\hat{P}_{\alpha} = \frac{1}{i} \frac{\partial}{\partial \alpha}, \hat{P}_{\beta} = \frac{1}{i} \frac{\partial}{\partial \beta}, \text{ and } \hat{P}_{\gamma} = \frac{1}{i} \frac{\partial}{\partial \gamma})$ instead of $\{\hat{J}_{x^{BF}}, \hat{J}_{y^{BF}}, \hat{J}_{z^{BF}}\}$. The transformation is straightforward and given by Eq. (77) of Section II C 1. After this transformation, the three Euler angles can then simply be added to the group of the inactive coordinates q'', which now contains m+3 coordinates and the new KEO reads

$$2\hat{T} = \begin{bmatrix} \hat{\boldsymbol{P}'}^{\dagger} \hat{\boldsymbol{P}''}^{\dagger} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \boldsymbol{\Sigma'} & \boldsymbol{\Omega}^{T} \\ \boldsymbol{\Omega} & \boldsymbol{\Sigma''} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \hat{\boldsymbol{P}'}^{T} \\ \hat{\boldsymbol{P}''}^{T} \end{bmatrix}.$$
(186)

From now on, we restrict ourselves to considering the case (i) only, i.e. the Euler angles never play the role of inactive coordinates and we start from the KEO given by Eq. (181). In order to derive the constrained kinetic energy operator, it is necessary to come back to the general definition of the conjugate momenta and angular momentum components without constraints [98]:

$$\begin{bmatrix} \dot{\boldsymbol{q}'}^{T} \\ \dot{\boldsymbol{q}''}^{T} \\ \boldsymbol{\omega}^{T} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} \boldsymbol{\Sigma}' & \boldsymbol{\Omega}^{T} & \boldsymbol{\sigma}'^{T} \\ \boldsymbol{\Omega} & \boldsymbol{\Sigma}'' & \boldsymbol{\sigma}''^{T} \\ \boldsymbol{\sigma}' & \boldsymbol{\sigma}'' & \boldsymbol{\Gamma} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \hat{\boldsymbol{P}'}^{T} \\ \hat{\boldsymbol{P}''}^{T} \\ \hat{\boldsymbol{J}}^{T} \end{bmatrix}, \qquad (187)$$

where $\boldsymbol{\omega}$ denotes $\{\omega_{x^{BF}}, \omega_{y^{BF}}, \omega_{z^{BF}}\}$, i.e. the angular velocity vector that specifies the angular speed and axis about which a framework is rotating. Let $\hat{\boldsymbol{P}}'|_o, \hat{\boldsymbol{P}}''|_o, \hat{\boldsymbol{J}}|_o$ be the (conjugate and angular) momenta with the extra constraints of Eq. (182): the mark $|_o$ indicates that the system being subject to rigid constraints. It is important to point out that, in general, $\hat{\boldsymbol{P}}'|_o \neq \hat{\boldsymbol{P}}'$ and $\hat{\boldsymbol{P}}''|_o \neq \boldsymbol{0}$. Imposing the constraints of Eq. (182), i.e. $\dot{\boldsymbol{q}}'' = \boldsymbol{0}$, in Eq. (187) results in [181]

$$\boldsymbol{\Omega}|_{o}\hat{\boldsymbol{P}}'|_{o}^{T} + \boldsymbol{\Sigma}''|_{o}\hat{\boldsymbol{P}}''|_{o}^{T} + \boldsymbol{\sigma}''|_{o}^{T}\hat{\boldsymbol{J}}|_{o}^{T} = 0 , \qquad (188)$$

where for instance: $\Sigma''|_o = \Sigma''(\mathbf{q}'; \mathbf{q}''|_o) = \Sigma''(\mathbf{q}'_i, i = 1, ..., n; \mathbf{q}''_j = \mathbf{q}''_j|_o, j = 1, ..., m)$. In other words, the inactive coordinates are fixed in $\Sigma''|_o$. The same notation holds, of course, for all the matrices. Eq. (188) yields

$$\hat{\boldsymbol{P}}''|_{o}^{T} = -\boldsymbol{\Sigma}''|_{o}^{-1}(\boldsymbol{\Omega}|_{o}\hat{\boldsymbol{P}}'|_{o}^{T} + \boldsymbol{\sigma}''|_{o}^{T}\hat{\boldsymbol{J}}|_{o}^{T}).$$
(189)

In view of Eq. (189), it appears that Eq. (183) is not equivalent to Eq. (184). Finally, inserting Eq. (189) into Eq. (181) gives

$$2\hat{T}|_{o} = \left[\hat{P}'|_{o}^{\dagger} \hat{J}|_{o} \right] \boldsymbol{\xi}|_{o} \left[\begin{array}{c} \hat{P}'|_{o}^{T} \\ \hat{J}|_{o}^{T} \end{array} \right]$$
$$= \left[\hat{P}'|_{o}^{\dagger} \hat{J}|_{o} \right] \left[\begin{array}{c} (\boldsymbol{\Sigma}'|_{o} - \boldsymbol{\Omega}|_{o}^{T} \boldsymbol{\Sigma}''|_{o}^{-1} \boldsymbol{\Omega}|_{o}) & (\boldsymbol{\sigma}'|_{o}^{T} - \boldsymbol{\Omega}|_{o}^{T} \boldsymbol{\Sigma}''|_{o}^{-1} \boldsymbol{\sigma}''|_{o}^{T}) \\ (\boldsymbol{\sigma}'|_{o} - \boldsymbol{\sigma}''|_{o} \boldsymbol{\Sigma}''|_{o}^{-1} \boldsymbol{\Omega}|_{o}) & (\boldsymbol{\Gamma}|_{o} - \boldsymbol{\sigma}''|_{o} \boldsymbol{\Sigma}''|_{o}^{-1} \boldsymbol{\sigma}''|_{o}^{T}) \end{array} \right] \left[\begin{array}{c} \hat{P}'|_{o}^{T} \\ \hat{J}|_{o}^{T} \end{array} \right] .$$
(190)

In order to complete the derivation of the quantum-mechanical kinetic energy operator $\hat{T}|_o$, we also have to calculate the Jacobian of the transformation from the constrained coordinates $\{\boldsymbol{q}'; \boldsymbol{q}''|_o\}$ to the Cartesian coordinates. The Jacobian is equal by construction, to $|Det[\boldsymbol{\xi}|_o]|^{-\frac{1}{2}}$, where $\boldsymbol{\xi}|_o$ is the matrix appearing in Eq. (190). It is useful to express this Jacobian in terms of the Jacobian of the 'free' system:

$$J_e^{free} = |Det[\Xi]|^{-\frac{1}{2}},$$
(191)

i.e. the Jacobian of the transformation from the coordinates $\{q'; q''\}$ to the Cartesian coordinates (Ξ is the matrix appearing in Eq. (181)). It can be shown (see Section 2 in Ref. [72]) that

$$Det[\mathbf{\Xi}] = Det[\mathbf{\Sigma}''] Det[\boldsymbol{\xi}], \qquad (192)$$

where

$$\boldsymbol{\xi} = \begin{bmatrix} (\boldsymbol{\Sigma}' - \boldsymbol{\Omega}^T \, \boldsymbol{\Sigma}^{\prime\prime-1} \, \boldsymbol{\Omega}) & (\boldsymbol{\sigma}^{\prime T} - \boldsymbol{\Omega}^T \, \boldsymbol{\Sigma}^{\prime\prime-1} \, \boldsymbol{\sigma}^{\prime\prime T}) \\ (\boldsymbol{\sigma}^{\prime} - \boldsymbol{\sigma}^{\prime\prime} \, \boldsymbol{\Sigma}^{\prime\prime-1} \, \boldsymbol{\Omega}) & (\boldsymbol{\Gamma} - \boldsymbol{\sigma}^{\prime\prime} \, \boldsymbol{\Sigma}^{\prime\prime-1} \, \boldsymbol{\sigma}^{\prime\prime T}) \end{bmatrix}.$$
(193)

By introducing the constraints $(q''_i = q''_i|_o; i = 1, ..., m)$, one obtains

$$Det[\boldsymbol{\xi}|_{o}] = Det[\boldsymbol{\Xi}|_{o}] Det[\boldsymbol{\Sigma}''|_{o}]^{-1}, \qquad (194)$$

so that, for the Jacobian

$$J_e^{con}|_o(\boldsymbol{q}') = J_e^{free}|_o(\boldsymbol{q}') \sqrt{|Det[\boldsymbol{\Sigma}''|_o]|} \,.$$
(195)

In other words, the kinetic energy operator of Eq. (190) is correct only for the case in which the wave functions are normalized as follows:

$$\int \Psi^* \Psi d\tau = 1, \qquad (196)$$

where

$$d\tau = J_e^{con}|_o(\mathbf{q}') \, d\mathbf{q}' \, d\alpha \, \sin\beta \, d\beta \, d\gamma \,, \tag{197}$$

with $d\mathbf{q}' = dq'_1 \dots dq'_n$ and α , β , and γ denote the three Euler angles. However, since $\sqrt{|Det[\mathbf{\Sigma}''|_o]|}$ is, in general, complicated, it is often profitable to normalize the wave functions as follows:

$$\int \Psi^* \Psi d\tau' = 1 \,, \tag{198}$$

where

$$d\tau' = d\mathbf{q}' \, d\alpha \sin\beta d\beta d\gamma \,, \tag{199}$$

then an extra-potential (i.e. purely multiplicative) term pops up (see Eq. (17)):

$$V^{con} = \left(J_e^{con}\Big|_o^{\frac{1}{2}}\hat{T}\Big|_o J_e^{con}\Big|_o^{-\frac{1}{2}}\right).$$
(200)

In Eq. (200) $\hat{T}|_o$ does not operate beyond the parentheses. In other words, the KEO $\hat{T}|_o + V^{con}$, with $\hat{T}|_o$ coming from Eq. (190), V^{con} coming from Eq. (200), must be used along with Eqs. (198,199). Note also that, with the volume element of Eq. (199), $\hat{P}'|_o^{\dagger} = \hat{P}'|_o$.

2. Adiabatic-constraint approach

An improvement on the rigid-constraint approach consists in adjusting the inactive coordinates to the active coordinates, i.e. Eq. (182) is replaced by

$$q''_{i} = q''_{i}|_{ad}(\mathbf{q}'); \ i = 1, \dots, m;$$
 (201)

which can be collectively rewritten as $\mathbf{q}'' = \mathbf{q}''|_{ad}(\mathbf{q}')$ (see Eq. (236) for example). Let us first perform a new change of coordinates from $\{\mathbf{q}'; \mathbf{q}''\}$ to $\{\mathbf{q}'; \mathbf{f}\}$, with

$$f = q'' - q''|_{ad}(q')$$
. (202)

It is clear that Eq. (201) is equivalent to

$$\boldsymbol{f} = \boldsymbol{0} \,, \tag{203}$$

i.e. the adiabatic constraints of Eq. (201) are equivalent to rigid constraints on the 'new' set of coordinates, $\{\boldsymbol{q}'; \boldsymbol{f}\}$: we can thus apply the results of Section IVA1. However, we first have to perform the change of coordinates from $\{\boldsymbol{q}'; \boldsymbol{q}''\}$ to $\{\boldsymbol{q}'; \boldsymbol{f}\}$. Let $\{\hat{P}_{f_i} = \frac{1}{i} \frac{\partial}{\partial f_i}; i = 1, \ldots, m\}$ be collectively denoted \hat{P}_f . The KEO of Eq. (181) can be rewritten as

$$2\hat{T} = \begin{bmatrix} \hat{P'}^{\dagger} \hat{P}_{f}^{\dagger} \hat{J} \end{bmatrix} \Xi' \begin{bmatrix} \hat{P'}^{T} \\ \hat{P}_{f}^{T} \\ \hat{J}^{T} \end{bmatrix}$$
$$= \begin{bmatrix} \hat{P'}^{\dagger} \hat{P}_{f}^{\dagger} \hat{J} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \Sigma'_{new} & \Omega_{new}^{T} & \sigma'_{new}^{T} \\ \Omega_{new} & \Sigma''_{new} & \sigma''_{new}^{T} \\ \sigma'_{new} & \sigma''_{new} & \Gamma_{new} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \hat{P'}^{T} \\ \hat{P}_{f}^{T} \\ \hat{J}^{T} \end{bmatrix}, \qquad (204)$$

with

$$\begin{bmatrix} \Sigma'_{new} & \Omega_{new}^{T} & \sigma'_{new}^{T} \\ \Omega_{new} & \Sigma''_{new} & \sigma''_{new}^{T} \\ \sigma'_{new} & \sigma''_{new} & \Gamma_{new} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 \\ D & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix} \\ \times \begin{bmatrix} \Sigma' & \Omega^{T} & \sigma'^{T} \\ \Omega & \Sigma'' & \sigma''^{T} \\ \sigma' & \sigma'' & \Gamma \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} 1 & D^{T} & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix},$$
(205)

where 1 and 0 denote the identity matrix and the zero matrix, respectively. Moreover,

$$D_{ij} = -\frac{\partial q''_{j}|_{eq}(\boldsymbol{q}')}{\partial q'_{i}}.$$
(206)

In other words, the matrix

$$d = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 \\ D & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix}$$
(207)

is the Jacobian matrix of the transformation from $\{\boldsymbol{q}'; \boldsymbol{q}''; \alpha, \beta, \gamma\}$ to $\{\boldsymbol{q}'; \boldsymbol{f}; \alpha, \beta, \gamma\}$. If the motion of the inactive coordinates is decoupled from the active coordinates, all the terms $-\frac{\partial q''_{j|ad}(\boldsymbol{q}')}{\partial q'_{i}}$ must be very small. This is why, we proposed, in Ref. [185], to assume that, in Eq. (207),

$$-\frac{\partial q''_{j}|_{ad}(\boldsymbol{q}')}{\partial q'_{i}} = 0; \qquad (208)$$

i.e.

$$\boldsymbol{d} = \boldsymbol{1} \,, \tag{209}$$

or

$$\Xi' = \Xi \,, \tag{210}$$

instead of $\Xi' = d \Xi d^T$. After this simplification, in order to derive the KEO, we simply have to apply the results of Section IVA1. It follows that

$$2\hat{T}|_{ad} = \begin{bmatrix} \hat{P}'|_{ad}^{\dagger} \hat{J}|_{ad} \end{bmatrix} \boldsymbol{\xi}|_{ad} \begin{bmatrix} \hat{P}'|_{ad}^{T} \\ \hat{J}|_{ad}^{T} \end{bmatrix}$$
$$= \begin{bmatrix} \hat{P}'|_{ad}^{\dagger} \hat{J}|_{ad} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} (\Sigma'|_{ad} - \Omega|_{ad}^{T} \Sigma''|_{ad}^{-1} \Omega|_{ad}) & (\boldsymbol{\sigma}'|_{ad}^{T} - \Omega|_{ad}^{T} \Sigma''|_{ad}^{-1} \boldsymbol{\sigma}''|_{ad}) \\ (\boldsymbol{\sigma}'|_{ad} - \boldsymbol{\sigma}''|_{ad} \Sigma''|_{ad}^{-1} \Omega|_{ad}) & (\Gamma|_{ad} - \boldsymbol{\sigma}''|_{ad} \Sigma''|_{ad}^{-1} \boldsymbol{\sigma}''|_{ad}^{T} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \hat{P}'|_{ad}^{T} \\ \hat{J}|_{ad}^{T} \end{bmatrix},$$
(211)

where for instance:

$$\Sigma''|_{ad} = \Sigma''(\mathbf{q}'; \mathbf{q}''|_{ad}(\mathbf{q}')) = \Sigma''(\mathbf{q}'_i, \ i = 1, \dots, n; \mathbf{q}''_j = \mathbf{q}''_j|_{ad}(\mathbf{q}'), \ j = 1, \dots, m).$$
(212)

The same notation holds, of course, for all the matrices. In Eq. (211), we do not impose $-\frac{\partial q''_j|_{ad}(\mathbf{q}')}{\partial q'_i} = 0$, since it would lead us back to the rigid model. Paradoxically, this small (numerical) additional approximation (Eq. (210)) allows to keep a much simpler (analytical) form of the KEO. In this adiabatic model, we do no have to add some new terms to the rigid KEO (compare Eq. (190) with Eq. (211)): this adiabatic formulation allows to recast the problem into an equivalent 'flexible' pseudo-rigid case. We repeat that, from a physical point of view, this new approximation (Eq. (210)) is justified since it is well-known [188–191] that the adiabatic approximation is valid provided that there is a clear decoupling or hierarchy between the inactive coordinates and the active coordinates, i.e. provided that the functions $-\frac{\partial q''_j|_{ad}(\mathbf{q}')}{\partial q'_i}$ are close to zero.

The general equations without the additional approximation of Eq. (210) are given in Section 3 of Ref. [72]: this 'exact' adiabatic model leads to numerical results that are slightly better but the corresponding KEOs are considerably more complicated.

Let us add that the operator $\hat{T}|_{ad}$ of Eq. (211) is correct only in the case that the wave functions are normalized with an Euclidean convention of normalization, i.e. with the volume element given by

$$d\tau = J_e^{con}|_{ad}(\mathbf{q}') \, d\mathbf{q}' \, d\alpha \, \sin\beta \, d\beta \, d\gamma \,, \tag{213}$$

with

$$J_e^{con}|_{ad}(\boldsymbol{q}') = J_e^{free}|_{ad}(\boldsymbol{q}') \sqrt{|Det[\boldsymbol{\Sigma}''|_{ad}]|}.$$
(214)

(This result is not affected by the use of the additional approximation of Eq. (210)). However, if the wave functions are normalized according to

$$\int \Psi^* \Psi d\tau' = 1, \qquad (215)$$

where

$$d\tau' = d\mathbf{q}' \, d\alpha \, \sin\beta \, d\beta \, d\gamma \,, \tag{216}$$

then an extra-potential (i.e. purely multiplicative) term defined as (see Eq. (17))

$$V^{con} = \left(J_e^{con}\Big|_{ad}^{\frac{1}{2}} \hat{T}\Big|_{ad} J_e^{con}\Big|_{ad}^{-\frac{1}{2}}\right)$$
(217)

must be added to $\hat{T}|_{ad}$ of Eq. (211).

Finally, it is worth noting that the program TNUM of Lauvergnat and Nauts [68], already mentioned in Section IIE, numerically computes all the functions appearing in the constrained operators. To be more specific, (i) for the rigid-constraint approach, TNUM numerically provides the matrix elements in Eq. (190) and the extra-potential term of Eq. (200); (ii) for the adiabatic-constraint approach, TNUM numerically provides the extrapotential term of Eq. (217) and the matrix elements appearing in the adiabatic operator with and without the approximation of Eq. (210).

B. Combination with the polyspherical approach

The constrained operators of Eqs. (190,211) are a sum of two terms. The first term, called the 'main' term, reads

$$2\hat{T}_{main}|_{o} = \left[\left. \hat{\boldsymbol{P}}' \right|_{o}^{\dagger} \left. \hat{\boldsymbol{J}} \right|_{o} \right] \left[\begin{array}{cc} \boldsymbol{\Sigma}'|_{o} & \boldsymbol{\sigma}' \right|_{o}^{T} \\ \boldsymbol{\sigma}'|_{o} & \boldsymbol{\Gamma}|_{o} \end{array} \right] \left[\begin{array}{cc} \hat{\boldsymbol{P}}' \right|_{o}^{T} \\ \hat{\boldsymbol{J}} \right]_{o}^{T} \end{array} \right],$$
(218)

in the rigid model and

$$2\hat{T}_{main}|_{ad} = \begin{bmatrix} \hat{\boldsymbol{P}}'|_{ad}^{\dagger} \hat{\boldsymbol{J}}|_{ad} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \boldsymbol{\Sigma}'|_{ad} & \boldsymbol{\sigma}'|_{ad}^{T} \\ \boldsymbol{\sigma}'|_{ad} & \boldsymbol{\Gamma}|_{ad} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \hat{\boldsymbol{P}}'|_{ad}^{T} \\ \hat{\boldsymbol{J}}|_{ad}^{T} \end{bmatrix}, \qquad (219)$$

in the adiabatic model. This 'main' term is directly obtained from the operator without constraints (Eq. (181)) simply by removing all terms involving conjugate momenta associated with the inactive coordinates. If polyspherical coordinates are used, this term can always be written as a sum of products of mono-mode operators and is directly obtained from Eq. (C4, C5, C6, 107).

The second term

$$2\hat{T}_{corr}|_{o} = -\left[\hat{\boldsymbol{P}}'|_{o}^{\dagger}\hat{\boldsymbol{J}}|_{o}\right] \left[\begin{array}{c} \boldsymbol{\Omega}|_{o}^{T}\boldsymbol{\Sigma}''|_{o}^{-1}\boldsymbol{\Omega}|_{o} & \boldsymbol{\Omega}|_{o}^{T}\boldsymbol{\Sigma}''|_{o}^{-1}\boldsymbol{\sigma}''|_{o}^{T} \\ \boldsymbol{\sigma}''|_{o}\boldsymbol{\Sigma}''|_{o}^{-1}\boldsymbol{\Omega}|_{o} & \boldsymbol{\sigma}''|_{o}\boldsymbol{\Sigma}''|_{o}^{-1}\boldsymbol{\sigma}''|_{o}^{T} \end{array}\right] \left[\begin{array}{c} \hat{\boldsymbol{P}}'|_{o}^{T} \\ \hat{\boldsymbol{J}}|_{o}^{T} \end{array}\right],$$

$$(220)$$

for the rigid model, and

$$2\hat{T}_{corr}|_{ad} = -\left[\hat{\boldsymbol{P}}'|_{ad}^{\dagger}\hat{\boldsymbol{J}}|_{ad}\right] \begin{bmatrix} \boldsymbol{\Omega}|_{ad}^{T}\boldsymbol{\Sigma}''|_{ad}^{-1}\boldsymbol{\Omega}|_{ad} & \boldsymbol{\Omega}|_{ad}^{T}\boldsymbol{\Sigma}''|_{ad}^{-1}\boldsymbol{\sigma}''|_{ad}^{T} \\ \boldsymbol{\sigma}''|_{ad}\boldsymbol{\Sigma}''|_{ad}^{-1}\boldsymbol{\Omega}|_{ad} & \boldsymbol{\sigma}''|_{ad}\boldsymbol{\Sigma}''|_{ad}^{-1}\boldsymbol{\sigma}''|_{ad}^{T} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \hat{\boldsymbol{P}}'|_{ad}^{T} \\ \hat{\boldsymbol{J}}|_{ad}^{T} \end{bmatrix},$$

$$(221)$$

for the adiabatic model, is a 'correction'. This term vanishes if there is no coupling between the active and the inactive coordinates, i.e. if σ'' and Ω in Eq. (181) are equal to zero. In general, if the choice of the 'active' coordinates is relevant, this 'correction' is numerically smaller than the 'main' term but may play a non-negligible role in the dynamics, as aforementioned. According to our experience, *this correction is very important for accurate* ro-vibrational spectroscopy (see [4, 183, 192] for instance) but of minor importance for the calculation of the photo-absorption spectra involving conical intersections (see [126] for instance), which, in general, are not of high resolution.

The combination of the polyspherical approach and the previously developed rigidly and adiabatically constrained models presents several advantages. First, the polyspherical approach straightforwardly provides the 'main' term in a form adapted to the methods used to solve the Schrödinger equation. Second, as far as the 'correction' is concerned, the situation is a little bit more complex: this correction can be very complicated, and above all, this correction, even when using polyspherical coordinates, cannot be written as a sum of products of mono-mode operators, because the inverse of the matrices Σ'' will in general depend on the coordinates in a complicated non-separable way (see Eqs. (234,240) of Section IVC for examples). It is all the more important to exploit the polyspherical coordinates. Indeed, if one uses the polyspherical coordinates in orthogonal coordinates along with the separation into subsystems of Section IID, it is easy to almost separate the active coordinates from the inactive coordinates in the free KEO (see Eq. (228) of Section IVC for an example). In other words, almost all the terms in the matrices σ'' and Ω in Eq. (181) are equal to zero so that the correction almost vanishes. If the correction is neglected, the effect of the latter approximation is drastically reduced. If it is not neglected, for instance to calculate accurate infra-red spectra, it is, in general, much easier to derive \hat{T}_{corr} (in polyspherical coordinates than in another set of curvilinear coordinates): see Section IVC for illustrations.

C. Examples of applications

This Section is devoted to the presentation of different applications using the results obtained in Section IV A combined with the polyspherical approach.

- 1. Rigid- and Adiabatic-constraint approaches: the water dimer
- (i) Exact operator:

For van der Waals polymers, a decoupling between the intra- and intermolecular modes

FIG. 21: Jacobi description of the water dimer.



is often very relevant since the intramolecular coordinates move much faster than the intermolecular ones. In Ref. [192], the determination of the water dimer potential energy surface via direct inversion of spectroscopic data was reported. An adiabatic model was adopted. A set of five Jacobi vectors was chosen. This set is depicted in Figure 21.

The dimer is split into two subsystems that are simply the two molecules of water. As far as the exact KEO is concerned, one obtains in view of Eqs. (125,126) of Section II D

$$2\hat{T} = \frac{\hat{P}_{R_1}^{\dagger}\hat{P}_{R_1}}{\mu_1} + 2\sum_{j=1}^2 \hat{T}^{(j)} + \frac{(\hat{\vec{J}}^{\dagger} - (\sum_{j=1}^2 \hat{\vec{J}}^{(j)})) \cdot (\hat{\vec{J}} - (\sum_{j=1}^2 \hat{\vec{J}}^{(j)}))}{\mu_1 R_1^2}, \qquad (222)$$

with

$$2\hat{T}^{(j)} = \sum_{k=1}^{2} \frac{\hat{P}_{R_{k}^{(j)}}^{\dagger} \hat{P}_{R_{k}^{(j)}}}{\mu_{k}^{(j)}} + \frac{((\hat{J}^{(j)}^{\dagger} - \hat{\vec{L}}_{1}^{(j)})(\hat{\vec{J}}^{(j)} - \hat{\vec{L}}_{1}^{(j)}))_{BF^{(j)}}}{\mu_{2}^{(j)} R_{2}^{(j)^{2}}} + \frac{(\hat{\vec{L}}_{1}^{(j)}^{\dagger} \hat{\vec{L}}_{1}^{(j)})_{BF^{(j)}}}{\mu_{1}^{(j)} R_{1}^{(j)^{2}}}, \quad (223)$$

where μ_i denotes the reduced mass associated with $\vec{R_i}$ and $\mu_k^{(j)}$, the reduced mass associated with $\vec{R_k}^{(j)}$. They read

$$\mu_{1}^{(j)} = \frac{2m_{H}m_{O}}{2m_{H} + m_{O}}, \ j = 1, 2;$$

$$\mu_{2}^{(j)} = m_{H}/2, \ j = 1, 2;$$

$$\mu_{1} = \frac{2m_{H} + m_{O}}{2}.$$
(224)

Furthermore, we have (see Eq. (124) of Section II D)

$$\begin{bmatrix} \hat{L}_{1\,x^{BF}(j)} \\ \hat{L}_{1\,y^{BF}(j)} \\ \hat{L}_{1\,z^{BF}(j)} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} -\cot \theta_1^{BF^{(j)}} \hat{J}_{z^{BF}(j)}^{(j)} \\ -i \frac{\partial}{\partial \theta_1^{BF(j)}} \\ \hat{J}_{z^{BF}(j)} \end{bmatrix} .$$
(225)

The six intramolecular coordinates are the four lengths $R_1^{(1)}$, $R_2^{(1)}$, $R_1^{(2)}$, $R_2^{(2)}$, and the two angles $\theta_1^{BF^{(1)}}$ and $\theta_1^{BF^{(2)}}$ (see Section II D (ii) for their precise definition). The six intermolecular coordinates are R_1 , and the Euler angles $\alpha^{(1)}$, $\beta^{(1)}$, $\gamma^{(1)}$, $\beta^{(2)}$, $\gamma^{(2)}$. $\alpha^{(2)} = \gamma$, i.e. $\alpha^{(2)}$ defines the $((x^{BF}, z^{BF}); x^{BF} > 0)$ half-plane.

(ii) Rigidly constrained operator (rigid rotor):

Before adopting an adiabatic model, as in Ref. [192], the water dimer was studied by means of a rigid monomer description for each molecule of water (see Ref. [4, 193], for instance), following the general formulation of Brocks *et al.* [60] for van der Waals dimers. In order to derive the corresponding rigid operator, let us go back to the exact formulation. Since we have used a polyspherical description of the water dimer with orthogonal vectors along with the separation into subsystems, it results in an exact KEO, Eqs. (222,223), in which there is almost no coupling between the active coordinates (the six intermolecular coordinates) and the inactive coordinates (the six intramolecular coordinates). More precisely, in view of Eqs. (222,223), we see that $R_1^{(1)}$, $R_2^{(1)}$, $R_1^{(2)}$, $R_2^{(2)}$ are not coupled with the other coordinates; that $\theta_1^{BF^{(1)}}$ is coupled with $\hat{J}_{x^{BF}^{(1)}}^{(1)}$, $\hat{J}_{y^{BF}^{(1)}}^{(1)}$, $\hat{J}_{z^{BF}^{(1)}}^{(1)}$, only; and that $\theta_1^{BF^{(2)}}$ is coupled with $\hat{J}_{x^{BF}^{(2)}}^{(2)}$, $\hat{J}_{z^{BF}^{(2)}}^{(2)}$, $\hat{J}_{z^{BF}^{(2)}}^{(2)}$, only. It means that freezing the intramolecular coordinate coordinate coordinate coordinate coordinate coordinate coordinate coordinate coordinate coordinates).

ordinates comes down to freezing the internal coordinates of each molecule of water taken separately. For each monomer, the KEO can be written as (see Eq. (181))

$$2\hat{T}^{(j)} = \begin{bmatrix} \hat{P}''^{(j)\dagger} \hat{J}^{(j)} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \Sigma''^{(j)} & \sigma''^{(j)T} \\ \sigma''^{(j)} & \Gamma^{(j)} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \hat{P}''^{(j)T} \\ \hat{J}^{(j)T} \end{bmatrix}, \qquad (226)$$

with $\hat{\boldsymbol{P}''}^{(j)} = \{\hat{P}_{R_1^{(j)}}, \hat{P}_{R_2^{(j)}}, \hat{P}_{\theta_1^{BF^{(j)}}}\}$ and with (we use Eqs. (223,225))

$$\boldsymbol{\Sigma}^{\prime\prime(j)} = \begin{bmatrix} \frac{1}{\mu_{1}^{(j)}} & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & \frac{1}{\mu_{2}^{(j)}} & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & \frac{1}{\mu_{1}^{(j)}R_{1}^{(j)2}} + \frac{1}{\mu_{2}^{(j)}R_{2}^{(j)2}} \end{bmatrix}, \qquad (227)$$
$$\boldsymbol{\sigma}^{\prime\prime(j)} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & \frac{1}{\mu_{2}^{(j)}R_{2}^{(j)2}} & 0 \end{bmatrix}, \qquad (228)$$

and

$$\boldsymbol{\Gamma}^{(j)} = \begin{bmatrix} \frac{1}{\mu_2^{(j)} R_2^{(j)^2}} & 0 & \frac{\cot \theta_1^{BF^{(j)}}}{\mu_2^{(j)} R_2^{(j)^2}} \\ 0 & \frac{1}{\mu_2^{(j)} R_2^{(j)^2}} & 0 \\ \frac{\cot \theta_1^{BF^{(j)}}}{\mu_2^{(j)} R_2^{(j)^2}} & 0 & \frac{1}{\sin^2 \theta_1^{BF^{(j)}} \mu_1^{(j)} R_1^{(j)^2}} + \frac{\cot^2 \theta_1^{BF^{(j)}}}{\mu_2^{(j)} R_2^{(j)^2}} \end{bmatrix}.$$
(229)

If we now subject each molecule of water (j = 1, 2) to the following rigid constraints:

$$R_{1}^{(j)} = R_{1}^{(j)}|_{eq},$$

$$R_{2}^{(j)} = R_{2}^{(j)}|_{eq},$$

$$\theta_{1}^{BF^{(j)}} = \theta_{1}^{BF^{(j)}}|_{eq} = \frac{\pi}{2};$$
(230)

where $|_{eq}$ means that the coordinate is fixed at its value at the equilibrium geometry. The 'main' term of the rigidly constrained operator reads (see Eqs. (218,230))

$$2\hat{T}_{main}^{(j)}|_{o} = \left[\hat{\boldsymbol{J}}\right]_{o}^{(j)} \left[\begin{array}{ccc} \frac{1}{\mu_{2}^{(j)}R_{2}^{(j)^{2}}}|_{o} & 0 & 0\\ 0 & \frac{1}{\mu_{2}^{(j)}R_{2}^{(j)^{2}}}|_{o} & 0\\ 0 & 0 & \frac{1}{\mu_{1}^{(j)}R_{1}^{(j)^{2}}}|_{o} \end{array} \right] \left[\hat{\boldsymbol{J}}\right]_{o}^{(j)T} \left],$$

$$(231)$$

and it is worth noting that the resulting coefficients are not the principal values of the inertia tensor of the water molecule. The 'correction' reads (see Eq. (220) and Eqs. (227,228))

$$2\hat{T}_{corr}^{(j)}|_{o} = -\begin{bmatrix} \hat{J}|_{o}^{(j)} \end{bmatrix} \boldsymbol{\sigma}^{\prime\prime(j)}|_{o} \boldsymbol{\Sigma}^{\prime\prime(j)}|_{o}^{-1} \boldsymbol{\sigma}^{\prime\prime(j)}|_{o}^{T} \begin{bmatrix} \hat{J}|_{o}^{(j)T} \end{bmatrix}$$
$$= -\begin{bmatrix} \hat{J}|_{o}^{(j)} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & \frac{\mu_{1}^{(j)}R_{1}^{(j)^{2}}}{\mu_{2}^{(j)}R_{2}^{(j)^{2}}(\mu_{1}^{(j)}R_{1}^{(j)^{2}} + \mu_{2}^{(j)}R_{2}^{(j)^{2}})}|_{o} & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \hat{J}|_{o}^{(j)T} \end{bmatrix}.$$
(232)

The final rigidly constrained operator reads

$$2\hat{T}|_{o} = \frac{\hat{P}_{R_{1}}^{\dagger}\hat{P}_{R_{1}}}{\mu_{1}} + 2\sum_{j=1}^{2}\hat{T}^{(j)}|_{o} + \frac{(\hat{\vec{J}}^{\dagger} - (\sum_{j=1}^{2}\hat{\vec{J}}^{(j)}) \cdot (\hat{\vec{J}} - (\sum_{j=1}^{2}\hat{\vec{J}}^{(j)}))}{\mu_{1}R_{1}^{2}}, \qquad (233)$$

with

$$2\hat{T}^{(j)}|_{o} = 2\hat{T}^{(j)}_{main}|_{o} + 2\hat{T}^{(j)}_{corr}|_{o}$$

$$= \left[\hat{J}|_{o}^{(j)}\right] \begin{bmatrix} \frac{1}{\mu_{2}^{(j)}R_{2}^{(j)^{2}}}|_{o} & 0 & 0\\ 0 & \frac{1}{\mu_{1}^{(j)}R_{1}^{(j)^{2}} + \mu_{2}^{(j)}R_{2}^{(j)^{2}}}|_{o} & 0\\ 0 & 0 & \frac{1}{\mu_{1}^{(j)}R_{1}^{(j)^{2}}}|_{o} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \hat{J}|_{o}^{(j)T} \end{bmatrix}.$$
(234)

The operator in Eq. (234) is the rigid rotor of the water molecule, i.e. the resulting coefficients are the principal values of the inertia tensor of the water molecule. The result

given by Eqs. (233,234) is a particular case of the general formulation of Brocks *et al.* [60] for van der Waals dimers.

(iii) Adiabatically constrained operator (flexible rotor):

In Ref. [192], it was shown that the flexibility of each water molecule plays a crucial role in the description of the hydrogen bond between the two molecules. A very relevant adiabatic formulation was adopted for the water dimer. Indeed, for the water dimer, a single quantum of excitation energy in one intramolecular mode of vibration is sufficient to break the hydrogen bond. This implies that only the ground vibrational state of each monomer has to be considered to study the rovibrational bound states of the dimer. Another possibility is to take into account the first excited vibrational state of each monomer alone if the dissociation of the dimer is to be considered. Such a situation is reminiscent of the Born-Oppenheimer approximation that allows one to confine the description of a bound molecule to one electronic state. Consequently, it turns out to be very relevant to define the adiabatic dependence of the inactive coordinates as follows. We first work out the vibrational equation for the six inactive coordinates (see Eq. (181) for the definition of Σ''):

$$\left(\frac{1}{2}\hat{\boldsymbol{P}}^{\prime\prime\dagger}\boldsymbol{\Sigma}^{\prime\prime}\,\hat{\boldsymbol{P}}^{\prime\prime}+\,V(\boldsymbol{q}^{\prime\prime};\boldsymbol{q}^{\prime})\right)\,\Phi_{n}(\boldsymbol{q}^{\prime\prime};\boldsymbol{q}^{\prime})=E_{n}(\boldsymbol{q}^{\prime})\,\Phi_{n}(\boldsymbol{q}^{\prime\prime};\boldsymbol{q}^{\prime})\,,\tag{235}$$

with q'' that collectively denotes $\{R_1^{(1)}, R_2^{(1)}, R_1^{(2)}, R_2^{(2)}, \theta_1^{BF^{(1)}}, \theta_1^{BF^{(2)}}\}$ and with q' that collectively denotes $\{R_1, \alpha^{(1)}, \beta^{(1)}, \gamma^{(1)}, \beta^{(2)}, \gamma^{(2)}\}$. The inactive coordinates are then adapted to the active ones depending on the intramolecular state to be considered (for instance, the ground state corresponds to n=0). In other words, Eq. (201) becomes

$$q_i'' = q_i''_{i|ad}(\mathbf{q}') = <\Phi_n(\mathbf{q}'';\mathbf{q}') \mid q_i'' \mid \Phi_n(\mathbf{q}'';\mathbf{q}') > ; i = 1, 2, 3.$$
(236)

 $q''_{i|ad}(q')$ is not known analytically but numerically on a grid. For each monomer, the KEO is given by Eq. (226) and if we now subject each molecule of water (j = 1, 2) to the adiabatic constraints of Eq. (236), the 'main' term of the adiabatically constrained operator for each water molecule (j = 1, 2) reads (see Eq. (219))

$$2\hat{T}_{main}^{(j)}|_{ad} = \left[\hat{\boldsymbol{J}}|_{ad}^{(j)}\right] \begin{bmatrix} \frac{1}{\mu_{2}^{(j)}R_{2}^{(j)^{2}}|_{ad}} & 0 & \frac{\cot\theta_{1}^{BF^{(j)}}}{\mu_{2}^{(j)}R_{2}^{(j)^{2}}|_{ad}} \\ 0 & \frac{1}{\mu_{2}^{(j)}R_{2}^{(j)^{2}}|_{ad}} & 0 \\ \frac{\cot\theta_{1}^{BF^{(j)}}}{\mu_{2}^{(j)}R_{2}^{(j)^{2}}|_{ad}} & 0 & \frac{1}{\sin^{2}\theta_{1}^{BF^{(j)}}\mu_{1}^{(j)}R_{1}^{(j)^{2}}|_{ad}} + \frac{\cot^{2}\theta_{1}^{BF^{(j)}}}{\mu_{2}^{(j)}R_{2}^{(j)^{2}}}|_{ad}} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \hat{\boldsymbol{J}}|_{ad}^{(j)T} \end{bmatrix}.$$

$$(237)$$

The 'correction' reads (see Eq. (221) and Eqs. (227,228))

$$2\hat{T}_{corr}^{(j)}|_{ad} = -\begin{bmatrix} \hat{J}|_{o}^{(j)} \end{bmatrix} \boldsymbol{\sigma}''^{(j)}|_{ad} \boldsymbol{\Sigma}''^{(j)}|_{ad}^{-1} \boldsymbol{\sigma}''^{(j)}|_{ad}^{T} \begin{bmatrix} \hat{J}|_{ad}^{(j)T} \end{bmatrix}$$
$$= -\begin{bmatrix} \hat{J}|_{ad}^{(j)} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & \frac{\mu_{1}^{(j)}R_{1}^{(j)^{2}}}{\mu_{2}^{(j)}R_{2}^{(j)^{2}}(\mu_{1}^{(j)}R_{1}^{(j)^{2}} + \mu_{2}^{(j)}R_{2}^{(j)^{2}})}|_{ad} & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \hat{J}|_{ad}^{(j)T} \end{bmatrix}.$$
(238)

The final adiabatically constrained operator reads

$$2\hat{T}|_{ad} = \frac{\hat{P}_{R_1}^{\dagger}\hat{P}_{R_1}}{\mu_1} + 2\sum_{j=1}^2 \hat{T}^{(j)}|_{ad} + \frac{(\hat{\vec{J}}^{\dagger} - (\sum_{j=1}^2 \hat{\vec{J}}^{(j)}^{\dagger})) \cdot (\hat{\vec{J}} - (\sum_{j=1}^2 \hat{\vec{J}}^{(j)}))}{\mu_1 R_1^2}, \qquad (239)$$

with the 'flexible' rotor

$$2\hat{T}^{(j)}|_{ad} = \left[\hat{\boldsymbol{J}}\right]_{ad}^{(j)} \left[\begin{array}{ccc} \frac{1}{\mu_{2}^{(j)}R_{2}^{(j)^{2}}}|_{ad} & 0 & \frac{\cot\theta_{1}^{BF^{(j)}}}{\mu_{2}^{(j)}R_{2}^{(j)^{2}}}|_{ad} \\ 0 & \frac{1}{\mu_{1}^{(j)}R_{1}^{(j)^{2}} + \mu_{2}^{(j)}R_{2}^{(j)^{2}}}|_{ad} & 0 \\ \frac{\cot\theta_{1}^{BF^{(j)}}}{\mu_{2}^{(j)}R_{2}^{(j)^{2}}}|_{ad} & 0 & \frac{1}{\sin^{2}\theta_{1}^{BF^{(j)}}\mu_{1}^{(j)}R_{1}^{(j)^{2}}}|_{ad} + \frac{\cot^{2}\theta_{1}^{BF^{(j)}}}{\mu_{2}^{(j)}R_{2}^{(j)^{2}}}|_{ad}} \right] \left[\hat{\boldsymbol{J}}\right]_{ad}^{(j)T} .$$

$$(240)$$

Let us point out that the functions $q''_{i|ad}(\mathbf{q}')$, and hence the matrix elements of Eqs (237,238,240) are not known analytically but are numerically defined on a grid. Interestingly enough, in Ref. [192], the extra-potential term of Eq. (217) was neglected: this term is, in general, numerically very small (see Ref. [72, 194, 195], for instance). The numerical results of Ref. [192] compared to experimental values have proved that the adiabatic model dramatically improves the rigid one for the water dimer.

2. The photo-induced non-adiabatic dynamics of ethene

In Ref. [196], Krawczyk et al. have computed the three lowest potential energy surfaces of ethene. Ethene has six atoms and its geometric configuration is, therefore, described by 12 internal coordinates. However, in order to make the investigation feasible, the authors considered only the six most important or 'active' coordinates. The determination of the active coordinates is achieved by screening many geometric parameters for the most important geometries (for instance, the stationary points of the potential energy surfaces). The geometric parameters and the corresponding coordinates that change the most must be retained as active coordinates, whereas the coordinates that remain approximately constant can be considered as inactive and frozen during the dynamics. In Ref. [196], the six active modes were torsion, C-C stretching, left and right scissoring and left and right wagging (pyramidalization). The left and right rockings and the four C-H stretches were ignored and their coordinates were fixed to their equilibrium positions, i.e. we have the case of a rigid constraint studied in Section IV A 1. The six active modes are parametrized by six coordinates, which are: φ , the torsional angle; r, the C-C distance; α_r , the right scissor angle; α_l , the left scissor angle; ϑ_r , the right pyramidalization angle; ϑ_l , the left pyramidalization angle. The PES were transformed to a diabatic representation and dynamical calculations were performed in Ref. [197] using the multi-configuration time-dependent Hartree (MCTDH) method. Unfortunately the KEO, obtained by inversion of the 6×6 matrix: $\sum_{\alpha=1}^{18} \frac{\partial x_{\alpha}}{\partial q_i} \frac{\partial x_{\alpha}}{\partial q_j}$ where the x_{α} are mass-weighted Cartesian coordinates of the six atoms of the molecule, and $q_i \in \{\varphi, r, \alpha_r, \vartheta_r, \vartheta_l\}$ (see Eqs. (2,5,6) of Section II A), is unsuitable for the MCTDH propagation. Indeed, it cannot be factorised as a sum of products of one-dimensional operators. Therefore, several simplifications have been added to the KEO.

In Ref. [126], we have revisited the problem and proposed a set of five vectors, which are depicted in Fig. 22, and the corresponding 12 standard polyspherical coordinates: (R_1, R_2, R_3)

FIG. 22: Mixed Jacobi/valence description of the C_2H_4 system (see the text).



R₃, R₄, R₅, θ_1^{BF} , θ_2^{BF} , θ_3^{BF} , θ_4^{BF} , φ_1^{BF} , φ_2^{BF} , φ_3^{BF}). The corresponding matrix **M** reads

$$\mathbf{M} = \begin{bmatrix} \frac{1}{m_C} + \frac{1}{2m_H} & 0 & 0 & 0 & -\frac{1}{m_C} \\ 0 & \frac{1}{m_C} + \frac{1}{2m_H} & 0 & 0 & -\frac{1}{m_C} \\ 0 & 0 & \frac{2}{m_H} & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & \frac{2}{m_H} & 0 \\ -\frac{1}{m_C} & -\frac{1}{m_C} & 0 & 0 & \frac{2}{m_C} \end{bmatrix} .$$
 (241)

This particular choice of the vectors was motivated by the attempt to obtain coordinates that are as close as possible to the ones used in Ref. [197] (φ , r, α_r , α_l , ϑ_r , ϑ_l). Indeed, since the potential energy surface is given only in terms of six degrees of freedom, we subject the system to the following constraints:

$$\theta_{3}^{BF} = \frac{\pi}{2},
\theta_{4}^{BF} = \frac{\pi}{2},
\varphi_{2}^{BF} = \frac{\pi}{2},
\varphi_{1}^{BF} = \frac{3\pi}{2} + \varphi_{3}^{BF},
R_{3} = 2\sqrt{R_{CH}^{2} - R_{1}^{2}},
R_{4} = 2\sqrt{R_{CH}^{2} - R_{2}^{2}},$$
(242)

with the distance R_{CH} being fixed to its equilibrium geometry. After a simple change of coordinates (for instance $\varphi_1^{BF'} = \varphi_1^{BF} - \varphi_3^{BF}$) that does not affect the 'main' term of the final KEO, the constraint for $\varphi_1^{BF'}$, R_3 , and R_4 can be expressed as a rigid one. The relation between our polyspherical coordinates and the six degrees of freedom used in Ref. [197] is then simply given by

$$r = R_5,$$

$$\vartheta_r = \theta_2^{BF},$$

$$\vartheta_l = \theta_1^{BF},$$

$$\alpha_r = 2 \arccos(R_2/R_{CH}),$$

$$\alpha_l = 2 \arccos(R_1/R_{CH}),$$

$$\varphi = \varphi_3^{BF},$$

where R_{CH} denotes the C-H equilibrium distance.

The fact that we use R_1 and R_2 (see Figure 22 for their definition) instead of the two scissor angles, α_r and α_l , between the C-H bonds allows us to reformulate the problem in terms of polyspherical coordinates. The use of polyspherical coordinates allows a direct obtaining of the main term of the KEO in a form perfectly adapted to MCTDH. For C₂H₄, when using the elementary volume element $d\tau = dR_3 dR_4 dR_5 d\theta_1^{BF} d\theta_1^{BF} d\theta_2^{BF} d\varphi_3^{BF}$ and assuming J = 0, the main term, $1/2 \left[\hat{\boldsymbol{P}'} |_o^{\dagger} \right] \boldsymbol{\Sigma'} |_o \left[\hat{\boldsymbol{P}'} |_o^T \right]$, is given by Eq. (11) of Ref. [126] (we used Eqs. (111,C4)). The 'correction', $-1/2 \left[\hat{\boldsymbol{P}'} |_o^{\dagger} \right] \boldsymbol{\Omega} |_o^T \boldsymbol{\Sigma''} |_o^{-1} \boldsymbol{\Omega} |_o \left[\hat{\boldsymbol{P}'} |_o^T \right]$ for J = 0, cannot be written as a sum of products of mono-mode operators. In Ref. [126], this problem was removed by introducing an additional reasonable approximation. We fix $\boldsymbol{\Omega} |_o^T \boldsymbol{\Sigma''} |_o^{-1} \boldsymbol{\Omega} |_o$ to its value at the equilibrium geometry: it is not only the inactive coordinates but also the

active coordinates that are fixed in the correction. This (approximate) correction term was provided by TNUM [68] and reads:

$$T_{corr'} = 0.000019889 \frac{\partial^2}{\partial R_5^2} - 0.0000138299 \frac{\partial}{\partial R_2} \frac{\partial}{\partial R_5} - 0.0000138299 \frac{\partial}{\partial R_1} \frac{\partial}{\partial R_5} + 0.0000480826 \frac{\partial^2}{\partial \theta_2^{BF2}} + 0.0000480826 \frac{\partial^2}{\partial \theta_1^{BF2}},$$
(243)

where atomic units are assumed.

An improvement, in the future, could be to make a Taylor expansion of $\Omega|_o^T \Sigma''|_o^{-1} \Omega|_o$ using the numerical values given by TNUM or to calculate this term analytically and to refit it, with Mathematica for instance, as a sum of products of mono-mode operators. In Ref. [126], it was shown that the effect of this correction on the dynamics is small. This study emphasizes that 'the general structure' of the polyspherical coordinates should be kept in mind when choosing the active coordinates. In other words, when the active coordinates are a subset of polyspherical coordinates, it is straightforward to obtain the part of the KEO that carries the essential part of the physics and in a form that can be very easily implemented.

3. General strategies for very large systems

(i) The example of the cationic complex $[CpRh(PH_3)H(C_2H_4)]^+$

In Section IVA, we have presented a rigorous way to derive the KEO of systems subjected to constraints, i.e. for which the dynamics is performed within a subset of active coordinates. We have explained, in Section IVB, why it is advantageous to combine the constraints with the polyspherical approach. Finally, we have given some illustrations in Section IVC. If we summarize our findings, we can say that:

(1) the constrained operator can be split into two parts: the 'main' term and the
'correction'.

(2) If the choice of the coordinates, active and inactive, is judicious, the 'main' term carries the dominant part of the physics and the correction is numerically smaller. However, this correction must be taken into account if one wants to reach high accuracy.

(3) It is advantageous to choose the active coordinates as a subset of polyspherical coordinates. Indeed, (i) the polyspherical coordinates straightforwardly provide the main term in a form that can be very easily implemented. (ii) If one chooses a judicious set of polyspherical coordinates, for instance a parametrization of Jacobi vectors combined with the separation into subsystems of Section II D, one strongly minimizes the coupling between the active and the inactive coordinates and, therefore, the effect of the 'correction' of the KEO on the dynamics.

The latter point is illustrated in the present Section: if one focuses on the dynamics within a small part of a very large molecular system, it is judicious to successively divide the whole molecule into smaller subsystems. In other words, one applies the 'separation into subsystems' of Section IID several times so that the subset of the active coordinates is almost decoupled from the rest of the molecule in the KEO. In Ref. [198], this strategy was adopted to calculate the KEO in order to undertake a first quantum dynamical study of migratory insertion and hydrogen elimination in a representative metal complex $[CpRh(PH_3)H(C_2H_4)]^+$. As for ethene, it was first necessary to identify a set of relevant coordinates. This is achieved by screening the relevant stationary points of the potential energy surface. The choice of the active coordinates therefore depends on the potential operator and not on the KEO, but it is always advantageous to translate them into the 'language of the polyspherical coordinates', i.e. to identify a subset of polyspherical coordinates as active coordinates.

The system is depicted in Figure 23 and separated into two subsystems '1' (HRhC₂H₄) and '2' (PH₃C₅H₅). $\overrightarrow{R12} = \overrightarrow{G_1G_2}$ is the Jacobi vector joining G₁ the center of mass of the subsystem '1' (HRhC₂H₄) to G₂ the center of mass of the subsystem '2' (PH₃C₅H₅).

For the whole system $(HRhC_2H_4PH_3C_5H_5)$, the exact kinetic energy operator then reads

FIG. 23: Successive separation into subsystems of the metal complex $[CpRh(PH_3)H(C_2H_4)]^+$. G₂ is the center of mass of the subsystem (PH₃C₅H₅).



$$2\hat{T} = \frac{\hat{P}_{R_{12}}^{\dagger}\hat{P}_{R_{12}}}{\mu_{12}} + 2\sum_{j=1}^{2}\hat{T}^{(j)} + \frac{(\hat{\vec{J}}^{\dagger} - (\sum_{j=1}^{2}\hat{\vec{J}}^{(j)})) \cdot (\hat{\vec{J}} - (\sum_{j=1}^{2}\hat{\vec{J}}^{(j)}))}{\mu_{12}R_{12}^{2}}, \qquad (244)$$

with

$$\mu_{12} = \frac{m_{PC_5H_8}m_{RhC_2H_5}}{m_{RhPC_7H_{13}}}.$$
(245)

The subsystem '1' can also be separated into two new subsystems: RhH and C_2H_4 that are linked by a Jacobi vector \vec{R} joining G_{C2H4} the center of mass of C_2H_2 to G_{RhH} the center of mass of RhH, which can be approximated as $G_{RhH} \simeq Rh$ (see Figure 23). The kinetic energy $\hat{T}^{(j)}$ reads

$$2\hat{T}^{(1)} = \frac{\hat{P}_{R}^{\dagger}\hat{P}_{R}}{\mu} + \frac{\hat{P}_{R_{H}}^{\dagger}\hat{P}_{R_{H}}}{\mu_{R_{H}}} + \frac{\hat{\vec{L}}^{\dagger}\hat{\vec{L}}}{\mu_{R_{H}}R_{R_{H}}^{2}} + 2\hat{T}_{C2H4} + \frac{(\hat{\vec{J}}^{\dagger} - (\hat{\vec{L}}^{\dagger} + \hat{\vec{J}'}^{\dagger})) \cdot (\hat{\vec{J}} - (\hat{\vec{L}} + \hat{\vec{J}'}))}{\mu R^{2}}.$$
(246)

 \vec{L} is the angular momentum associated with \overrightarrow{RhH} , $\vec{J'}$ is the total angular momentum of C_2H_4 , the vector \vec{RhH} is described by three spherical coordinates: R_H , θ , and φ . In addition, we have

$$\mu_R = \frac{m_{RhH} m_{C_2 H_4}}{m_{RhHC_2 H_4}}.$$
(247)

 μ_{R_H} is the mass of the H atom. The kinetic energy operator of $T_{C_2H_4}$ could be directly derived in terms of polyspherical coordinates from the general expression given by Eqs. (111,C4). If we keep only six internal polyspherical coordinates, as suggested in Ref. [198], R_H , θ , φ , R (the length of $\overrightarrow{GG_{RhH}}$), R_{CC} (the distance between the two C atoms in C₂H₂), and γ (the third Euler angle of the subsystem C₂H₂ that is depicted in Figure), the 'main' term of the final KEO for total J = 0 reads

$$\begin{split} 2T &= -\frac{\hbar^2}{\mu_H} \frac{\partial^2}{\partial R_H^2} - \frac{\hbar^2}{\mu_R} \frac{\partial^2}{\partial R^2} - \frac{\hbar^2}{\mu_{CC}} \frac{\partial^2}{\partial R_{CC}^2} \\ &- \hbar^2 (\frac{1}{m_H R_H^2} + \frac{1}{\mu_R R^2}) (\frac{1}{\sin \theta} \frac{\partial}{\partial \theta} \sin \theta \frac{\partial}{\partial \theta} + \frac{1}{\sin \theta^2} \frac{\partial^2}{\partial \varphi^2}) \\ &+ \frac{(2p_\gamma - i\hbar \cot \gamma)i\hbar (-\cos \varphi \frac{\partial}{\partial \theta} + \sin \varphi \cot \theta \frac{\partial}{\partial \varphi})}{\mu_R R^2} \\ &- \hbar^2 (\frac{1}{\mu_{CC} R_{CC}^2} + \frac{1}{\mu_R R^2}) (\frac{1}{\sin \gamma} \frac{\partial}{\partial \gamma} \sin \gamma \frac{\partial}{\partial \gamma}) \\ &+ \frac{p_{\varphi}^2}{\sin^2 \gamma} (\frac{1}{\mu_{R_{CC}} R_{CC}^2} + \frac{1}{\mu_R R^2}) - 2 \frac{p_{\varphi}^2}{\mu_R R^2} \\ &- \frac{\cot \gamma p_{\varphi} (\cos \varphi \cot \theta p_{\varphi} + \sin \varphi p_{\theta}) + (\cos \varphi \cot \theta p_{\varphi} + \sin \varphi p_{\theta}) \cot \gamma p_{\varphi}}{\mu_R R^2} \,, \end{split}$$

(248)

with the following volume element:

$$d\tau = dR_H \, dR \, dR_{CC} \, d\gamma \, d\varphi \, \sin \theta \, d\theta \,. \tag{249}$$

In Ref. [198], the 'correction' and the extra-potential term were neglected. The successive separation into subsystems and the use of Jacobi vectors joining the different subsystems (\vec{R}_{12}, \vec{R}) allows the active coordinates to strongly decouple the active coordinates from the rest of the system in the KEO. The use of the polyspherical coordinates yields a final expression of the 'main' term that is not too complicated.

(ii) Large van der Waals clusters

In this last Section, we sketch how it is possible to combine the polyspherical coordinates with other families of coordinates when the system is separated into subsystems. Under particular conditions, it is indeed possible to directly make use of KEOs published in the literature within the polyspherical approach: the KEO in hyperspherical coordinates for a tri-atomic system and the Watson KEO in normal coordinates. In this Section, the separation into active and inactive coordinates does not play a major role. However, since we use almost all the results presented before (the properties of the angular momenta highlighted in Section IIB2, the separation into subsystems, the rigid and flexible rotors, etc...), it is sensible that this Section appears at the end of the review.

(1) Introduction of hyperspherical coordinates in NH_3 :

Before carrying on, it is important to be made clear that the polyspherical approach possesses properties that can be (and have been) exploited for other kinds of coordinates than polyspherical coordinates. One example is the calculation of the vibrational levels of NH_3 reported in Ref. [77]. For ammonia, the system had been separated into two subsystems: the N atom and the H_3 subsystem. If the system is parametrized by the set of three Jacobi vectors as shown in Figure 24, in view of Eqs. (125,126), the KEO reads

$$2\hat{T} = \frac{\hat{P}_{R_1}^{\dagger}\hat{P}_{R_1}}{\mu_1} + 2\hat{T}^{(1)} + \frac{(\hat{\vec{J}}^{\dagger} - \hat{\vec{J}}^{(1)}) \cdot (\hat{\vec{J}} - \hat{\vec{J}}^{(1)})}{\mu_1 R_1^2}, \qquad (250)$$

with

$$2\hat{T}^{(1)} = \sum_{k=1}^{2} \frac{\hat{P}_{R_{k}^{(1)}}^{\dagger} \hat{P}_{R_{k}^{(1)}}}{\mu_{k}^{(1)}} + \sum_{k=1}^{2} \frac{\hat{\vec{L}}_{k}^{(1)}}{\mu_{k}^{(1)} R_{k}^{(1)^{2}}}.$$
(251)

 $(\mu_1 = \frac{3m_H m_N}{3m_H + m_N}, \ \mu_1^{(1)} = \frac{m_H}{2}, \ \mu_2^{(1)} = \frac{2m_H}{3})$ However, in Ref. [77, 199], we preferred to parametrize the H₃ subsystem in terms of hyperspherical coordinates [200, 201] instead of polyspherical coordinates. The hyperspherical coordinates have the advantage that the three atoms are treated fully equivalently. The KEO in hyperspherical coordinates for a tri-atomic system is well-known [200, 201] and is given by:

FIG. 24: Jacobi description of NH₃: G_{H2} is the center of mass of H₂, G_{H3} is the center of mass of the H₃ subsystem.



$$\hat{T}^{(1)} = -\frac{\hbar^2}{2\mu\varrho^5}\frac{\partial}{\partial\varrho}\varrho^5\frac{\partial}{\partial\varrho} - \frac{\hbar^2}{2\mu\varrho^2}\left[\frac{4}{\sin 2\theta}\frac{\partial}{\partial\theta}\sin 2\theta\frac{\partial}{\partial\theta} + \frac{1}{\sin^2\theta}\frac{\partial^2}{\partial\varphi^2}\right] + \frac{\hat{J}^{(1)\,2}_{x^{PAS}}}{\mu\varrho^2(1-\sin\theta)} + \frac{\hat{J}^{(1)\,2}_{y^{PAS}}}{\mu\varrho^2(1+\sin\theta)} + \frac{\hat{J}^{(1)\,2}_{z^{PAS}}}{2\mu\varrho^2\sin^2\theta} - \frac{i\hbar\cos\theta}{\mu\varrho^2\sin^2\theta}\hat{J}^{(1)}_{z^{PAS}}\frac{\partial}{\partial\varphi},$$
(252)

with

$$\begin{array}{ll} 0 & \leq \varrho \,, \\ 0 & \leq \theta \leq \ \pi/2 \,, \\ 0 & \leq \varphi \leq \ 2\pi \,, \\ \mu & = \frac{m_H}{\sqrt{3}} \,, \end{array}$$

where PAS denotes the instantaneous principal axis system of H_3 . ρ and $\{\theta, \varphi\}$ define the size and the shape of the H_3 triangle, respectively. They are defined such as

$$\begin{split} R_{1x^{PAS}}/d &= \rho \cos\left(\theta/2 - \pi/4\right) \cos\varphi \,, \\ R_{1y^{PAS}}/d &= -\rho \sin\left(\theta/2 - \pi/4\right) \sin\varphi \,, \\ R_{2x^{PAS}} * d &= \rho \cos\left(\theta/2 - \pi/4\right) \sin\varphi \,, \\ R_{2y^{PAS}} * d &= \rho \sin\left(\theta/2 - \pi/4\right) \cos\varphi \,, \end{split}$$

with d a scaling factor that is equal to 1.07457 for an equal mass tri-atomic system [200, 201] (H₃ is a 'equal mass system' since the three atoms have the same mass). $\vec{J}^{(1)}$ is a function of three internal Euler angles $\alpha^{(1)}, \beta^{(1)}, \gamma^{(1)}$ allowing the localization of the H₃ PAS with respect to the E_2 frame. Since H₃ is not involved in the definition of the E_2 frame (the E_2 frame is specified by \vec{R}_1 only), the E_2 -components of $\vec{J}^{(1)}$ have a regular expression and after applying the three Euler rotations (see Eqs. (69,70)), one obtains:

$$\begin{bmatrix} \hat{J}_{x^{PAS}}^{(1)} \\ \hat{J}_{y^{PAS}}^{(1)} \\ \hat{J}_{z^{PAS}}^{(1)} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} -\frac{\cos\gamma^{(1)}}{\sin\beta^{(1)}} & \sin\gamma^{(1)} & \cot\beta^{(1)} \cot\gamma^{(1)} \\ \frac{\sin\gamma^{(1)}}{\sin\beta^{(1)}} & \cos\gamma^{(1)} & -\cot\beta^{(1)} \sin\gamma^{(1)} \\ 0 & 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \frac{1}{i} \frac{\partial}{\partial\alpha^{(1)}} \\ \frac{1}{i} \frac{\partial}{\partial\beta^{(1)}} \\ \frac{1}{i} \frac{\partial}{\partial\gamma^{(1)}} \end{bmatrix}.$$
(253)

The third Euler angle is chosen such that $\gamma = \alpha^{(1)}$ (Note that, for the first time, we no longer use the definition of the BF frame as in Sec. II C1 (i)). The KEO is given by Eqs. (250,252,253): the expression of the PAS-components of $\vec{J}^{(1)}$ (Eq. (253)) is unaffected by the choice $\gamma = \alpha^{(1)}$ and the BF-components of $\vec{J}^{(1)}$ are obtained from Eq. (253) along with Eqs. (69,70). The fact that we use the KEO in hyperspherical coordinates for a tri-atomic system for $\hat{T}^{(1)}$ and that we do not change the rest of the KEO comes from the fact that \vec{R}_1 originates from the center of mass of H₃. The correctness of the final KEO (Eqs. (250,252,253)) was checked by using the expression of Podolsky from Eq. (2) along with Mathematica. The hyperspherical coordinates were introduced in order to keep the full symmetry of the system and to work in each irreducible representation of the $D_{3h}(M)^2$ permutation inversion group of the molecule [202]. In addition, R_1 provides a good reaction coordinate for the umbrella inversion (see Ref. [77] for how to distinguish the two isomers), and ρ a good coordinate to describe the symmetric stretching mode of vibration.

(2) Introduction of hyperspherical coordinates for the water trimer:

Similarly, in Ref. [82], for the water trimer, we proposed to parametrize the three relative positions of the subsystems (what we called the 'remaining' vectors in Sec. II D (i)) by hyper-

spherical coordinates instead of polyspherical coordinates. Indeed, all the parametrizations proposed in Sec. IID for the water trimer (see Figures 8, 9, 10, 11) break the symmetry of permutation of the three monomers. If one wants to keep this symmetry, a solution is to start from the Jacobi vectors of Figure 8 (or Figure 9) and to parametrize the three 'remaining' vectors by hyperspherical instead of polyspherical coordinates. The KEO in Jacobi polyspherical coordinates is given by Eqs. (125,126) with n = 3. Now, it should be emphasized that the three 'remaining' vectors originate from or point towards the centers of mass of the three subsystems: there is no coupling in the matrix \mathbf{M} between the n-1 'remaining' vectors and the vectors of the subsystems (like in Eqs. (130,131)). Consequently, $\hat{T} - \sum_{j=1}^{3} \hat{T}^{(j)}$ is, formally, identical to the KEO of a system of three particles except that $\hat{\vec{J}}$ is replaced by $\hat{\vec{J}} - \hat{\vec{L}}$ with $\hat{\vec{L}} = \sum_{j=1}^{3} \hat{\vec{J}}^{(j)}$ (we recall that $\hat{\vec{J}}^{(j)}$ is the total angular momentum of the *j*-th subsystem). The three 'particles' are not three atoms but three 'fictitious' particles, G_1 , G_2 and G_3 (we recall that G_j is the center of mass of the *j*-th subsystem). The mass associated with G_j is equal to the mass of the *j*-th subsystem : $m_O + 2m_H$. Therefore, if we use hyperspherical (instead of polyspherical) coordinates to parametrize the three 'remaining' vectors, we simply have to rewrite Eq. (125) in terms of the hyperspherical coordinates associated with G_1, G_2, G_3 . Therefore, the new KEO reads

$$\hat{T} = -\frac{\hbar^2}{2\mu\varrho^5} \frac{\partial}{\partial\varrho} \varrho^5 \frac{\partial}{\partial\varrho} - \frac{\hbar^2}{2\mu\varrho^2} \left[\frac{4}{\sin 2\theta} \frac{\partial}{\partial\theta} \sin 2\theta \frac{\partial}{\partial\theta} + \frac{1}{\sin^2\theta} \frac{\partial^2}{\partial\varphi^2} \right] \\
+ \frac{(\hat{J} - \hat{L})^2_{x^{PAS}}}{\mu\varrho^2(1 - \sin\theta)} + \frac{(\hat{J} - \hat{L})^2_{y^{PAS}}}{\mu\varrho^2(1 + \sin\theta)} + \frac{(\hat{J} - \hat{L})^2_{z^{PAS}}}{2\mu\varrho^2 \sin^2\theta} - \frac{i\hbar\cos\theta}{\mu\varrho^2 \sin^2\theta} (\hat{J} - \hat{L})_{z^{PAS}} \frac{\partial}{\partial\varphi} \\
+ \sum_{j=1}^3 \hat{T}^{(j)},$$
(254)

with

$$\begin{array}{lll} 0 & \leq \varrho \,, \\ 0 & \leq \theta \leq & \pi/2 \\ 0 & \leq \varphi \leq & 2\pi \,, \\ \mu & = \frac{2m_H + m_O}{\sqrt{3}} \,. \end{array}$$

In Eq. (254), PAS denotes the instantaneous principal axis system of $\{G_1, G_2, G_3\}$, which is chosen as the BF frame of the system. ρ and $\{\theta, \varphi\}$ define the size and the shape of the $\{G_1, G_2, G_3\}$ triangle, respectively. $\hat{T}^{(j)}$ is given by Eq. (126) or by Eqs. (B5,B6,B7) if each subsystem is parametrized by non-orthogonal vectors. $\hat{T}^{(j)}$ could also be a rigid (flexible) rotor of each monomer if the intramolecular motions are rigidly (adiabatically) constrained.

Again, we repeat that $\hat{T} - \sum_{j=1}^{3} \hat{T}^{(j)}$ in Eq. (254) is simply the KEO of a system of three particles in hyperspherical coordinates [200, 201] except that:

(1) the total angular momentum $\hat{\vec{J}}$ is replaced by $\hat{\vec{J}} - \hat{\vec{L}} = \hat{\vec{J}} - \sum_{j=1}^{3} \hat{\vec{J}}^{(j)}$.

(2) the three 'particles' are not three atoms but three 'fictitious' particles, G_1 , G_2 and G_3 . The mass associated with G_j is equal to the mass of the *j*-th subsystem : $m_O + 2m_H$.

The introduction of the hyperspherical coordinates that describe the relative positions of the three monomers allows the full symmetry of the system to be preserved. In particular, the definition of the BF frame for the whole system is different from the definition in the original formulation of the polyspherical approach (Sec. II C 1 (i)). The BF frame is now the instantaneous principal axis system of $\{G_1, G_2, G_3\}$: the symmetry of permutation of the three monomers is kept since no molecule plays a particular role in the definition of the BF frame. The overall rotation of each subsystem is parametrized by three Euler angles with respect to the new BF frame and, since the vectors in each subsystems play no role in the definition of the BF frame (as before), the expression of the projections of $\hat{J}^{(j)}$ onto the BF frame is given by the usual formulae (Eq. (128)). Finally, let us mention that it could be possible to use, instead of the three hyperspherical coordinates, Pekeris coordinates (corresponding to the three distances between the three 'fictitious' particles, G₁, G₂ and G₃) as proposed by Wang and Carrington for van der Waals trimers [203, 204].

(3) Generalization of the previous results:

The results presented above are of general character and can be used to combine the polyspherical coordinates with other families of coordinates. For instance, for large van der Waals clusters, it is possible to envision the use of normal coordinates to describe the relative motions of the centers of mass of the different subsystems, since the normal coordinates simplify the final expression of the KEO. Let us separate the system into n subsystems as in Sec. II D.

In the formulation that follows two conditions must be satisfied (note that they were already satisfied for the water trimer in (2)):

(i) when the system is separated into subsystems, there is no coupling in the matrix \mathbf{M} between the *n*-1 'remaining' vectors $\hat{\vec{R}}_i$ and all the vectors of the subsystems. It corresponds to the case (2) of Sec. IID. In other word, the *n*-1 'remaining' vectors and the vectors in each subsystem can be orthogonal or non-orthogonal vectors but the 'remaining' vectors must originate from or point towards the centers of mass of the subsystems. (The matrix \mathbf{M} has a block-diagonal form as in Eq. (132) of Sec. IID.)

(ii) The BF frame is defined by the n-1 'remaining' vectors and the vectors in each subsystems play no role in its definition (before and *after* the coordinate transformation from the polyspherical coordinates to the new coordinates).

The condition (i) entails that $\hat{T} - \sum_{j=1}^{n} \hat{T}^{(j)}$ is, formally, identical to the KEO of an *n*atomic system except that \hat{J} is replaced by $\hat{J} - \hat{L}$ with $\hat{L} = \sum_{j=1}^{n} \hat{J}^{(j)}$ (we recall that $\hat{J}^{(j)}$ is the total angular momentum of the *j*-th subsystem). The centers of mass $(G_j, j = 1, ..., n)$ play the role of the 'atoms' and the mass associated with G_j is M_j , the total mass of the *j*-th subsystem. A simple coordinate transformation from the polyspherical coordinates parametrizing the *n*-1 'remaining' vectors to the normal coordinates associated with the centers of mass $(G_j, j = 1, ..., n)$ leads to the new KEO

$$\hat{T} = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\alpha,\beta=x,y,z} \left((\hat{J} - \hat{L})_{\alpha} - \hat{\pi}_{\alpha} \right) \mu_{\alpha\beta} \left((\hat{J} - \hat{L})_{\beta} - \hat{\pi}_{\beta} \right) - \frac{1}{2} \sum_{k=1}^{3n-6} \frac{\partial^2}{\partial Q_k^2} - \frac{1}{8} \sum_{\alpha=x,y,z} \mu_{\alpha\alpha} + \sum_{j=1}^n \hat{T}^{(j)},$$
(255)

where

$$\mu_{\alpha\beta} = \left(\mathbf{I}^{\prime-1}\right)_{\alpha\beta}, \quad \mathbf{I}^{\prime}_{\alpha\beta} = \mathbf{I}_{\alpha\beta} + \sum_{k,l,m=1}^{3n-6} \zeta^{\alpha}_{km} \zeta^{\beta}_{lm} Q_k Q_l \,, \tag{256}$$

and where $I_{\alpha\beta}$ is the inertia tensor and ζ_{km}^{α} are Coriolis parameters defined for example in [88]. The vibrational angular momentum terms, π_{α} , are

$$\hat{\pi}_{\alpha} = -i \sum_{k,l=1}^{3n-6} \zeta_{kl}^{\alpha} Q_k \frac{\partial}{\partial Q_l}.$$
(257)

The BF frame is specified by the positions of the centers of mass of the subsystems: in Eq. (255) its choice is free (it could be, for instance, the Eckart frame [111] of the $\{G_1, \ldots, G_n\}$ system). Eq. (255) is the Watson KEO [88] except that (1) the total angular momentum \hat{J} is replaced by $\hat{J} - \hat{L} = \hat{J} - \sum_{j=1}^{n} \hat{J}^{(j)}$. (2) The normal coordinates are the normal coordinates associated with $G_j; j = 1, \ldots, n$ (the centers of mass of the subsystems).

In addition, since the BF frame is specified only by the position of the centers of mass of the subsystems and, therefore, since the vectors in each subsystem play no role in the definition of the BF frame (condition (ii) above), the expression of the projections of $\hat{J}^{(j)}$ onto the BF frame is given by the usual formulae (Eq. (128)).

 $\hat{T}^{(j)}$ could be given by Eq. (126) or by Eqs. (B5,B6,B7). $\hat{T}^{(j)}$ could also be a rigid (flexible) rotor of each monomer if the intramolecular motions are rigidly (adiabatically) constrained.

Finally, for very large van der Waals clusters, it becomes possible to forget the separation of the overall rotation from the internal motions. The KEO simply reads

$$2\hat{T} = -\sum_{i=1,\dots,n-1} \sum_{\lambda=X,Y,Z} M_{ij} \frac{\partial}{\partial \lambda_i^{SF}} \frac{\partial}{\partial \lambda_j^{SF}} + 2\sum_{j=1}^n \hat{T}^{(j)}, \qquad (258)$$

where $\{X_i^{SF}, Y_i^{SF}, Z_i^{SF}\}$ are the Cartesian coordinates of the *i*-th 'remaining' vector in the SF frame. M_{ij} are the elements of the mass matrix **M** of Eq. (54). $\hat{T}^{(j)}$ could be given by Eq. (126) or by Eqs. (B5,B6,B7). As above, $\hat{T}^{(j)}$ could be a rigid (flexible) rotor of each monomer if the intramolecular motions are rigidly (adiabatically) constrained.

V. CONCLUSION AND OUTLOOK

In the last decades, important progress has been made in the development of quantum dynamics simulations. This has been made possible by the increase in computer power and, as importantly, the development of new efficient algorithms. In this context, the growing interest in systems presenting large amplitude motions calls for correct quantum-mechanical expressions of KEOs in curvilinear coordinates. The polyspherical approach recently developed and reviewed in the present paper was devised in order to obtain these operators in a systematic way. Numerous applications have already been performed using KEOs obtained from this approach (see Part III for an non-exhaustive list). These applications demonstrate conclusively that this approach can live up to its early promise of being capable of providing compact expressions of KEOs in a form well-adapted to the numerical approaches used in dynamics.

Looking ahead, we can say that the next step in the development of the polyspherical approach will probably be the implementation of the results presented in Part II of the present review, by way of an automatic procedure. Indeed, it should be possible to write a program that uses the polyspherical approach combined with the (successive) separation into subsystems. This program could give the explicit analytical expression of the KEO for any particular case and could even directly implement the operator in a code used to solve numerically the Schrödinger equation.

The polyspherical approach has given rise to many applications chiefly in the field of Infra-red spectroscopy (see Part III). Another goal will be the study of chemical processes for instance in photochemical reactivity involving conical intersections. As explained in the introduction of Part IV, the number of quantum mechanical simulations with curvilinear coordinates for these systems is rather limited because it is difficult to obtain the corresponding correct KEO. The results presented in Part IV could bring an important contribution in order to generalize the use of curvilinear coordinates in this domain.

Acknowledgements

F.G. thanks Prof. H.-D. Meyer for his strong support of this work and for having suggested to write the present review. The authors thank Prof. A. Nauts, Dr. B. Lasorne, Dr. M. Sanrey, Dr. G. Barg, Dr. F. Richter, and Dr. D. Lauvergnat for having read the manuscript very carefully and for their numerous corrections.

APPENDIX A: PROPERTIES OF THE PARTIAL ANGULAR MOMENTA

When defining the conformation of an N-particle system by N-1 vectors, one unavoidably comes across several angular momenta: not only the total angular momentum of the system but also the various partial angular momenta corresponding to the motion of the various vectors. All these momenta can, in addition, be referred to a variety of reference frames such as the so-called Body-Fixed (BF) frame whose origin coincides with the center of mass and whose axes rotate in a conventional manner when the particles move. The introduction of the projections onto the BF-axes is necessary when using the BF coordinate (see Sec. IIB2), but raises a new technical problem: while the projections of the angular momenta onto the SF-axes satisfy the usual commutation relations, and their action onto a basis set of spherical harmonics in terms of the SF spherical coordinates is well known (see for instance Ref. [109]), the projections of the same angular momenta onto the axes of a moving frame may satisfy anomalous, non-definite commutation relations [81].

We have shown elsewhere [81] that two cases must be distinguished: whether the vector is involved in the definition of the BF or not. Indeed, if a vector is not involved in the definition of a frame F, the expression for the projection of the corresponding angular momentum onto the F-axes expressed in the coordinates in this frame is identical to the usual one in a SF frame [58] (it should be stressed that this result is not trivial at all, see below). To be more specific, if \vec{R}_j is not involved in the definition of the BF frame, the projections of \vec{L}_j onto the BF-axes and expressed in terms of the BF-Cartesian coordinates are given by:

$$\begin{bmatrix} \hat{L}_{jx^{BF}} \\ \hat{L}_{jy^{BF}} \\ \hat{L}_{jz^{BF}} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} R_{jx^{BF}} \\ R_{jy^{BF}} \\ R_{jz^{BF}} \end{bmatrix} \times \begin{bmatrix} \frac{1}{i} \frac{\partial}{\partial R_{jx^{BF}}} \\ \frac{1}{i} \frac{\partial}{\partial R_{jy^{BF}}} \\ \frac{1}{i} \frac{\partial}{\partial R_{jz^{BF}}} \end{bmatrix} .$$
(A1)

Consequently, the usual commutation relations are verified.

If the vector is involved in the definition of the BF frame, the previous results are no longer true. The projections have to be calculated explicitly and the commutation relations are non-definite. Several examples can be found in Sec. II C1 (Eq. (84)) and Ref. [81].

Let us return to the first case, namely when the vector is not involved in the definition of the BF. It would be altogether mistaken to suppose that Eq. (A1) refers to an angular momentum computed in the BF frame. Indeed, Eq. (A1) is nothing but the exact quantum mechanical counterpart of the classical expression [58]

$$\begin{bmatrix} L_{j\,x^{BF}} \\ L_{j\,y^{BF}} \\ L_{j\,z^{BF}} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} R_{j\,x^{BF}} \\ R_{j\,y^{BF}} \\ R_{j\,z^{BF}} \end{bmatrix} \times \begin{bmatrix} \frac{\partial T^{SF}}{\partial \dot{R}_{j\,x^{BF}}} \\ \frac{\partial T^{SF}}{\partial \dot{R}_{j\,z^{BF}}} \\ \frac{\partial T^{SF}}{\partial \dot{R}_{j\,z^{BF}}} \end{bmatrix} .$$
(A2)

It is important then to notice that (\mathcal{L} is the Lagrangian of the system)

$$\frac{\partial T^{SF}}{\partial \dot{R}_{j\,\lambda^{BF}}} = \frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial \dot{R}_{j\,\lambda^{BF}}} \neq \frac{\partial T^{BF}}{\partial \dot{R}_{j\,\lambda^{BF}}},\tag{A3}$$

i.e. that $\frac{\partial T^{SF}}{\partial \dot{R}_{i\lambda}BF}$ are not the components of a momentum computed in the BF frame, i.e. they are not computed from velocities relative to the BF frame. Consequently, the angular momentum operator in Eq. (A1) turns out to be the angular momentum computed in the SF frame, projected onto the BF-axes and expressed in terms of BF coordinates. For the sake of completeness, let us add that

$$\frac{\partial T^{SF}}{\partial \dot{R}_{j\,\lambda^{BF}}} = \frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial \dot{R}_{j\,\lambda^{BF}}} \to \frac{1}{i} \frac{\partial}{\partial R_{j\,\lambda^{BF}}} \tag{A4}$$

is the only correct quantization rule [57] and not

$$\frac{\partial T^{BF}}{\partial \dot{R}_{j\,\lambda^{BF}}} \to \frac{1}{i} \frac{\partial}{\partial R_{j\,\lambda^{BF}}}.\tag{A5}$$

To explain the origin of these results, let us point out that Eq. (A1) and Eq. (A2) result from the vector \vec{R}_j being not involved in the definition of the BF frame, which can also be mathematically expressed as follows (a systematic parallel between classical and quantum mechanics is made to highlight the physical meaning of the operators):

(i) by means of Poisson brackets:

$$\{\mathcal{R}_{\lambda\lambda'}, L_{j\rho^{SF}}\} = 0, \qquad (A6)$$

(ii) or commutation relations:

$$\left[\mathcal{R}_{\lambda\lambda'}, \hat{L}_{j\rho^{SF}}\right] = 0, \qquad (A7)$$

(with $(\lambda, \lambda', \rho = x, y, z)$ and $\mathcal{R}(\alpha, \beta, \gamma)$ the Euler rotation matrix) We then have in classical mechanics

$$\begin{bmatrix} L_{jx}^{BF} \\ L_{jy}^{BF} \\ L_{jz}^{BF} \end{bmatrix} = \mathcal{R}^{T}(\alpha,\beta,\gamma) \begin{bmatrix} L_{jx}^{SF} \\ L_{jy}^{SF} \\ L_{jz}^{SF} \end{bmatrix}$$
(A8)
$$= \left(\mathcal{R}^{T}(\alpha,\beta,\gamma) \begin{bmatrix} R_{ix}^{SF} \\ R_{iy}^{SF} \\ R_{iz}^{SF} \end{bmatrix}\right) \times \left(\mathcal{R}^{T}(\alpha,\beta,\gamma) \begin{bmatrix} \frac{\partial T^{SF}}{\partial \dot{R}_{ix}^{SF}} \\ \frac{\partial T^{SF}}{\partial \dot{R}_{iy}^{SF}} \\ \frac{\partial T^{SF}}{\partial \dot{R}_{iz}^{SF}} \end{bmatrix} \right)$$
$$= \begin{bmatrix} R_{jx}^{BF} \\ R_{jy}^{BF} \\ R_{jz}^{BF} \end{bmatrix} \times \left(\mathcal{R}^{T}(\alpha,\beta,\gamma) \begin{bmatrix} \frac{\partial T^{SF}}{\partial \dot{R}_{jx}^{SF}} \\ \frac{\partial T^{SF}}{\partial \dot{R}_{jy}^{SF}} \\ \frac{\partial T^{SF}}{\partial \dot{R}_{jz}^{SF}} \end{bmatrix} \right),$$
(A9)

and in quantum mechanics

$$\begin{bmatrix} \hat{L}_{j\,x^{BF}} \\ \hat{L}_{j\,y^{BF}} \\ \hat{L}_{j\,z^{BF}} \end{bmatrix} = \mathcal{R}^{T}(\alpha,\beta,\gamma) \begin{bmatrix} \hat{L}_{j\,x^{SF}} \\ \hat{L}_{j\,y^{SF}} \\ \hat{L}_{j\,z^{SF}} \end{bmatrix}$$

$$= (\mathcal{R}^{T}(\alpha,\beta,\gamma) \begin{bmatrix} R_{i\,x^{SF}} \\ R_{i\,y^{SF}} \\ R_{i\,z^{SF}} \end{bmatrix}) \times (\mathcal{R}^{T}(\alpha,\beta,\gamma) \begin{bmatrix} \frac{1}{i}\frac{\partial}{\partial R_{j\,y^{SF}}} \\ \frac{1}{i}\frac{\partial}{\partial R_{j\,z^{SF}}} \\ \frac{1}{i}\frac{\partial}{\partial R_{j\,z^{SF}}} \end{bmatrix}) \qquad (A10)$$

$$= \begin{bmatrix} R_{j\,x^{BF}} \\ R_{j\,y^{BF}} \\ R_{j\,z^{BF}} \end{bmatrix} \times (\mathcal{R}^{T}(\alpha,\beta,\gamma) \begin{bmatrix} \frac{1}{i}\frac{\partial}{\partial R_{j\,y^{SF}}} \\ \frac{1}{i}\frac{\partial}{\partial R_{j\,z^{SF}}} \\ \frac{1}{i}\frac{\partial}{\partial R_{j\,z^{SF}}} \end{bmatrix}) . \qquad (A11)$$

An important question to ask is the following: is it true that

$$\left(\mathcal{R}^{T}\begin{bmatrix}\frac{\partial T^{SF}}{\partial \dot{R}_{i_{x}SF}}\\\frac{\partial T^{SF}}{\partial \dot{R}_{i_{y}SF}}\\\frac{\partial T^{SF}}{\partial \dot{R}_{i_{z}SF}}\end{bmatrix}\right) = \begin{bmatrix}\frac{\partial T^{SF}}{\partial \dot{R}_{i_{x}BF}}\\\frac{\partial T^{SF}}{\partial \dot{R}_{i_{z}BF}}\\\frac{\partial T^{SF}}{\partial \dot{R}_{i_{z}BF}}\end{bmatrix}, \qquad (A12)$$

or

$$\left(\mathcal{R}^{T}\left[\begin{array}{c}\frac{1}{i}\frac{\partial}{\partial R_{jx}SF}\\\\\frac{1}{i}\frac{\partial}{\partial R_{jy}SF}\\\\\frac{1}{i}\frac{\partial}{\partial R_{jz}SF}\end{array}\right]\right) = \left[\begin{array}{c}\frac{1}{i}\frac{\partial}{\partial R_{jx}BF}\\\\\frac{1}{i}\frac{\partial}{\partial R_{jy}BF}\\\\\frac{1}{i}\frac{\partial}{\partial R_{jz}BF}\end{array}\right],\qquad(A13)$$

or, in other words, that the conjugate momentum associated with the BF coordinates (which is not a 'BF conjugate momentum' in the sense of a momentum computed in the BF frame) can be identified with the projection of the SF conjugate momentum? The explicit calculation of the projections shows that the answer is yes and comes directly from Eq. (A6) and (A7), i.e. from the fact that the vector is not involved in the definition of BF.

We thus get

$$\begin{bmatrix} L_{j\,x^{BF}} \\ L_{j\,y^{BF}} \\ L_{j\,z^{BF}} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} R_{j\,x^{BF}} \\ R_{j\,y^{BF}} \\ R_{j\,z^{BF}} \end{bmatrix} \times \begin{bmatrix} \frac{\partial T^{SF}}{\partial \dot{R}_{i\,x^{BF}}} \\ \frac{\partial T^{SF}}{\partial \dot{R}_{i\,z^{BF}}} \\ \frac{\partial T^{SF}}{\partial \dot{R}_{i\,z^{BF}}} \end{bmatrix}, \quad (A14)$$

and

$$\begin{bmatrix} \hat{L}_{jx^{BF}} \\ \hat{L}_{jy^{BF}} \\ \hat{L}_{jz^{BF}} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} R_{jx^{BF}} \\ R_{jy^{BF}} \\ R_{jz^{BF}} \end{bmatrix} \times \begin{bmatrix} \frac{1}{i} \frac{\partial}{\partial R_{jx^{BF}}} \\ \frac{1}{i} \frac{\partial}{\partial R_{jy^{BF}}} \\ \frac{1}{i} \frac{\partial}{\partial R_{jz^{BF}}} \end{bmatrix}, \quad (A15)$$

if the vector \vec{R}_j is not involved in the definition of the BF frame.

APPENDIX B: GENERAL EXPRESSION OF THE KEO IN ANGULAR MO-MENTA FOR NON-ORTHOGONAL COORDINATES

In Section IIC1, we have derived the expression of the KEO in angular momenta for orthogonal vectors (Eq. (92)). Now, what happens if non-orthogonal vectors are used?

Whereas orthogonal vectors diagonalize the kinetic energy in Eq. (63), non-orthogonal vectors give rise to off-diagonal terms, also called 'mass polarization' terms: $\hat{P}_i^{\dagger} M_{ij} \hat{P}_j$ with $i \neq j$. Since the conjugate momentum can be separated into a radial and angular term as:

$$\hat{\vec{P}}_i = \hat{P}_{R_i} \vec{e}_i - \frac{\vec{e}_i \times \hat{\vec{L}}_i}{R_i}, \qquad (B1)$$

with $\vec{e_i} = \vec{R_i}/R_i$ a unit vector along $\vec{R_i}$; \hat{P}_{R_i} , the radial momentum and $\hat{\vec{L_i}}$, the angular momentum; and its adjoint as

$$\left(\vec{P}_{i}\right)^{\dagger} = \hat{P}_{R_{i}}^{\dagger}\vec{e}_{i} + \frac{\hat{\vec{L}}_{i}^{\dagger} \times \vec{e}_{i}}{R_{i}}, \qquad (B2)$$

in view of Eqs. (63), (B1,B2), $\hat{\vec{P}}_i^{\dagger} M_{ij} \hat{\vec{P}}_j + \hat{\vec{P}}_j^{\dagger} M_{ij} \hat{\vec{P}}_i$ can be rewritten as

$$2\hat{T}_{ij} = M_{ij} \left[\vec{e}_i \cdot \vec{e}_j (\hat{P}_{R_i}^{\dagger} \hat{P}_{R_j}^r + \hat{P}_{R_j}^{\dagger} \hat{P}_{R_i}) - \frac{\hat{\vec{L}}_j^{\dagger} \times \vec{e}_j}{R_i} \cdot \frac{\vec{e}_j \times \hat{\vec{L}}_j}{R_j} - \frac{\hat{\vec{L}}_j^{\dagger} \times \vec{e}_j}{R_j} \cdot \frac{\vec{e}_i \times \hat{\vec{L}}_i}{R_i} + \hat{P}_{R_j} \frac{\hat{\vec{L}}_i^{\dagger} \times \vec{e}_i}{R_i} \cdot \vec{e}_j - \hat{P}_{R_j}^{\dagger} \vec{e}_j \cdot \frac{\vec{e}_i \times \hat{\vec{L}}_i}{R_i} - \hat{P}_{R_i}^{\dagger} \vec{e}_i \cdot \frac{\vec{e}_j \times \hat{\vec{L}}_j}{R_j} + \hat{P}_{R_i} \frac{\hat{\vec{L}}_j^{\dagger} \times \vec{e}_j}{R_j} \cdot \vec{e}_j \right].$$
(B3)

All the different terms appearing in Eq. (B3) have to be explicitly calculated. Taking into account that

$$\hat{\vec{L}}_{N-1} = \hat{\vec{J}} - \sum_{i=1}^{N-2} \hat{\vec{L}}_i$$
(B4)

and that $\hat{\vec{L}}_{N-2}$ has a particular behavior, it is straightforward, but tedious to show that [78]

$$\hat{T} = \hat{T}_1 + \hat{T}_2,$$
 (B5)

with

$$\hat{T}_{1} = \sum_{i=1}^{N-2} \left(\frac{M_{iN-1}P_{R_{i}}\sin\theta_{i}^{BF}}{R_{N-1}} \left(\frac{e^{-i\varphi_{i}^{BF}}\hat{J}_{+BF} - e^{i\varphi_{i}^{BF}}\hat{J}_{-BF}}{2i} \right) \\
- \frac{M_{iN-1}\sin\theta_{i}^{BF}}{R_{i}R_{N-1}} \left(\frac{e^{-i\varphi_{i}^{BF}}\hat{J}_{+BF} + e^{i\varphi_{i}^{BF}}\hat{J}_{-BF}}{2} \right) \hat{L}_{iz^{BF}} \\
+ \left(\frac{M_{iN-1}\cos\theta_{i}^{BF}}{R_{i}R_{N-1}} - \frac{M_{N-1N-1}}{R_{N-1}^{2}} \right) \left(\frac{\hat{J}_{+BF}\hat{L}_{i-BF} + \hat{J}_{-BF}\hat{L}_{i+BF}}{2} \right) \right) \\
- \sum_{i=1}^{N-2} \left(\frac{M_{N-1N-1}\hat{J}_{z^{BF}}\hat{L}_{iz^{BF}}}{R_{N-1}^{2}} \right) + \frac{M_{N-1N-1}(\hat{J})_{BF}^{2}}{2R_{N-1}^{2}},$$
(B6)

and with

$$\begin{split} \hat{T}_{2} &= \sum_{i=1}^{N-1} M_{ii} \frac{\hat{P}_{R_{i}}^{L} \hat{P}_{R_{i}}}{2} + \sum_{i,j=1;i < j}^{N-1} M_{ij} (\sin \theta_{i}^{BF} \sin \theta_{j}^{BF} \cos(\varphi_{i}^{BF} - \varphi_{j}^{BF}) + \cos \theta_{i}^{BF} \cos \theta_{j}^{BF}) \hat{P}_{R_{i}} \hat{P}_{R_{j}} \\ &+ \sum_{i,j=1;i \neq j}^{N-2} \{M_{ij} \sin \theta_{i}^{BF} \sin \theta_{j}^{BF} \sin \theta_{j}^{BF} \sin(\varphi_{i}^{BF} - \varphi_{j}^{BF})(\frac{\hat{P}_{R_{i}} \hat{L}_{j,2BF}}{R_{j}}) \\ &+ \hat{P}_{R_{i}} \sin \theta_{i}^{i} \hat{P}_{i} (\frac{M_{ij} \cos \theta_{j}^{BF}}{R_{j}} - \frac{M_{iN-1}}{R_{N-1}})(\frac{e^{-i\varphi_{i}^{BF}} \hat{L}_{j,2BF} - e^{i\varphi_{i}^{BF}} \hat{L}_{j,2BF}}{2i}) \} \\ &- \sum_{i=1}^{N-2} \frac{M_{iN-1}}{R_{N-1}} \hat{P}_{R_{i}} \sin \theta_{i}^{BF}(\frac{e^{-i\varphi_{i}^{BF}} \hat{L}_{i,1BF} - e^{i\varphi_{i}^{BF}} \hat{L}_{i,2BF}}{2i}) \\ &- \sum_{i,j=1;i\neq j}^{N-2} \frac{M_{ij}}{R_{i}} \hat{P}_{R_{i}} \cos \theta_{j}^{BF} \sin \theta_{i}^{BF}(\frac{e^{-i\varphi_{i}^{BF}} \hat{L}_{i,1BF} - e^{i\varphi_{i}^{BF}} \hat{L}_{i,2BF}}{2i}) \\ &- \sum_{i,j=1;i\neq j}^{N-2} \frac{M_{ij}}{R_{i}} \hat{P}_{R_{i}} \cos \theta_{j}^{BF} \sin \theta_{i}^{BF}(\frac{e^{-i\varphi_{i}^{BF}} \hat{L}_{i,1BF} - e^{i\varphi_{i}^{BF}} \hat{L}_{i,2BF}}{2i}) \\ &- \sum_{i,j=1;i\neq j}^{N-2} \frac{M_{ij}}{R_{i}} \hat{P}_{R_{i}} \cos \theta_{j}^{BF} \sin \theta_{i}^{BF}(\frac{e^{-i\varphi_{i}^{BF}} \hat{L}_{i,2BF} - e^{i\varphi_{i}^{BF}} \hat{L}_{i,2BF}}) \\ &- \sum_{i,j=1;i\neq j}^{N-2} \frac{M_{ij}}{R_{i}R_{j}} (\cos \theta_{i}^{BF} \cos \theta_{j}^{BF} + \frac{1}{2} e^{i\varphi_{i}^{BF}} \sin \theta_{i}^{BF} e^{i\varphi_{j}^{BF}} \sin \theta_{j}^{BF}}) \\ &- \frac{M_{iN-1}}{R_{i}R_{N-1}} \cos \theta_{i}^{BF} - \frac{M_{jN-1}}{R_{j}R_{N-1}} \cos \theta_{j}^{BF} + \frac{M_{N-1N-1}}{R_{N-1}^{N-1}} (\hat{L}_{i,BF} \hat{L}_{j,BF}) \\ &- \frac{M_{iN-1}}{2i} \cos \theta_{i}^{BF} \cos \theta_{i}^{BF} \sin \theta_{j}^{BF}} (e^{-i(\varphi_{i}^{BF} + \varphi_{i}^{BF})} \hat{L}_{i,BF} \hat{L}_{j,BF}) \\ &- \sum_{i,j=1;i < j}^{N-2} \frac{M_{ij}}{R_{i}R_{j}} \sin \theta_{i}^{BF} \sin \theta_{j}^{BF}} \cos (\varphi_{i}^{BF} - \varphi_{j}^{BF}) + \frac{M_{N-1N-1}}{R_{N-1}^{N-1}} \hat{L}_{i,2BF} \hat{L}_{i,BF} \hat{L}_{j,BF}) \\ &+ \sum_{i,j=1;i < j}^{N-2} \frac{M_{ij}}{R_{i}R_{j}} \sin \theta_{i}^{BF} \sin \theta_{j}^{BF} \cos (\varphi_{i}^{BF} - \varphi_{j}^{BF}) + \frac{M_{N-1N-1}}{R_{N-1}^{N-1}} \hat{L}_{i,2BF} \hat{L}_{i,2BF} \hat{L}_{i,2BF}} \\ &+ \sum_{i,j=1;i < j}^{N-2} \frac{M_{ij}}{R_{i}R_{j}} \sin \theta_{i}^{BF} \sin \theta_{j}^{BF} \cos (\varphi_{i}^{BF} - \varphi_{j}^{BF}) + \frac{M_{N-1N-1}}{R_{N-1}^{N-1}}} \hat{L}_{i,2BF} \hat{L}_{i,2BF} \hat{L}_{i,2BF}} \hat{L}_{i,2BF} \hat{L}_$$

The previous equations should be used along with

$$\theta_{N-1}^{BF} = \varphi_{N-1}^{BF} = \varphi_{N-2}^{BF} = 0 \tag{B8}$$

since \vec{R}_{N-1} is parallel to the z^{BF} axis and \vec{R}_{N-2} is parallel to the $((x^{BF}, z^{BF}); x^{BF} > 0)$ half-plane. Even if this does not appear explicitly for each term, it is emphasized that the operator in Eq. (B5) is Hermitian. This operator is correct for the case in which the wave functions are normalized with an Euclidean convention of normalization, i.e. with the volume element given by Eq. (73). All the equations (75), (77), (83), and (99) given in Sec. II C 1 remain true.

APPENDIX C: GENERAL EXPRESSION OF THE KEO IN CONJUGATE MO-MENTA

This Appendix is devoted to the explicit expression of the coefficients $G_{q_lq_m}$, $\Gamma_{\lambda\lambda'}$, and $C_{\lambda q_l}$ appearing in the KEO in Eqs. (106) and (111). Here, $\{q_i; i = 1, \ldots, 3N - 6\} = \{(R_i; i = 1, \ldots, N - 1), (u_i; i = 1, \ldots, N - 2), (\varphi_i^{BF}; i = 1, \ldots, N - 3)\}$ and $\lambda, \lambda' = x, y, z$. The sub-matrices are all symmetrical, i.e. $G_{q_lq_m} = G_{q_mq_l}, \Gamma_{\lambda\lambda'} = \Gamma_{\lambda'\lambda}$, and $C_{\lambda q_l} = C_{q_l\lambda}$. The following equations should be used along with $\theta_{N-1}^{BF} = \varphi_{N-1}^{BF} = \varphi_{N-2}^{BF} = 0$ since \vec{R}_{N-1} is parallel to the z^{BF} axis and \vec{R}_{N-2} is parallel to the $((x^{BF}, z^{BF}); x^{BF} > 0)$ half-plane. We recall that

$$u_i = \cos \theta_i^{BF} \tag{C1}$$

and that

$$\cot \theta_i^{BF} = \frac{u_i}{v_i} \tag{C2}$$

with

$$v_i = \sqrt{1 - u_i^2} = \sin \theta_i^{BF}.$$
 (C3)

(i) General case:

Vibrational terms:

$$\begin{split} & G_{R,R_{l}} = M_{ij}(\sin\theta_{i}^{kF}\sin\theta_{j}^{kF}\cos(\varphi_{i}^{kF}-\varphi_{j}^{kF}) + \cos\theta_{i}^{kF}\cos\theta_{i}^{kF}\cos\theta_{i}^{kF}), \\ & G_{R,a_{j}} = -\sin\theta_{j}^{kF}(M_{ij}\frac{\sin\theta_{i}^{kF}\cos(\varphi_{i}^{kF}-\varphi_{j}^{kF})}{R_{N-1}}), \\ & G_{R,a_{j}} = -\sin\theta_{i}^{iB}\frac{\theta_{i}^{kF}\cos(\varphi_{i}^{kF}-\varphi_{j}^{kF})}{R_{j}\sin\theta_{j}^{kF}} - M_{iN-2}\frac{\sin\theta_{i}^{kF}\sin\varphi_{i}^{kF}}{R_{N-2}\sin\theta_{N-2}^{kF}} \\ & + M_{iN-1}\frac{\sin\theta_{i}^{kF}\sin(\varphi_{i}^{kF}-\varphi_{j}^{kF})}{R_{j}\sin\theta_{i}^{kF}\cos\theta_{j}^{kF}\cos\theta_{j}^{kF}\cos\theta_{i}^{kF}-\varphi_{i}^{kF})}{R_{N-1}}, \\ & G_{a_{i}a_{j}} = \sin\theta_{i}^{kF}\sin\theta_{j}^{kF}(M_{ij}\frac{\cos\theta_{i}^{kF}\cos\theta_{j}^{kF}\cos\theta_{j}^{kF}\cos\theta_{i}^{kF}-\varphi_{i}^{kF})}{R_{N-1}} \\ & -M_{iN-1}\frac{\cos\theta_{i}^{kF}\cos(\varphi_{i}^{kF}-\varphi_{j}^{kF})}{R_{i}R_{N-1}} + M_{N-1N-1}\frac{\cos(\varphi_{i}^{kF}-\varphi_{j}^{kF})}{R_{i}^{k}} + M_{i}N_{i}\frac{\cos\theta_{i}^{kF}\cos(\varphi_{i}^{kF}-\varphi_{j}^{kF})}{R_{i}R_{N-1}} \\ & -M_{i}N-1\frac{\cos\theta_{i}^{kF}\cos(\varphi_{i}^{kF}-\varphi_{j}^{kF})}{R_{i}R_{N-1}} + M_{N-1N-1}\frac{\cos(\varphi_{i}^{kF}-\varphi_{j}^{kF})}{R_{i}^{k}} - M_{i}N_{i}2\sin\theta_{i}^{kF}} \\ & +M_{i}N-1\frac{\cos\theta_{i}^{kF}\cos\theta_{i}^{kF}\sin(\varphi_{i}^{kF}-\varphi_{j}^{kF})}{R_{i}R_{i}\sin\theta_{i}^{kF}} - M_{i}N_{i}2\cos\theta_{i}^{kF}\sin\theta_{i}^{kF}} \\ & +M_{i}N-1\frac{\sin(\varphi_{i}^{kF}-\varphi_{i}^{kF})}{R_{i}R_{N-1}\sin\theta_{i}^{kF}} + M_{N-2N-1}\frac{\sin(\varphi_{i}^{kF}-\varphi_{i}^{kF})}{R_{i}R_{N-1}} \\ & +M_{N-1N-1}\frac{\cos\theta_{i}^{kF}\cos(\varphi_{i}^{kF}-\varphi_{i}^{kF})}{R_{i}R_{N-1}\sin\theta_{i}^{kF}}} - M_{i}N_{i}2\sin\theta_{i}^{kF}} \\ & +M_{i}N-1\frac{\cos(\varphi_{i}^{kF}-\varphi_{i}^{kF})}{R_{i}R_{N-1}\sin\theta_{i}^{kF}} - M_{i}N_{i}2\sin\theta_{i}^{kF}} \\ & +M_{N-1N-1}\frac{\cos(\varphi_{i}^{kF}-\varphi_{i}^{kF})}{R_{i}R_{N-1}\sin\theta_{i}^{kF}}} - M_{i}N_{i}2\sin\theta_{i}^{kF}} \\ & +M_{N-1N-1}\frac{\cos(\varphi_{i}^{kF}-\varphi_{i}^{kF})}{R_{i}R_{N-1}\sin\theta_{i}^{kF}}} - M_{i}N_{i}2\sin\theta_{i}^{kF}} \\ & +M_{i}N-1\frac{\cos(\varphi_{i}^{kF}-\varphi_{i}^{kF})}{R_{i}R_{N-1}\sin\theta_{i}^{kF}}} \\ & +M_{N-1N-1}\frac{\cos(\varphi_{i}^{kF}\cos\theta_{i}^{kF}\cos\theta_{i}^{kF}-\varphi_{i}^{kF})}{R_{i}R_{N-1}\sin\theta_{i}^{kF}}} \\ & +M_{N-1N-1}\frac{\cos(\varphi_{i}^{kF}\cos\theta_{i}^{kF}\cos\theta_{i}^{kF}-\varphi_{i}^{kF})}{R_{i}R_{N-1}\sin\theta_{i}^{kF}}} \\ & +M_{N-1N-1}\frac{\cos(\varphi_{i}^{kF}\cos\theta_{i}^{kF}\cos\theta_{i}^{kF}-\varphi_{i}^{kF})}{R_{i}R_{N-1}\sin\theta_{i}^{kF}}} \\ & +M_{N-1N-1}\frac{\cos(\varphi_{i}^{kF}\cos\theta_{i}^{kF}\cos\theta_{i}^{kF}-\varphi_{i}^{kF})}{R_{i}^{k}}} \\ & +M_{N-1N-1}\frac{\cos(\varphi_{i}^{kF}\cos\theta_{i}^{kF}\cos\theta_{i}^{kF}-\varphi_{i}^{kF})}{R_{i}^{k}}} \\ \\ & +M$$

Rotational terms:

$$\Gamma_{zz} = M_{N-2N-2} \frac{1}{\left(R_{N-2}\sin\theta_{N-2}^{BF}\right)^{2}} - M_{N-2N-1} \frac{2\cot\theta_{N-2}^{BF}}{R_{N-2}R_{N-1}\sin\theta_{N-2}^{BF}} + M_{N-1N-1} \frac{\left(\cot\theta_{N-2}^{BF}\right)^{2}}{R_{N-1}^{2}},
\Gamma_{yy} = \Gamma_{xx} = M_{N-1N-1} \frac{1}{R_{N-1}^{2}},
\Gamma_{xz} = -M_{N-2N-1} \frac{1}{R_{N-2}R_{N-1}\sin\theta_{N-2}^{BF}} + M_{N-1N-1} \frac{\cot\theta_{N-2}^{BF}}{R_{N-1}^{2}},
\Gamma_{xy} = \Gamma_{yz} = 0.$$
(C5)

Coriolis terms:

$$\begin{split} C_{xR_{j}} &= -M_{jN-1} \frac{\sin \theta_{j}^{BF} \sin \varphi_{j}^{BF}}{R_{N-1}}, \\ C_{yR_{j}} &= M_{jN-1} \frac{\sin \theta_{j}^{BF} \cos \varphi_{j}^{BF}}{R_{N-1}}, \\ C_{zR_{j}} &= M_{jN-2} \frac{\sin \theta_{j}^{BF} \sin \varphi_{j}^{BF}}{R_{N-2} \sin \theta_{j}^{BF}} - M_{jN-1} \frac{\sin \theta_{j}^{BF} \sin \varphi_{j}^{BF} \cos \theta_{N-2}^{BF}}{R_{N-1}}, \\ C_{xu_{j}} &= -\sin \theta_{j}^{BF} \left(-M_{jN-1} \frac{\cos \theta_{j}^{BF} \sin \varphi_{j}^{BF}}{R_{N-1}R_{j}} + M_{N-1N-1} \frac{\sin \varphi_{j}^{BF}}{R_{N-1}^{2}} \right), \\ C_{yu_{j}} &= -\sin \theta_{j}^{BF} \left(M_{jN-1} \frac{\cos \theta_{j}^{BF} \cos \varphi_{j}^{BF}}{R_{N-1}R_{j}} - M_{N-1N-1} \frac{\cos \varphi_{j}^{BF}}{R_{N-1}^{2}} \right), \\ C_{zu_{j}} &= -\sin \theta_{j}^{BF} \left(M_{jN-2} \frac{\cos \theta_{j}^{BF} \sin \varphi_{j}^{BF}}{R_{N-1}R_{j}} - M_{N-1N-1} \frac{\cos \varphi_{j}^{BF} \cos \varphi_{j}^{BF}}{R_{N-1}R_{j}} \right), \\ C_{zu_{j}} &= -\sin \theta_{j}^{BF} \left(M_{jN-2} \frac{\cos \theta_{j}^{BF} \sin \varphi_{j}^{BF}}{R_{N-2}R_{j}} - M_{jN-1} \frac{\cot \theta_{N-2}^{BF} \cos \theta_{j}^{BF} \sin \varphi_{j}^{BF}}{R_{N-1}R_{j}} \right), \\ C_{zu_{j}} &= -\sin \theta_{j}^{BF} \left(M_{jN-2} \frac{\cos \theta_{j}^{BF} \sin \varphi_{j}^{BF}}{R_{N-2}R_{j}} + M_{N-1N-1} \frac{\sin \varphi_{j}^{BF} \cot \theta_{N-2}^{BF}}{R_{N-1}R_{j}} \right), \\ C_{zu_{j}} &= -\sin \theta_{j}^{BF} \left(M_{jN-2} \frac{\cos \varphi_{j}^{BF}}{R_{N-2}R_{N-1}} + M_{N-1N-1} \frac{\sin \varphi_{j}^{BF} \cot \theta_{N-2}^{BF}}{R_{N-1}R_{j}} \right), \\ C_{x\varphi_{j}^{BF}} &= -M_{jN-1} \frac{\cos \varphi_{j}^{BF}}{R_{N-1}R_{j}} \sin \theta_{j}^{BF}} + M_{N-2N-1} \frac{1}{R_{N-1}R_{N-2}} \sin \theta_{N-2}^{BF}}{R_{N-1}^{2}}, \\ C_{y\varphi_{j}^{BF}} &= -M_{jN-1} \frac{\sin \varphi_{j}^{BF}}{R_{N-2}R_{j}} \sin \theta_{j}^{BF}} + M_{N-1N-1} \frac{\sin \varphi_{j}^{BF} \cot \theta_{j}^{BF}}{R_{N-1}^{2}}, \\ C_{z\varphi_{j}^{BF}} &= -M_{jN-1} \frac{\sin \varphi_{j}^{BF}}{R_{N-2}R_{j}} \sin \theta_{j}^{BF}} - M_{jN-1} \frac{\cot \theta_{N-2}^{B} \cot \theta_{j}^{BF}}{R_{N-1}R_{j}} \sin \theta_{j}^{BF}}{R_{N-1}R_{j}} \sin \theta_{j}^{BF}} + M_{N-2N-1} \frac{\cot \theta_{N-2}^{B} \cot \theta_{j}^{BF}}{R_{N-1}R_{j}} \sin \theta_{j}^{BF}}{R_{N-1}R_{j}} \sin \theta_{j}^{BF}} - M_{jN-1} \frac{\cot \theta_{N-2}^{BF} \cot \varphi_{j}^{BF}}{R_{N-1}R_{j}} \sin \theta_{j}^{BF}}} + M_{N-2N-1} \frac{\cot \theta_{N-2}^{BF} \cot \theta_{j}^{BF}}{R_{N-1}R_{j}} \sin \theta_{j}^{BF}}{R_{N-1}R_{N-1}R_{j}} \sin \theta_{j}^{BF}} - M_{N-2N-2} \frac{1}{(R_{N-2}R_{N-1}} \sin \theta_{N-2}^{BF}}}{R_{N-2}R_{N-1}} \sin \theta_{N-2}^{BF}}} - M_{N-2N-2} \frac{1}{R_{N-1}^{2}} \frac{1}{R_{N-1}^{2}} \frac{1}{R_{N-1}^{2}}} - M_{N-2N-2} \frac{1}{R_{N-2}^{2}} + M_{N-1N-1} \frac{1}{R_{N$$

(ii) Orthogonal coordinates :

In the particular case of orthogonal coordinates, Eqs. (C4, C5, C6) reduce to $\mu_i = \frac{1}{M_{ii}}$, $\delta_{ij} = 0$ if $i \neq j$, 1 otherwise)

Vibrational terms:

$$\begin{aligned} G_{R_{i}R_{j}} &= \frac{\delta_{ij}}{\mu_{i}}, \ G_{R_{i}u_{j}} = 0, \ G_{R_{i}\varphi_{j}^{BF}} = 0, \\ G_{u_{i}u_{j}} &= \frac{1}{\mu_{N-1}R_{N-1}^{2}} \sin \theta_{i}^{BF} \sin \theta_{j}^{BF} \cos(\varphi_{i}^{BF} - \varphi_{j}^{BF}) + \frac{\delta_{ij}}{\mu_{i}R_{i}^{2}} (\sin \theta_{i}^{BF})^{2}, \\ G_{u_{i}\varphi_{j}^{BF}} &= -\frac{1}{\mu_{N-1}R_{N-1}^{2}} \sin \theta_{i}^{BF} (\cot \theta_{j}^{BF} \sin(\varphi_{i}^{BF} - \varphi_{j}^{BF}) - \sin \varphi_{i}^{BF} \cot \theta_{N-2}^{BF}), \\ G_{\varphi_{i}^{BF}\varphi_{j}^{BF}} &= \frac{1}{\mu_{N-1}R_{N-1}^{2}} (\cot \theta_{i}^{BF} \cot \theta_{j}^{BF} \cos(\varphi_{i}^{BF} - \varphi_{j}^{BF}) + \cot^{2} \theta_{N-2}^{BF}) \\ &- \cot \theta_{N-2}^{BF} (\cos \varphi_{i}^{BF} \cot \theta_{i}^{BF} + \cos \varphi_{j}^{BF} \cot \theta_{j}^{BF})) \\ &+ \frac{\delta_{ij}}{\mu_{i}R_{i}^{2} \sin^{2} \theta_{i}^{BF}} + \frac{1}{\mu_{N-2}R_{N-2}^{2} \sin^{2} \theta_{N-2}^{BF}}. \end{aligned}$$
(C7)

Rotational terms:

$$\Gamma_{zz} = \frac{1}{\mu_{N-2}R_{N-2}^{2}\sin^{2}\theta_{N-2}^{BF}} + \frac{\cot^{2}\theta_{N-2}^{BF}}{\mu_{N-1}R_{N-1}^{2}},$$

$$\Gamma_{xx} = \Gamma_{yy} = \frac{1}{\mu_{N-1}R_{N-1}^{2}},$$

$$\Gamma_{xy} = \Gamma_{yz} = 0,$$

$$\Gamma_{xz} = \frac{\cot\theta_{N-2}^{BF}}{\mu_{N-1}R_{N-1}^{2}}.$$
(C8)

Coriolis terms:

$$C_{xR_{j}} = C_{yR_{j}} = C_{zR_{j}} = 0,$$

$$C_{xu_{j}} = -\frac{\sin \theta_{j}^{BF} \sin \varphi_{j}^{BF}}{\mu_{N-1}R_{N-1}^{2}},$$

$$C_{yu_{j}} = \frac{\sin \theta_{j}^{BF} \cos \varphi_{j}^{BF}}{\mu_{N-1}R_{N-1}^{2}},$$

$$C_{zu_{j}} = -\frac{\sin \theta_{j}^{BF} \sin \varphi_{j}^{BF} \cot \theta_{N-2}^{BF}}{\mu_{N-1}R_{N-1}^{2}},$$

$$C_{x\varphi_{j}^{BF}} = \frac{\cos \varphi_{j}^{BF} \cot \theta_{j}^{BF} - \cot \theta_{N-2}^{BF}}{\mu_{N-1}R_{N-1}^{2}},$$

$$C_{y\varphi_{j}^{BF}} = \frac{\sin \varphi_{j}^{BF} \cot \theta_{j}^{BF}}{\mu_{N-1}R_{N-1}^{2}},$$

$$C_{z\varphi_{j}^{BF}} = -\frac{1}{\mu_{N-2}(R_{N-2}\sin \theta_{N-2}^{BF})^{2}} + \frac{\cot \theta_{N-2}^{BF}(-\cos \theta_{N-2}^{BF} \cot \theta_{j}^{BF})}{\mu_{N-1}R_{N-1}^{2}}.$$
(C9)

APPENDIX D: KEO FOR HCF₃ IN VALENCE COORDINATES

Let us parametrize a penta-atomic system such as fluoroform, CHF_3 , by four valence vectors as shown in Figure 17. The corresponding matrix \mathbf{M} reads

$$\mathbf{M} = \begin{bmatrix} \frac{1}{m_C} + \frac{1}{m_H} & \frac{1}{m_C} & \frac{1}{m_C} & \frac{1}{m_C} \\ \frac{1}{m_C} & \frac{1}{m_C} + \frac{1}{m_F} & \frac{1}{m_C} & \frac{1}{m_C} \\ \frac{1}{m_C} & \frac{1}{m_C} & \frac{1}{m_C} + \frac{1}{m_F} & \frac{1}{m_C} \\ \frac{1}{m_C} & \frac{1}{m_C} & \frac{1}{m_C} & \frac{1}{m_C} + \frac{1}{m_F} \end{bmatrix},$$
(D1)

and if the following volume element is used in normalizing the wave functions

$$d\tau' = dR_4 \, dR_3 \, dR_2 \, dR_1 \, du_3 \, du_2 \, du_1 \, d\varphi_2^{BF} d\varphi_1^{BF}, \qquad (D2)$$

the KEO of Eqs. (111,C4) yields

$$\hat{T} = \hat{T}_{R_i R_j} + V_{extra} + \hat{T}_{\varphi_i \varphi_j}
+ \hat{T}_{R_i u_j} + \hat{T}_{R_i \varphi_j} + \hat{T}_{u_i u_j} + \hat{T}_{u_i \varphi_j},$$
(D3)

with

$$\hat{T}_{R_{i}R_{j}} + V_{extra} = -\sum_{i=1}^{4} \frac{1}{2\mu_{i}} \frac{\partial^{2}}{\partial R_{i}^{2}} - \sum_{i=1}^{3} \frac{u_{i}}{m_{C}} \left(\frac{\partial^{2}}{\partial R_{i} \partial R_{4}} + \frac{1}{R_{i}R_{4}}\right) - \frac{v_{1}v_{2}\cos\left(\varphi_{1} - \varphi_{2}\right) + u_{1}u_{2}}{m_{C}} \left(\frac{\partial^{2}}{\partial R_{1} \partial R_{2}} + \frac{1}{R_{1}R_{2}}\right) - \sum_{i=1}^{2} \frac{v_{i}v_{3}\cos\varphi_{i} + u_{i}u_{3}}{m_{C}} \left(\frac{\partial^{2}}{\partial R_{i} \partial R_{3}} + \frac{1}{R_{i}R_{3}}\right),$$
(D4)

and with (we use φ_i instead of φ_i^{BF} and θ_i instead of θ_i^{BF} to lighten the notations)

$$\begin{split} \hat{T}_{\varphi_{i}\varphi_{j}} &= -\sum_{i=1}^{2} \frac{\partial}{\partial\varphi_{i}} \left[\frac{M_{ii}}{2R_{i}^{2}v_{i}^{2}} - \frac{\cos\varphi_{i}}{m_{C}v_{i}R_{i}R_{3}v_{3}} + \frac{\cos\varphi_{i}\cot\theta_{3} - \cot\theta_{i}}{m_{C}v_{i}R_{i}R_{4}} \right] \\ &+ \frac{M_{33}}{2R_{3}^{2}v_{3}^{2}} + \frac{\cos\varphi_{i}\cot\theta_{i} - \cot\theta_{3}}{m_{C}v_{3}R_{3}R_{4}} + \frac{\cot^{2}\theta_{i} + \cot^{2}\theta_{3}}{2\mu_{4}R_{4}^{2}} - \frac{\cot\theta_{3}\cos\varphi_{i}\cot\theta_{i}}{\mu_{4}R_{4}^{2}} \right] \frac{\partial}{\partial\varphi_{i}} \\ &- \frac{\partial}{\partial\varphi_{1}} \left[\frac{\cos(\varphi_{2} - \varphi_{1})}{2m_{C}R_{1}R_{2}v_{1}v_{2}} + \frac{M_{33}}{2R_{3}^{2}v_{3}^{2}} + \frac{\sum_{i=1,2}\cos\varphi_{i}\cot\theta_{i} - 2\cot\theta_{3}}{2m_{C}R_{4}R_{3}v_{3}} \right] \\ &+ \sum_{i,j=1,2}^{i\neq j} \left(\frac{\cos\varphi_{i}\cot\theta_{3} - \cos(\varphi_{2} - \varphi_{1})\cot\theta_{j}}{2m_{C}R_{i}R_{4}v_{i}} - \frac{\cos\varphi_{i}}{2m_{C}R_{i}R_{3}v_{i}v_{3}} \right) \\ &+ \frac{\cot\theta_{2}\cot\theta_{1}\cos(\varphi_{2} - \varphi_{1}) + \cot^{2}\theta_{3}}{2\mu_{4}R_{4}^{2}} - \frac{\cot\theta_{3}(\sum_{i=1,2}\cos\varphi_{i}\cot\theta_{i})}{2\mu_{4}R_{4}^{2}} \right] \frac{\partial}{\partial\varphi_{2}} \\ &- \frac{\partial}{\partial\varphi_{2}} \left[\frac{\cos(\varphi_{2} - \varphi_{1})}{2m_{C}R_{1}R_{2}v_{1}v_{2}} + \frac{M_{33}}{2R_{3}^{2}v_{3}^{2}} + \frac{\sum_{i=1,2}\cos\varphi_{i}\cot\theta_{i} - 2\cot\theta_{3}}{2m_{C}R_{4}R_{3}v_{3}} \right] \\ &+ \sum_{i,j=1,2}^{i\neq j} \left(\frac{\cos\varphi_{i}\cot\theta_{3} - \cos(\varphi_{2} - \varphi_{1})\cot\theta_{j}}{2m_{C}R_{1}R_{2}v_{1}v_{2}} - \frac{\cos\varphi_{i}}{2m_{C}R_{4}R_{3}v_{3}} \right) \\ &+ \frac{\cot\theta_{2}\cot\theta_{1}\cos(\varphi_{2} - \varphi_{1})}{2m_{C}R_{1}R_{2}v_{1}v_{2}} - \frac{\cos\theta_{3}}{2m_{C}R_{4}R_{3}v_{3}} \right] \\ &+ \frac{\cot\theta_{2}\cot\theta_{3}\cos\theta_{i}}{2m_{C}R_{1}R_{2}v_{1}v_{2}} + \frac{M_{33}}{2R_{3}^{2}v_{3}^{2}} + \frac{\sum_{i=1,2}\cos\varphi_{i}\cot\theta_{i} - 2\cot\theta_{3}}{2m_{C}R_{4}R_{3}v_{3}} \right] \\ &+ \frac{\cot\theta_{2}\cot\theta_{3}\cos\theta_{i}}{2m_{C}R_{1}R_{2}v_{1}v_{2}} - \frac{\cot\theta_{3}(\sum_{i=1,2}\cos\varphi_{i}\cot\theta_{i})}{2m_{C}R_{4}R_{3}v_{3}}} \right] \\ &+ \frac{\cot\theta_{2}\cot\theta_{1}\cos(\varphi_{2} - \varphi_{1}) + \cot^{2}\theta_{3}}{2m_{C}R_{i}R_{4}v_{i}}} - \frac{\cot\theta_{3}(\sum_{i=1,2}\cos\varphi_{i}\cot\theta_{i})}{2\mu_{4}R_{4}^{2}}} \right] \frac{\partial}{\partial\varphi_{1}}, \end{split}$$

$$\begin{split} \hat{T}_{R_{i}u_{j}} &= -\sum_{i=1}^{3} \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial R_{i}} \frac{v_{i}^{2}}{2m_{C}R_{4}} \frac{\partial}{\partial u_{i}} + \frac{\partial}{\partial u_{i}} \frac{v_{i}^{2}}{2m_{C}R_{4}} \frac{\partial}{\partial R_{i}} \right) - \sum_{i,j=1,2;i\neq j} \frac{\partial}{\partial R_{i}} \left[\\ & \frac{v_{j}(-v_{i}u_{j}\cos\left(\varphi_{i}-\varphi_{j}\right)+u_{i}v_{j})}{2m_{C}R_{j}} \frac{\partial}{\partial u_{j}} + \frac{\partial}{\partial u_{j}} \frac{v_{j}(-v_{i}u_{j}\cos\left(\varphi_{i}-\varphi_{j}\right)+u_{i}v_{j})}{2m_{C}R_{j}} + \frac{v_{i}v_{j}\cos\left(\varphi_{i}-\varphi_{j}\right)}{2m_{C}R_{4}} \frac{\partial}{\partial u_{j}} \\ & + \frac{\partial}{\partial u_{j}} \frac{v_{i}v_{j}\cos\left(\varphi_{i}-\varphi_{j}\right)}{2m_{C}R_{4}} + \frac{v_{3}(-v_{i}u_{3}\cos\varphi_{i}+u_{i}v_{3})}{2m_{C}R_{3}} \frac{\partial}{\partial u_{3}} + \frac{\partial}{\partial u_{3}} \frac{v_{3}(-v_{i}u_{3}\cos\varphi_{i}+u_{i}v_{3})}{2m_{C}R_{3}} \\ & + \frac{v_{i}v_{3}\cos\varphi_{i}}{2m_{C}R_{4}} \frac{\partial}{\partial u_{3}} + \frac{\partial}{\partial u_{3}} \frac{v_{i}v_{3}\cos\varphi_{i}}{2m_{C}R_{4}} \right] - \frac{\partial}{\partial R_{3}} \left[\frac{v_{i}(-v_{3}u_{i}\cos\varphi_{i}+u_{3}v_{i})}{2m_{C}R_{i}} \frac{\partial}{\partial u_{i}} + \frac{\partial}{\partial u_{i}} \frac{v_{i}(-v_{3}u_{i}\cos\varphi_{i}+u_{3}v_{i})}{2m_{C}R_{i}} \right] \\ & + \frac{v_{3}v_{i}\cos\varphi_{i}}{2m_{C}R_{4}} \frac{\partial}{\partial u_{i}} + \frac{\partial}{\partial u_{i}} \frac{v_{3}v_{i}\cos\varphi_{i}}{2m_{C}R_{4}} \right] - \sum_{i=1}^{3} \frac{\partial}{\partial R_{4}} \left(\frac{v_{i}^{2}}{2m_{C}R_{i}} \frac{\partial}{\partial u_{i}} + \frac{\partial}{\partial u_{i}} \frac{v_{i}^{2}}{2m_{C}R_{i}} \right), \end{split}$$
(D6)

$$\hat{T}_{R_{i}\varphi_{j}} = -\sum_{i=1}^{2} \frac{\partial}{\partial R_{i}} \left[\left(\frac{v_{i}\sin\varphi_{i}\cot\theta_{3}}{2m_{C}R_{4}} - \frac{v_{i}\sin\varphi_{i}}{2m_{C}R_{3}v_{3}} \right) \frac{\partial}{\partial\varphi_{i}} + \frac{\partial}{\partial\varphi_{i}} \left(\frac{v_{i}\sin\varphi_{i}\cot\theta_{3}}{2m_{C}R_{4}} - \frac{v_{i}\sin\varphi_{i}}{2m_{C}R_{3}v_{3}} \right) \right] \\
- \sum_{i,j=1,2}^{i\neq j} \frac{\partial}{\partial R_{i}} \left[\left(\frac{v_{i}\sin(\varphi_{i}-\varphi_{j})}{2m_{C}R_{j}v_{j}} - \frac{v_{i}\sin\varphi_{i}}{2m_{C}R_{3}v_{3}} + \frac{v_{i}(\sin\varphi_{i}\cot\theta_{3} + \cot\theta_{j}\sin(\varphi_{j}-\varphi_{i})}{2m_{C}R_{4}} \right) \frac{\partial}{\partial\varphi_{j}} \right] \\
+ \frac{\partial}{\partial\varphi_{j}} \left(\frac{v_{i}\sin(\varphi_{i}-\varphi_{j})}{2m_{C}R_{j}v_{j}} - \frac{v_{i}\sin\varphi_{i}}{2m_{C}R_{3}v_{3}} + \frac{v_{i}(\sin\varphi_{i}\cot\theta_{3} + \cot\theta_{j}\sin(\varphi_{j}-\varphi_{i})}{2m_{C}R_{4}} \right) \right] \\
- \sum_{i=1}^{2} \frac{\partial}{\partial R_{3}} \left[\left(\frac{v_{3}\sin\varphi_{i}\cot\theta_{i}}{2m_{C}R_{4}} - \frac{v_{3}\sin\varphi_{i}}{2m_{C}R_{i}v_{i}} \right) \frac{\partial}{\partial\varphi_{i}} + \frac{\partial}{\partial\varphi_{i}} \left(\frac{v_{3}\sin\varphi_{i}\cot\theta_{i}}{2m_{C}R_{4}} - \frac{v_{3}\sin\varphi_{i}}{2m_{C}R_{i}v_{i}} \right) \right], \tag{D7}$$

$$\begin{split} \hat{T}_{u_{i}u_{j}} &= -\sum_{i=1}^{3} \frac{\partial}{\partial u_{i}} v_{i}^{2} \left(\frac{M_{ii}}{2R_{i}^{2}} + \frac{M_{44}}{2R_{4}^{2}} - \frac{u_{i}}{m_{C}R_{i}R_{4}} \right) \frac{\partial}{\partial u_{i}} \\ &- \frac{\partial}{\partial u_{1}} v_{1}v_{2} \left[\frac{u_{1}u_{2}\cos\left(\varphi_{1}-\varphi_{2}\right) + v_{1}v_{2}}{2m_{C}R_{1}R_{2}} - \sum_{i=1,2} \frac{u_{i}\cos\left(\varphi_{1}-\varphi_{2}\right)}{2m_{C}R_{i}R_{4}} + \frac{\cos\left(\varphi_{1}-\varphi_{2}\right)}{2\mu_{4}R_{4}^{2}} \right] \frac{\partial}{\partial u_{2}} \\ &- \frac{\partial}{\partial u_{2}} v_{1}v_{2} \left[\frac{u_{1}u_{2}\cos\left(\varphi_{1}-\varphi_{2}\right) + v_{1}v_{2}}{2m_{C}R_{1}R_{2}} - \sum_{i=1,2} \frac{u_{i}\cos\left(\varphi_{1}-\varphi_{2}\right)}{2m_{C}R_{i}R_{4}} + \frac{\cos\left(\varphi_{1}-\varphi_{2}\right)}{2\mu_{4}R_{4}^{2}} \right] \frac{\partial}{\partial u_{1}} \\ &- \sum_{i=1}^{2} \left\{ \frac{\partial}{\partial u_{i}} v_{i}v_{3} \left[\frac{u_{i}u_{3}\cos\varphi_{i} + v_{i}v_{3}}{2m_{C}R_{i}R_{3}} - \frac{u_{i}\cos\varphi_{i}}{2m_{C}R_{i}R_{4}} - \frac{u_{3}\cos\varphi_{i}}{2m_{C}R_{3}R_{4}} + \frac{\cos\varphi_{i}}{2\mu_{4}R_{4}^{2}} \right] \frac{\partial}{\partial u_{3}} \\ &+ \frac{\partial}{\partial u_{3}} v_{i}v_{3} \left[\frac{u_{i}u_{3}\cos\varphi_{i} + v_{i}v_{3}}{2m_{C}R_{i}R_{3}} - \frac{u_{i}\cos\varphi_{i}}{2m_{C}R_{i}R_{4}} - \frac{u_{3}\cos\varphi_{i}}{2m_{C}R_{3}R_{4}} + \frac{\cos\varphi_{i}}{2\mu_{4}R_{4}^{2}} \right] \frac{\partial}{\partial u_{i}} \right\}, \end{split}$$
(D8)

and

$$\begin{split} \hat{T}_{u_{i}\varphi_{j}} &= -\sum_{i,j=1,2;i\neq j} \{ \frac{\partial}{\partial u_{i}} v_{i} [\frac{u_{i}\sin(\varphi_{j}-\varphi_{i})}{2m_{C}R_{i}R_{j}v_{j}} + \frac{u_{i}\sin\varphi_{i}}{2m_{C}R_{i}R_{3}v_{3}} - \frac{u_{i}(\cot\theta_{j}\sin(\varphi_{j}-\varphi_{i}) + \cot\theta_{3}\sin\varphi_{i})}{2m_{C}R_{i}R_{4}} \\ &+ \frac{\sin(\varphi_{i}-\varphi_{j})}{2m_{C}R_{j}R_{4}v_{j}} - \frac{\sin\varphi_{i}}{2m_{C}R_{3}R_{4}v_{3}} - \frac{\cot\theta_{j}\sin(\varphi_{i}-\varphi_{j}) - \sin\varphi_{i}\cot\theta_{3}}{2\mu_{4}R_{4}^{2}}] \frac{\partial}{\partial\varphi_{j}} \\ &+ \frac{\partial}{\partial\varphi_{j}} v_{i} [\frac{u_{i}\sin(\varphi_{j}-\varphi_{i})}{2m_{C}R_{i}R_{j}v_{j}} + \frac{u_{i}\sin\varphi_{i}}{2m_{C}R_{i}R_{3}v_{3}} - \frac{u_{i}(\cot\theta_{j}\sin(\varphi_{j}-\varphi_{i}) + \cot\theta_{3}\sin\varphi_{i})}{2m_{C}R_{i}R_{4}} \\ &+ \frac{\sin(\varphi_{i}-\varphi_{j})}{2m_{C}R_{j}R_{4}v_{j}} - \frac{\sin\varphi_{i}}{2m_{C}R_{3}R_{4}v_{3}} - \frac{\cot\theta_{j}\sin(\varphi_{i}-\varphi_{j}) - \sin\varphi_{i}\cot\theta_{3}}{2\mu_{4}R_{4}^{2}}] \frac{\partial}{\partialu_{i}} \} \\ &- \sum_{i=1}^{2} \{ \frac{\partial}{\partial u_{3}} v_{i} [\frac{u_{3}\sin\varphi_{i}}{2m_{C}R_{i}R_{3}v_{i}} - \frac{u_{3}\cot\theta_{i}\sin\varphi_{i}}{2m_{C}R_{3}R_{4}} - \frac{\sin\varphi_{i}}{2m_{C}R_{i}R_{4}v_{i}} + \frac{\sin\varphi_{i}\cot\theta_{i}}{2\mu_{4}R_{4}^{2}}] \frac{\partial}{\partial\varphi_{i}} \\ &+ \frac{\partial}{\partial\varphi_{i}} v_{3} [\frac{u_{3}\sin\varphi_{i}}{2m_{C}R_{i}R_{3}v_{i}} - \frac{u_{3}\cot\theta_{i}\sin\varphi_{i}}{2m_{C}R_{3}R_{4}} - \frac{\sin\varphi_{i}}{2m_{C}R_{i}R_{4}v_{i}} + \frac{\sin\varphi_{i}\cot\theta_{i}}{2\mu_{4}R_{4}^{2}}] \frac{\partial}{\partialu_{3}} \} \\ &- \sum_{i=1}^{2} \{ \frac{\partial}{\partial u_{i}} v_{i} [\frac{u_{i}\sin\varphi_{i}}{2m_{C}R_{i}R_{3}v_{3}} - \frac{u_{i}\cot\theta_{3}\sin\varphi_{i}}{2m_{C}R_{3}R_{4}} - \frac{\sin\varphi_{i}}{2m_{C}R_{3}R_{4}v_{3}} + \frac{\sin\varphi_{i}\cot\theta_{3}}{2\mu_{4}R_{4}^{2}}] \frac{\partial}{\partialu_{3}} \} \\ &- \sum_{i=1}^{2} \{ \frac{\partial}{\partial u_{i}} v_{i} [\frac{u_{i}\sin\varphi_{i}}{2m_{C}R_{i}R_{3}v_{3}} - \frac{u_{i}\cot\theta_{3}\sin\varphi_{i}}{2m_{C}R_{3}R_{4}} - \frac{\sin\varphi_{i}}{2m_{C}R_{3}R_{4}v_{3}} + \frac{\sin\varphi_{i}\cot\theta_{3}}{2\mu_{4}R_{4}^{2}}] \frac{\partial}{\partial\mu_{i}} \} \\ &- \sum_{i=1}^{2} \{ \frac{\partial}{\partial u_{i}} v_{i} [\frac{u_{i}\sin\varphi_{i}}{2m_{C}R_{i}R_{3}v_{3}} - \frac{u_{i}\cot\theta_{3}\sin\varphi_{i}}{2m_{C}R_{i}R_{4}} - \frac{\sin\varphi_{i}}{2m_{C}R_{3}R_{4}v_{3}} + \frac{\sin\varphi_{i}\cot\theta_{3}}{2\mu_{4}R_{4}^{2}}] \frac{\partial}{\partial\varphi_{i}} \\ &+ \frac{\partial}{\partial\varphi_{i}} v_{i} [\frac{u_{i}\sin\varphi_{i}}{2m_{C}R_{i}R_{3}v_{3}} - \frac{u_{i}\cot\theta_{3}\sin\varphi_{i}}{2m_{C}R_{i}R_{4}} - \frac{\sin\varphi_{i}}{2m_{C}R_{3}R_{4}v_{3}} + \frac{\sin\varphi_{i}\cot\theta_{3}}{2\mu_{4}R_{4}^{2}}] \frac{\partial}{\partial\mu_{i}} \} . \end{split}$$

We recall that

$$u_i = \cos \theta_i \tag{D10}$$

and that

$$\cot \theta_i = \frac{u_i}{v_i} \tag{D11}$$

with

$$v_i = \sqrt{1 - u_i^2} = \sin \theta_i. \tag{D12}$$

- [1] M. Chergui, Ed. Femtochemistry. World Scientific, Singapore, 1996.
- [2] A. H. Zewail. Femtochemistry Ultrafast Dynamics of the Chemical Bond. World Scientific, Singapore, 1994.
- [3] H. Ihee, V. Lobastov, U. Gomez, B. Goodson, R. Srinivasan, C.-Y. Ruan, and A. H. Zewail. Science 291 (2001), 385.
- [4] R. S. Fellers, L. B. Braly, R. J. Saykally, and C. Leforestier. Science 284 (1999), 6306.
- [5] R. J. Saykally and G. A. Blake. *Science* **259** (1993), 1570.
- [6] O. Boyarkin, M. Kowalszyk, and T. Rizzo. Collisionally enhanced isotopic selectivity in multiphoton dissociation of vibrationally excited CF₃H. J. Chem. Phys. **118** (2003), 93.
- [7] D. Romanini and A. Campargue. Vibrational overtone spectroscopy of the 4₁ band of CHF₃.
 Chem. Phys. Lett. **254** (1996), 52.
- [8] J. Espinosa-García, J. C. Corchado, and D. G. Truhlar. The importance of quantum effects for C-H bond activation reactions. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 119 (1997), 9891.
- [9] D. G. Truhlar, J. Gao, C. Alhambra, M. Garcia-Viloca, J. Corchado, M. L. Sánchez, and J. Villà. The incorporation of quantum effects in enzyme kinetics modeling. Acc. Chem. Res. 35 (2002), 341.
- [10] D. G. Truhlar, J. Gao, C. Alhambra, M. Garcia-Viloca, J. Corchado, M. L. Sánchez, and J. Villà. Ensemble-averaged variational transition state theory with optimized multidimensional tunneling for enzyme kinetics and other condensed-phase reactions. *Int. J. Quant. Chem.* **100** (2004), 1136.
- [11] H.-D. Meyer and G. A. Worth. Quantum molecular dynamics: Propagating wavepackets and density operators using the multiconfiguration time-dependent Hartree (MCTDH) method. *Theor. Chem. Acc.* **109** (2003), 251–267.
- [12] H.-D. Meyer, F. Gatti, and G. A. Worth, Eds. Multidimensional Quantum Dynamics: MCTDH Theory and Applications. Wiley-VCH, Weinheim, 2009.
- [13] H.-D. Meyer, U. Manthe, and L. S. Cederbaum. The multi-configurational time-dependent Hartree approach. *Chem. Phys. Lett.* **165** (1990), 73–78.
- [14] U. Manthe, H.-D. Meyer, and L. S. Cederbaum. Wave-packet dynamics within the multiconfiguration Hartree framework: General aspects and application to NOCl. J. Chem. Phys.

97 (1992), 3199–3213.

- [15] M. H. Beck, A. Jäckle, G. A. Worth, and H.-D. Meyer. The multi-configuration timedependent Hartree (MCTDH) method: a highly efficient algorithm for propagating wave packets. *Phys. Rep* **324** (2000), 1–105.
- [16] U. Manthe. A time-dependent discrete variable representation for (multi-configuration) Hartree methods. J. Chem. Phys. 105 (1996), 6989.
- [17] U. Manthe. Reaction Rates: Accurat quantum dynamical calculations for polyatomic systems. J. Theor. Comp. Chem. 1 (2002), 153.
- [18] U. Manthe. The state averaged multi-configurational time-dependent Hartree approach: vibrational state and reaction rate calculations. J. Chem. Phys. 128 (2008), 064108.
- [19] G. A. Worth. Accurate wave packet propagation for large molecular systems: The multi-configuration time-dependent Hartree (MCTDH) method with selected configurations. J. Chem. Phys. 112 (2000), 8322–8329.
- [20] G. A. Worth. Quantum dynamics using pseudo-particle trajectories: A new approach based on the multi-configuration time-dependent Hartree method. J. Chem. Phys. 114 (2001), 1524–1532.
- [21] J. M. Bowman, X. Huang, N. C. Handy, and S. Carter. Vibrational levels of methanol calculated by the reaction path version of MULTIMODE, using an *ab initio*, full-dimensional potential. J. Phys. Chem. A 111 (2007), 7317.
- [22] J. M. Bowman. The self-consistent-field approach to polyatomic vibrations. Acc. Chem. Res. 19 (1986), 202.
- [23] S. Carter, S. J. Culik, and J. M. Bowman. Vibrational self-consistent field method for many-mode systems: A new approach and application to the vibrations of CO adsorbed on Cu(100). J. Chem. Phys. 107 (1997), 10458.
- [24] J. M. Bowman, S. Carter, and X. Huang. MULTIMODE: a code to calculate rovibrational energies of polyatomic molecules. *Int. Rev. Phys. Chem.* 22 (2003), 533–549.
- [25] A. Chakraborty, D. G. Truhlar, J. M. Bowman, and S. Carter. J. Chem. Phys. 121 (2004), 2071.
- [26] D. Bégué, N. Gohaud, C. Pouchan, P. Cassam-Chenaï, and J. Liévin. A comparison of two methods for selecting vibrational configuration interaction spaces on a heptatomic system: Ethylene oxide. J. Chem. Phys. 127 (2007), 164115.

- [27] S. Heislbetz, P. Schwerdtfeger, and G. Rauhut. Mol. Phys. 105 (2007), 1385.
- [28] P. Cassam-Chenaï and J. L. Y. Scribano. Chem. Phys. Lett. 466 (2008), 16.
- [29] K. Pfluger, M. Paulus, S. Jagiella, T. Burkert, and G. Rauhut. Theor. Chem. Acc. 114 (2005), 327.
- [30] T. Hrenar, H.-J. Werner, and G. Rauhut. Accurate calculation of anharmonic vibrational frequencies of medium sized molecules using local coupled cluster methods. J. Chem. Phys. 126 (2007), 134108.
- [31] G. Rauhut. Configuration selection as a route towards efficient vibrational configuration interaction calculations. J. Chem. Phys. 127 (2007), 184109.
- [32] D. M. Benoit. J. Chem. Phys. 125 (2006), 244110.
- [33] R. E. Wyatt, C. Iung, and C. Leforestier. Quantum dynamics of overtone relaxation in benzene. I. 5 and 9 modes models for relaxation from CH(ν = 3). J. Chem. Phys. 97 (1992), 3458.
- [34] R. E. Wyatt, C. Iung, and C. Leforestier. Quantum dynamics of overtone relaxation in benzene. II. 16 mode models for relaxation from CH(ν = 3). J. Chem. Phys. 97 (1992), 3477.
- [35] C. Iung, C. Leforestier, and R. E. Wyatt. J. Chem. Phys. 98 (1993), 6722.
- [36] C. Iung and R. E. Wyatt. Time-dependent quantum mechanical studyy of intramolecular vibrational energy redistribution in benzene. J. Chem. Phys. 99 (1993), 2261–2264.
- [37] J. T. Hougen, P. R. Bunker, and J. W. C. Johns. J. Mol. Spec. 34 (1970), 136.
- [38] P. R. Bunker and J. M. R. Stone. J. Mol. Spec. 41 (1972), 310.
- [39] A. Hoy and P. R. Bunker. J. Mol. Spec. 67 (1979), 439.
- [40] P. R. Bunker and B. M. Landsberg. J. Mol. Spec. 67 (1979), 374.
- [41] P. Jensen and P. R. Bunker. J. Mol. Spec. 118 (1986), 18.
- [42] W. H. Miller, N. C. Handy, and J. E. Adams. Reaction path hamiltonian for polyatomic molecules. J. Chem. Phys. 72 (1980), 99.
- [43] B. A. Ruf and W. H. Miller. J. Chem. Soc. Faraday. Trans. 84 (1988), 1523.
- [44] T. Carrington Jr. and W. H. Miller. J. Chem. Phys. 81 (1984), 3942.
- [45] T. Carrington Jr. and W. H. Miller. J. Chem. Phys. 84 (1986), 4364.
- [46] H. Köppel, W. Domcke, and L. S. Cederbaum. Multimode molecular dynamics beyond the Born-Oppenheimer approximation. Adv. Chem. Phys. 57 (1984), 59.

- [47] L. S. Cederbaum. Born-oppenheimer approximation and beyond. In *Conical Intersections* (Singapore, 2004), W. Domcke, D. R. Yarkony, and H. Köppel, Eds., World Scientific Co., pp. 3–40.
- [48] H. Köppel. Diabatic representation: methods for the construction of diabatic states. In *Conical Intersections* (Singapore, 2004), W. Domcke, D. R. Yarkony, and H. Köppel, Eds., World Scientific Co., pp. 175–204.
- [49] L. S. Cederbaum, W. Domcke, H. Köppel, and W. von Niessen. Strong vibronic coupling effects in ionization spectra: The "mystery band" of butatriene. *Chem. Phys.* 26 (1977), 169.
- [50] L. S. Cederbaum, H. Köppel, and W. Domcke. Multimode vibronic coupling effects in molecules. Int. J. Quant. Chem. S15 (1981), 251.
- [51] C. F. Jackels, Z. Gu, and D. G. Truhlar. Reaction-path potential and vibrational frequencies in terms of curvilinear internal coordinates. J. Chem. Phys. 102 (1995), 3188.
- [52] K. A. Nguyen, C. F. Jackels, and D. G. Truhlar. Reaction-path dynamics in curvilinear internal coordinates including torsions. J. Chem. Phys. 104 (1996), 6491.
- [53] G. J. Atchity, S. S. Xantheas, and K. Ruendenberg. Potential energy surfaces near intersections. J. Chem. Phys. 95 (1991), 1862–1876.
- [54] D. R. Yarkony. Diabolical conical intersections. Rev. Mod. Phys. 68 (1996), 985–1013.
- [55] M. J. Paterson, M. J. Bearpark, M. A. Robb, and L. Blancafort. J. Chem. Phys. 121 (2004), 11562.
- [56] F. Sicilia, L. Blancafort, M. J. Bearpark, and M. A. Robb. Quadratic description of conical intersections: Characterization of critical points on the extended seam. J. Phys. Chem. A 111 (2007), 2182.
- [57] B. Podolsky. Quantum-mechanically correct form of hamiltonian function for conservative systems. *Phys. Rev.* **32** (1928), 812.
- [58] A. Nauts and X. Chapuisat. Momentum, quasi-momentum and hamiltonian operators in terms of arbitrary curvilinear coordinates, with special emphasis on molecular hamiltonians. *Mol. Phys.* 55 (1985), 1287.
- [59] X. Chapuisat, A. Nauts, and J.-P. Brunet. Exact quantum molecular hamiltonians: Part I. Application to the dynamics of three particles. *Mol. Phys.* 72 (1991), 1–31.
- [60] G. Brocks, A. V. D. Avoird, B. T. Sutcliffe, and J. Tennyson. Mol. Phys. 50 (1983), 1025.

- [61] J. Tennyson and B. T. Sutcliffe. J. Chem. Phys. 77 (1982), 4061.
- [62] B. T. Sutcliffe and J. Tennyson. A generalized approach to the calculation of ro-vibrational spectra of triatomic molecules. *Mol. Phys.* 58 (1986), 1053 – 1066.
- [63] N. C. Handy. Mol. Phys. 61 (1987), 207.
- [64] M. J. Bramley and N. C. Handy. Efficient calculation of rovibrational eigenstates of sequentially bonded four-atom molecules. J. Chem. Phys. 98 (1993), 1378–1397.
- [65] M. J. Bramley and T. Carrington, Jr. J. Chem. Phys. 99 (1993), 8519.
- [66] H. Wei and T. Carrington, Jr. Chem. Phys. Lett. 287 (1998), 289.
- [67] S. Wolfram. Mathematica, a system for doing mathematics by computer, 2nd ed. Addison-Wesley, Reading, Mass., 1991.
- [68] D. Lauvergnat and A. Nauts. Exact numerical computation of a kinetic energy operator in curvilinear coordinates. J. Chem. Phys. 116 (2002), 8560.
- [69] D. Lauvergnat, A. Nauts, Y. Justum, and X. Chapuisat. A harmonic adiabatic approximation to calculate highly excited vibrational levels of "floppy molecules". J. Chem. Phys. 114 (2001), 6592.
- [70] M. Menou and X. Chapuisat. Quantum-mechanical hamiltonians for constrained systems: Application to four-body systems. J. Mol. Spec. 159 (1993), 300–328.
- [71] D. Lauvergnat and A. Nauts. A harmonic adiabatic approximation to calculate vibrational states of ammonia. *Chem. Phys.* **305** (2004), 105.
- [72] F. Gatti, Y. Justum, M. Menou, A. Nauts, and X. Chapuisat. Quantum-mechanical description of rigidly or adiabatically constrained molecular systems. J. Mol. Spec. 181 (1997), 403.
- [73] X. Chapuisat and C. Iung. Vector parametrization of the N-body problem in quantum mechanics: Polyspherical coordinates. *Phys. Rev. A* 45 (1992), 6217–6235.
- [74] F. Gatti, C. Iung, M. Menou, Y. Justum, A. Nauts, and X. Chapuisat. Vector parametrization of the n-atom problem in quantum mechanics. I. Jacobi vectors. J. Chem. Phys. 108 (1998), 8804.
- [75] F. Gatti, C. Iung, M. Menou, and X. Chapuisat. Vector parametrization of the n-atom problem in quantum mechanics. II. Coupled-angular-momentum spectral representations for four atom systems. J. Chem. Phys. 108 (1998), 8821.
- [76] F. Gatti. Approche vectorielle des Hamiltoniens moléculaires. Application au spectre rovi-

brationnel excité de l'Ammoniac. PhD thesis, Université Montpellier, 1999.

- [77] F. Gatti. Vector parametrization of the n-atom problem in quantum mechanics. III. Separation into two sub-systems. J. Chem. Phys. 111 (1999), 7225.
- [78] C. Iung, F. Gatti, A. Viel, and X. Chapuisat. Vector parametrization of the n-atom problem in quantum mechanics. non-orthogonal coordinates. *Phys. Chem. Chem. Phys.* 1 (1999), 3377.
- [79] M. Mladenović. Rovibrational hamiltonians for general polyatomic molecules in spherical polar parametrization. I. Orthogonal representations. J. Chem. Phys. 112 (2000), 1070– 1081.
- [80] F. Gatti, C. Munoz, and C. Iung. A general expression of the exact kinetic energy operator in polyspherical coordinates. J. Chem. Phys. 114 (2001), 8275.
- [81] F. Gatti and A. Nauts. Vector parametrization, partial angular momenta and unusual commutation relations in molecular physics. *Chem. Phys.* 295 (2003), 167–174.
- [82] F. Gatti and C. Iung. Exact and constrained kinetic energy operators in polyspherical coordinates. J. Theor. Comp. Chem. 2 (2003), 507–522.
- [83] C. Iung and F. Gatti. Polyspherical parametrization of a n-atom system: Principles and applications. Int. J. Quant. Chem. 106 (2006), 130.
- [84] L. Brillouin. Les tenseurs en mécanique et en électricité. Masson, Paris, 1938.
- [85] E. Wilson and J. Howard. J. Chem. Phys. 4 (1936), 260.
- [86] H. Pickett. J. Chem. Phys. 56 (1972), 1715.
- [87] X. Chapuisat, A. Belfhal, and A. Nauts. J. Mol. Spec. 149 (1991), 274.
- [88] J. K. G. Watson. Simplification of the molecular vibration-rotation hamiltonian. Mol. Phys. 15 (1968), 479.
- [89] J. K. G. Watson. The vibration-rotation hamiltonian of linear molecules. Mol. Phys. 19 (1970), 465.
- [90] B. T. Sutcliffe and J. Tennyson. Int. J. Quant. Chem. 39 (1991), 183.
- [91] S. S. Xantheas and B. T. Sutcliffe. J. Chem. Phys. 103 (1995), 8022.
- [92] B. T. Sutcliffe. Current Aspects of Quantum Chemistry, Studies in Theoretical and Physical Chemistry. R. Carbo, ed., vol. 21. Elsevier, Amsterdam, 1982.
- [93] C. Evenhuis, G. Nyman, and U. Manthe. Quantum dynamics of the CH₃ fragment: A curvilinear coordinate system and kinetic energy operators. J. Chem. Phys. 127 (2007),
144302.

- [94] T. J. Lukka. J. Chem. Phys. 102 (1995), 3945.
- [95] J. Pesonen. J. Chem. Phys. 112 (2000), 3121.
- [96] J. Pesonen. J. Chem. Phys. 114 (2001), 10598.
- [97] J. Pesonen. J. Chem. Phys. 128 (2008), 044319.
- [98] E. Wilson, J. Decius, and P. Cross. *Molecular Vibrations*. McGraw-Hill, New York, 1955.
- [99] J. H. Frederick and C. Woywod. J. Chem. Phys. 111 (1999), 7255.
- [100] S. G. Ramesh and E. L. Sibert. Combined perturbative-variational investigation of the vibrations of CHBr and CDBr. J. Chem. Phys. 120 (2004), 11011.
- [101] E. L. Sibert and J. Castillo-Chara. Theoretical studies of the potential surface and vibrational spectroscopy of ch3oh and its deuterated analogs. J. Chem. Phys. 122 (2005), 194306.
- [102] S. G. Ramesh and E. L. Sibert. Mol. Phys. 103 (2005), 149.
- [103] S. G. Ramesh and E. L. Sibert. Combination of perturbative and variational methods for calculating molecular spectra: Calculation of the ν=3-5 ch stretch overtone spectrum of chf3.
 J. Chem. Phys. 103 (2006), 114307.
- [104] X.-Y. Gu, B. Duan, and Z.-Q. Ma. Phys. Lett. A 281 (2001), 168.
- [105] X.-Y. Gu, B. Duan, and Z.-Q. Ma. Phys. Lett. A 289 (2001), 82.
- [106] M. Mladenović. Rovibrational hamiltonians for general polyatomic molecules in spherical polar parametrization. II. Nonorthogonal descriptions of internal molecular geometry. J. Chem. Phys. 112 (2000), 1082–1095.
- [107] J. O. Hirschfelder. Coordinates which diagonalize the kinetic energy of relative motion. Int.
 J. Quant. Chem. 3S (1969), 17–31.
- [108] A. Messiah. Quantum Mechanics, vol. 1. John Wiley, New York, 1962.
- [109] R. N. Zare. Angular momentum. Wiley, New York, 1988.
- [110] L. C. Biedenharn and J. D. Louck. Angular Momentum in Quantum Mechanics. Addison-Wesley, Reading, Ma, 1981.
- [111] C. Eckart. Some studies concerning rotating axes and polyatomic molecules. Phys. Rev. 47 (1935), 552–558.
- [112] X.-G. Wang and T. Carrington, Jr. A simple method for deriving kinetic energy operators. J. Chem. Phys. 113, 17 (2000), 7097–7101.
- [113] D. W. Schwenke. J. Chem. Phys. 118 (2003), 10431.

- [114] J. H. Van Vleck. The coupling of angular momentum vectors in molecules. *Rev. Mod. Phys.* 23 (1951), 213–227.
- [115] D. Lemoine. The discrete bessel transform algorithm. J. Chem. Phys. 101 (1994), 3936.
- [116] G. C. Corey, J. W. Tromp, and D. Lemoine. Fast pseudospectral algorithm in curvilinear coordinates. In Numerical Grid Methods and Their Application to Schrödinger's Equation (Netherlands, 1993), C. Cerjan, Ed., Kluwer Academic Publishers, pp. 1–23.
- [117] G. C. Corey and D. Lemoine. Pseudospectral method for solving the time-dependent Schrödinger equation in spherical coordinates. J. Chem. Phys. 97 (1992), 4115.
- [118] S. Sukiasyan and H.-D. Meyer. On the effect of initial rotation on reactivity. A multiconfiguration time-dependent Hartree (MCTDH) wave-packet propagation study on the H+D₂ and D+H₂ reactive scattering systems. J. Phys. Chem. A **105** (2001), 2604–2611.
- [119] S. Sukiasyan and H.-D. Meyer. Reaction cross section for the $H+D_2(\nu_0 = 1) \rightarrow HD+D$ and $D+H_2(\nu_0 = 1) \rightarrow DH+H$ systems. A multi-configuration time-dependent Hartree (MCTDH) wave-packet propagation study. J. Chem. Phys. **116** (2002), 10641–10647.
- [120] X. Wang and T. Carrington, Jr. Using a nondirect product discrete variable representation for angular coordinates to compute vibrational levels of polyatomic molecules. J. Chem. Phys. 128, 19 (2008), 194109.
- [121] T. Carrington Jr. The advantage of writing kinetic energy operators in polyspherical curvilinear coordinates in terms of $z_i = \cos \varphi$. J. Chem. Phys. **112** (2000), 4413.
- [122] C. Leforestier, A. Viel, F. Gatti, C. Munoz, and C. Iung. The Jacobi-Wilson method: A new approach to the description of polyatomic molecules. J. Chem. Phys. 114 (2001), 2099.
- [123] A. B. McCoy and E. L. Sibert. Canonical van vleck perturbation theory and its application to studies of higly vibrationally excited states of polyatomic molecules. In *Dynamics of Molecules and Chemical Reactions* (New York, 1996), R. E. Wyatt and J. Z. H. Zhang, Eds., Marcel Dekker, pp. 151–184.
- [124] S. B. Rempe and R. O. Watts. J. Chem. Phys. 108 (1998), 10084.
- [125] X. Chapuisat. private communication, 1998.
- [126] M. R. Brill, F. Gatti, D. Lauvergnat, and H.-D. Meyer. Photoinduced nonadiabatic dynamics of ethene: Six dimensional wave packet propagations using two different approximations of the kinetic energy operator. *Chem. Phys.* **338** (2007), 186–199.
- [127] D. Lauvergnat. private communication, 2008.

- [128] O. Vendrell, F. Gatti, D. Lauvergnat, and H.-D. Meyer. Full dimensional (15D) quantumdynamical simulation of the protonated water dimer I: Hamiltonian setup and analysis of the ground vibrational state. J. Chem. Phys. 127 (2007), 184302.
- [129] G. A. Worth, M. H. Beck, A. Jäckle, and H.-D. Meyer. The MCTDH Package, Version 8.2, (2000). H.-D. Meyer, Version 8.3 (2002), Version 8.4 (2007). See http://mctdh.uni-hd.de/.
- [130] F. Gatti, C. Iung, C. Leforestier, M. Menou, Y. Justum, A. Nauts, and X. Chapuisat. J. Mol. Struct. (Theochem) 424 (1998), 181.
- [131] F. Gatti, C. Iung, and X. Chapuisat. J. Mol. Struct. (Theochem) 424 (1998), 201.
- [132] F. Gatti, F. Otto, S. Sukiasyan, and H.-D. Meyer. Rotational excitation cross sections of para-H₂ + para-H₂ collisions. A full-dimensional wave packet propagation study using an exact form of the kinetic energy. J. Chem. Phys. **123** (2005), 174311.
- [133] B.Pouilly, M. Monnerville, F. Gatti, and H.-D. Meyer. Wave packet study of the UV photodissociation of the Ar₂HBr complex. J. Chem. Phys. **122** (2005), 184313.
- [134] D. C. Clary. Quantum reactive scattering of four-atom reactions with nonlinear geometry: $OH+H_2 \rightarrow H_2O+H. J. Chem. Phys. 95 (1991), 7298.$
- [135] D. H. Zhang and J. C. Light. A six-dimensional quantum study for atom-triatom reactions: The H+H₂ \rightarrow H₂+OH reaction. J. Chem. Phys. **104** (1996), 4544.
- [136] D. H. Zhang and J. C. Light. Quantum state-to-state reaction probabilities for the H+H₂O \rightarrow H₂ +OH reaction in six dimensions. J. Chem. Phys. **105** (1996), 1291.
- [137] Y. Qiu and Bačić. J. Chem. Phys. 106 (1997), 2158.
- [138] L. S. Costa and D. C. Clary. Calculation of the energy levels of weakly bound molecular trimers: Application to (h-2)(3). J. Chem. Phys. 117 (2002), 7512.
- [139] H.-G. Yu. Full-dimensional quantum calculations of vibrational spectra of six-atom molecules.
 i. theory and numerical results. J. Chem. Phys. 120 (2004), 2270.
- [140] X. Wang and T. Carrington Jr. Vibrational energy levels of ch5+. J. Chem. Phys. 129 (2008), 234102.
- [141] F. T. Smith. Modified heliocentric coordinates for particle dynamics. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 45 (1980), 1157.
- [142] R. Marquardt, M. Quack, I. Thanopoulos, and D. Luckhaus. Tunneling dynamics of the nh chromophore in nhd₂ during and after coherent infrared excitation. J. Chem. Phys. 118 (2003), 643–658.

- [143] F. Richter, M. Hochlaf, P. Rosmus, F. Gatti, and H.-D. Meyer. A study of mode-selective trans-cis isomerisation in HONO using ab initio methodology. J. Chem. Phys. 120 (2004), 1306–1317.
- [144] F. Richter, P. Rosmus, F. Gatti, and H.-D. Meyer. Time-dependent wavepacket study on trans-cis isomerisation of HONO. J. Chem. Phys. 120 (2004), 6072–6084.
- [145] F. Richter, F. Gatti, C. Léonard, F. Le Quéré, and H.-D. Meyer. Time-dependent wave packet study on trans-cis isomerisation of HONO driven by an external field. J. Chem. Phys. 127 (2007), 164315.
- [146] G. Pasin, F. Gatti, C. Iung, and H.-D. Meyer. Theoretical investigation of Intramolecular Vibrational Energy Redistribution in highly excited HFCO. J. Chem. Phys. 124 (2006), 194304.
- [147] G. Pasin, C. Iung, F. Gatti, and H.-D. Meyer. Theoretical investigation of highly excited vibrational states in DFCO: Calculation of the out-of-plane bending states and simulation of the intramolecular vibrational energy redistribution. J. Chem. Phys. 126 (2007), 024302.
- [148] G. Pasin, C. Iung, F. Gatti, F. Richter, C. Léonard, and H.-D. Meyer. Theoretical investigation of intramolecular vibrational energy redistribution in HFCO and DFCO induced by an external field. J. Chem. Phys. 129 (2008), 144304.
- [149] H.-D. Meyer, F. Le Quéré, C. Léonard, and F. Gatti. Calculation and selective population of vibrational levels with the Multiconfiguration Time-Dependent Hartree (MCTDH) algorithm. *Chem. Phys.* **329** (2006), 179–192.
- [150] H.-G. Yu. An exact variational method to calculate vibrational energies of five at om molecules beyond the normal mode approach. J. Chem. Phys. 117 (2002), 2030.
- [151] X.-G. Wang and T. Carrington Jr. A finite basis representation Lanczos calculation of the bend energy levels of methane. J. Chem. Phys. 118 (2003), 6946.
- [152] X.-G. Wang and T. Carrington, Jr. Contracted basis lanczos methods for computing numerically exact rovibrational levels of methane. J. Chem. Phys. 121, 7 (2004), 2937–2954.
- [153] O. Vendrell, F. Gatti, and H.-D. Meyer. Dynamics and infrared spectroscopy of the protonated water dimer. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 46 (2007), 6918–6921.
- [154] O. Vendrell, F. Gatti, and H.-D. Meyer. Full dimensional (15D) quantum-dynamical simulation of the protonated water dimer II: Infrared spectrum and vibrational dynamics. J. Chem. Phys. 127 (2007), 184303.

- [155] O. Vendrell, F. Gatti, and H.-D. Meyer. Strong isotope effects in the infrared spectrum of the zundel cation. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 48 (2009), 352 – 355.
- [156] F. Gatti. Novel perspectives in quantum dynamics. Theor. Chem. Acc. 116 (2006), 60.
- [157] J. M. Bowman, T. Carrington Jr., and H.-D. Meyer. Variational quantum approaches for computing vibrational energies of polyatomic molecules. *Mol. Phys.* **106** (2008), 2145–2182.
- [158] U. Manthe. Layered discrete variable representations and their application within the multiconfigurational time-dependent hartree approach. J. Chem. Phys. 130 (2009), 054109.
- [159] H. Wang and M. Thoss. Multilayer formulation of the multiconfiguration time-dependent Hartree theory. J. Chem. Phys. 119 (2003), 1289–1299.
- [160] H. Wang and M. Thoss. Quantum dynamical simulation of electron-transfer reactions in an anharmonic environment. J. Phys. Chem. A 111 (2007), 10369.
- [161] U. Manthe. A multilayer multiconfigurational time-dependent hartree approach for quantum dynamics on general potential energy surfaces. J. Chem. Phys. 128 (2008), 164116.
- [162] D. G. Truhlar, R. Steckler, and M. S. Gordon. Potential energy surfaces for polyatomic reaction dynamics. *Chem. Rev.* 87 (1987), 217–236.
- [163] K. C. Thompson, M. J. T. Jordan, and M. A. Collins. Molecular potential energy surfaces by interpolation in cartesian coordinates. J. Chem. Phys. 108 (1998), 564–578.
- [164] K. C. Thompson, M. J. T. Jordan, and M. A. Collins. Polyatomic molecular potential energy surfaces by interpolation in local internal coordinates. J. Chem. Phys. 108 (1998), 8302–8316.
- [165] A. J. C. Varandas. Modeling and interpolation of global multi-sheeted potential energy surfaces. In *Conical Intersections* (Singapore, 2004), W. Domcke, D. R. Yarkony, and H. Köppel, Eds., World Scientific Co., p. 205.
- [166] R. P. A. Bettens and M. A. Collins. Learning to interpolate molecular potential energy surfaces with confidence: A Bayesian approach. J. Chem. Phys. 111 (1999), 816–826.
- [167] M. A. Collins and D. H. Zhang. Application of interpolated potential energy surfaces to quantum reactive scattering. J. Chem. Phys. 111 (1999), 9924–9931.
- [168] X. Huang, B. J. Braams, and J. M. Bowman. Ab initio potential energy and dipole moment surfaces for H₅O₂⁺. J. Chem. Phys. **122** (2005), 044308.
- [169] J. Ischtwan and M. A. Collins. Molecular potential energy surfaces by interpolation. J. Chem. Phys. 100 (1994), 8080–8088.

- [170] A. B. McCoy, X. Huang, S. Carter, M. Y. Landeweer, and J. M. Bowman. Full-dimensional vibrational calculations for H₅O₂⁺ using an ab initio potential energy surface. J. Chem. Phys. 122 (2005), 061101.
- [171] C. R. Evenhuis and U. Manthe. Calculating vibrational spectra using modified shepard interpolated potential energy surfaces. J. Chem. Phys. 129 (2008), 024104.
- [172] J. M. Bowman and B. Gazdy. J. Chem. Phys. 93 (1990), 1774.
- [173] M. F. Shibl, M. Pietrzak, H.-H. Limbach, and O. Kühn. Geometric H/D isotope effects and cooperativity of the hydrogen bonds in porphycene. *Chem. Phys. Chem.* 8 (2007), 315–321.
- [174] K. Giese, M. Petković, H. Naundorf, and O. Kühn. Multidimensional quantum dynamics and infrared spectroscopy of hydrogen bonds. *Phys. Rep.* 430 (2006), 211.
- [175] Y. Yang and O. Kühn. A full-dimensional quantum dynamical study of the vibrational ground state of $H_3O_2^-$ and its isotopomers. Z. Phys. Chem. **222** (2008), 1375–1387.
- [176] G. A. Worth, H.-D. Meyer, and L. S. Cederbaum. The effect of a model environment on the S₂ absorption spectrum of pyrazine: A wavepacket study treating all 24 vibrational modes.
 J. Chem. Phys. 105 (1996), 4412.
- [177] A. Raab, G. Worth, H.-D. Meyer, and L. S. Cederbaum. Molecular dynamics of pyrazine after excitation to the S₂ electronic state using a realistic 24-mode model Hamiltonian. J. Chem. Phys. 110 (1999), 936–946.
- [178] C. Cattarius, G. A. Worth, H.-D. Meyer, and L. S. Cederbaum. All mode dynamics at the conical intersection of an octa-atomic molecule: Multi-configuration time-dependent Hartree (MCTDH) investigation on the butatriene cation. J. Chem. Phys. 115 (2001), 2088–2100.
- [179] L. S. Cederbaum, E. Gindensperger, and I. Burghardt. Short-time dynamics through conical intersections in macrosystem s. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **94** (2005), 113003.
- [180] E. Gindensperger, I. Burghardt, and L. S. Cederbaum. Short-time dynamics through conical intersections in macrosystems. I. Theory: Effective-mode formulation. J. Chem. Phys. 124 (2006), 144103.
- [181] A. Nauts and X. Chapuisat. Hamiltonians for constrained n-particle systems. Chem. Phys. Lett. 136 (1987), 164.
- [182] J. E. Hadder and J. H. Frederick. J. Chem. Phys. 97 (1992), 3500.
- [183] A. van der Avoird, P. E. S. Wormer, and R. Moszynski. Chem. Rev. 94 (1994), 1931.
- [184] H. Meyer. The molecular hamiltonian. Ann. Rev. Phys. Chem. 53 (2002), 141–172.

- [185] F. Gatti. Flexible monomer formulation for non-rigid systems. Chem. Phys. Lett. 373 (2003), 146–152.
- [186] Y. Yang and O. Kühn. Mol. Phys. 106 (2008), 2445.
- [187] R. Meyer and H. H. Guenthard. J. Chem. Phys. 49 (1968), 1510.
- [188] J. C. Light and Z. Bačić. J. Chem. Phys. 87 (1987), 4008.
- [189] J. M. Bowman. Chem. Phys. Lett. 217 (1994), 36.
- [190] J. Antikainen, R. Friesner, and C. Leforestier. Adiabatic pseudospectral calculation of vibrational states of four atom molecules: Application to hydrogen peroxide. J. Chem. Phys. 102 (1995), 1270.
- [191] A. B. McCoy and E. L. Sibert. J. Chem. Phys. 105 (1996), 459.
- [192] C. Leforestier, F. Gatti, R. S. Fellers, and R. J. Saykally. Determination of a flexible (12D) water dimer potential via direct inversion of spectroscopic data. J. Chem. Phys. 117 (2002), 8710.
- [193] C. Leforestier, L. B. Braly, K. Liu, M. J. Matthew, and R. J. Saykally. Fully coupled sixdimensional calculations of the water dimer vibration-rotation-tunneling states with a split wigner pseudo spectral approach. J. Chem. Phys. 106 (1997), 8527.
- [194] Y. Justum, F. Gatti, and X. Chapuisat. J. Mol. Struct. (Theochem) 453 (1998), 131.
- [195] Y. Justum, F. Gatti, D. Lauvergnat, A. Nauts, and X. Chapuisat. One-dimensional quantum description of the bending of hcn/cnh for high values of the total angular momentuim. *Spectrochimica Acta* 58 (2002), 649.
- [196] R. P. Krawczyk, A. Viel, U. Manthe, and W. Domcke. Photoinduced dynamics of the valence states of ethene: A six-dimensional potential-energy surface of three electronic states with several conical intersections. J. Chem. Phys. 119 (2003), 1397–1411.
- [197] A. Viel, R. P. Krawczyk, U. Manthe, and W. Domcke. Photoinduced dynamics of ethene in the N, V and Z valence states: A six-dimensional nonadiabatic quantum dynamics investigation. J. Chem. Phys. 120 (2004), 11000–11010.
- [198] M. Bittner, H. Köppel, and F. Gatti. A multi-dimensional quantum dynamical study of beta-hydrogen transfer in a cationic rhodium complex. J. Phys. Chem. A 111 (2007), 2407.
- [199] F. Gatti, C. Iung, C. Leforestier, and X. Chapuisat. Fully coupled 6d calculations of the ammonia vibration-inversion-tunneling states with a split hamiltonian pseudospectral approach. J. Chem. Phys. 111 (1999), 7236–7243.

- [200] R. T. Pack and G. Parker. J. Chem. Phys. 87 (1987), 3888.
- [201] R. T. Pack and G. Parker. J. Chem. Phys. 90 (1989), 3511.
- [202] P. R. Bunker and P. Jensen. Molecular symmetry and spectroscopy. NRC Research press, Ottawa, 1998.
- [203] X.-G. Wang and T. Carrington, Jr. J. Chem. Phys. 115 (2001), 9781.
- [204] X.-G. Wang and T. Carrington, Jr. Can. J. Phys. 114, 4 (2001), 1473–1477.